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Incident Ilnvea1!gation Flepo,*

, -.

l:>tIU~t& inN1w'Agull. Ofe;Srother's totd lIte that aont.:a~SPOtlfaO¢()JJs1y5tatedtohim lhathe
thoughtbeleft-tfle rnags..tinq:-contlliningthe bullets back in Nkaragoa. lrt~:n.a wamll1teheck aner
badahistorycMck ~lleOfl GonnllnG011ulezhas been~m'lnytime.s,and:~nvfeted of
seI1l~narcades, and CQntftlollnd Stlbstanl::es, I then armted ~ezfor~fugarelonjllpo,,,,,,!.. oflllnlllunitiOll. 1:ZJ16 (b)(ll oflhe P..a1 Code. leonlllct<d Sll' Cheung#20S and hildhi'"
11pprtm the charges. _ItUlntactt4San Mateo Detwive1~n,StepMl1ie~who told'lT1~ ~he

would be InoonrirwmJl_Ganza!etJ'nthe moming.; I searched OOfl~zprlor to ttal'lSPOtt; -Om;
Stokes, Dian,_ 1I2Zl~, and Po".,. COCllliai/11tJ trlInSpOrted Gonnl.,!Q JUdwcodCily fut Booking,
Ofe. Brothers hocked the buneuandmllpzliJ,e intolocker'lU$, tlndtfiQkS pictuies _ofthtbvJ1¢s;
/!IS they were when'fwndby Cv-stoll\$aB~l.Scboene~ Brothers then pHtced the #6J45catnet1J into
lo~kt:r nl1ll1ber#5-,J.bIlVellttached tl1ltRap- ~hedt)fGonwe'i, along-with the Cal Photomugsllof of
GOl1z_lfl~_Gonzal~' belongings we~gi~tohis_1Hend at the turbside. Her name -is (Nq)Ruth
AnnR-mnir-oz, Shahas slgned-lhE lnlperwork"and it Jrattached to lliis report. PToba&fe Calise
Declaration ~s submItted to the Redwood City facility of the S1in Mateo Sherlff"s. I havll;t$Iso
attachl!d'acaw~fthe-lJ.S. Dt.,p-artmentofHome:laM. Security" receipt for fhe bullet!: andthag6Z1ne
that C\.lstoms sei'zedt'rPm Gom:a!ez:and liater tijrnetl b\lerto S.F:P,D. for hooking.
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On 12i2141DliJ, I dowt1lo<ded the $dlgilljl pbQlP filn from """... 6145 onlo a CD·Rdise.l mad. 2 "'Is ofprints
fortfie OA'sQfflce And a CQPY forti1e~ nle.:The CO-R w!ls tlien boo!«;d illto evideQC(l.

P<lIe/TJiirc: l21i112()10 08;41;.H
Rl'lt'fl:n~: ADD1TlOlVAJ..1NFO

S\JPP!..EMENiAL REPORT
$afjFnmc1sCO PtJIitiJ-Auport !J/I1'§.t/1J OCA lO3JJ5a

,,",.

',"'rn'~~,~;'l926} HILL, RON
,Q)IlIlR>I:



.,. SAN FRANOSCQ POLlCE DEI'Ml.no;JI!'T, AlRI'OR.T )lURE;\tI
l'ROI'ER'tY REPORT IRECEIPT
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PAGE# 1SECT1ONVfOLATEO 1231'Qll{!)

VlCllN !'Os

FOR PROPERTY amCER USE DNLY

DESTl\OYED ITEMS#.

01. ;
m---~

NATURE _~ ~~~__

EASEOS' ~~__

:BMW I1EiI'!S# _~_~ _

.
J YKQ\':t:;R rCONT1M.iA7ION FOl.tuW~VP Z\JPf'U'i;MEl'lTt\L U 0"'.'"

rr~~ JDW!1J.!CATroN i1lVi-:'::D, ~~~ N!'::"~'!,D I~COl»: NO, A'ItrlCLE Q"'l' X!JMBBR. ' MANI.:FACtUP.ER. MOtJ~l.·:'\'t1Ma~ VA1,.UE;:

""""It., IC.....Db• I i ..
$g

Ii DESC!lJf'TtQX; tj)lJt8m~ SVig1tal PJurtll'l'iJe3 B$!41
~

9 lNSIR1jerION:s·TOLAB~
~

J I I'" •'\'
'" O£SCRI'?11QN:
B
~. lNSTRUCTIONSruLAB:

£ I I $ ;

PESetUPTIOS:
~ fN$TRL"tTIONs'tQ LAS:<
i;! I I I.' :
~ o'8SCRumo1':; 1

~ r,.;STRUCTIONS TO l..AB: I
~ I I I I 1$ I "q

! QESCR/f'TION: I
~
~- 1Ntm\11C'iIC!NSTO l..Ml:

l I I I I I'!.
OESCRTP1'fONI .

iii INS'tRUCTlONS ro LA13;
~
'f ! f I t I $ 1;..

~ CiJ;:Sctll?T1ON~

~ rNS'tR.UC1'IOl4:S TO lJffi;:

~ I I I I I I' I
D£SCR1Pno:i~

J':\,'STR1.JCr1OblSTO LAB,
1" lCF.RRE1'ORTIN(I ·STAR. .. 1reVlO'lNCiSER,(Jl!ANl· ADOrnoNAlI'ROPEJl,,'IYl;l:iTeD !' ft/::WVUWt 'TOTA"LLOSS

"m ~ DYES DNO • •

/ ~'!El'O~TH !1l.3S550,,



Qimil1alACt:­
OutlawMQtorc:yde Gi!I~g5

Fil<>#
'12.007-02-86

Database r-ea:J(d.In ntnnber." 1928
an 02-13-10·Ofc.l<irby #41.~ strip~dGof1Z.!Iet. (G)on hIS Harley atC3mpbelIi'B\I1Q.roEllG furafJ1plifietj'
e:<haustand failingtou~~ tum,~naL{G) was a fully' patched Yago, and' wasfl.¥lng..eo\i:lrs~,he fjad 'ilH
exposed switd1tll~ on the, outside othisjadretpcn:ket (£53(kl pQ.. (G)'!WSarreS$1 and_during
inventory/lndrlent to arrest se-arrlt a lpa~:,steyf~~n~licher 9mm pIstolwas [QCa.reafnthe s.¢91e;'~s.
{G)'sfJike was-impounded ertd On thewayw PPC (Grin:adea5pof\tlfieoU5:sl:ate!nent:thil~'h~ C3rrJed the
weapon for 'priJteetion. (G)Wa'S boOked. see attacbE1 reportfor;iurther;

On 02~14-10(i'oflZ9l~1eft,;;ll'r1e5Sage furOfe. Kirby.ontl)e MDT'asking hlm to tall.h!mat "15~760-3."1fr
xegardlng,hls property;

Ofu Wools~from GIU was assignedithe case and he"sbon i;le~ned:tl:ult"l:hi::w~pon'i)i~ a,$Jally
stolen. When.1:heofficerSch~ the gUtloutJn fM-field1heYett:OTJe6uslyumlt as 13n l,Izl,

lab c.h~ praveci t\ti!: weapon waSfuflV furictlomil '~·aiJtorna~c.."see·at:U!.ched repOrt

On·OEK}Z~ t{))lJdge+N~91~ pqt _@OP~lezon ,sORPdiJnng 'atialgll~O,~ untilhls'~' cour:tap~~-9n
08~13, and,gran~ hlm-l~\fe mf.'l1Ssouri.1lJe'SORP1s'uselesslnlhat G~tolt1-tf1E!1!Jd!;l~ he/~~'911!d
be'gonetfrMl!isOlJrifrom OB-03to.0&1'2. J-le daImed lie ,is going to MIS5£Ju!i fur.b!s'brothefsW~dlng; It'
jiJst so,hapP.ens\:hatthe national \fago run WIll be;ln' .jvll$UUri at.thesot:Je tin:\e,

"**~*" See d{skWltTIilJrcjgeS"~feviden.ce':ITomtN5~·"'***~

l1nks~

. S.lJbj~:, . ... ..'c ,

~, EfTIesOO MilnuelGomalez: f6spanlc f'.4aleApr:}:3"i958 5'l7-11--;(j74S'
Vehicles:
2O~·Hatlev Davldson-fA.l~SS150

GtpuPS:
VagosMC

Unkediiles':

,guri/lab{pdf,:fii~:).

1050c@Wfi"l¢)
GonzalezDL{jpg'fj/e)
'bolo' (pdffile)
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AEX?: GEXP:
FPRT': 02/l3[2':tllD

SF AP':f CITY'
BT SAN FRANCISCO

PHON£:: 415 6659335 RTYE'~' R
OCPN: ,.rCiNS NOTED UNTON;'

NAM~ SF APT CI~Y LOGAL~

QUERY PE.RSON DETAIL 091-26120T1 ..l8:J.6- l;'AGE;
HAS, .<:::PNfb1.ED'-·-WIT,H+PC--29'6!!,QN, 020./14;/20'10
~~~AM:;'t::E:Rt'JEST6,~·". J ".' .~. 'MNAM':''': :iitANOEri'f:;':''''''':' ,;_:i~~'B1'J;:

NO RG'H'I"; "'5'07 WGHT: 1'75 HAXB.~ BR EYES~ BR tmCE~ .fl SEX.; M

REG; SEXP; WEXP;
~/M/T': )IJ.'N MENOR'L ,OF ~U MADRE"RT '!ARII!!

f:fOIJ.BE:/l' SUR STREEt' N"AME
BESAPO: 411& FQLSOM

5T;'cA ZlJ?:94"'nO-
$Mt': NONE NOTED

HOUSEit- S PRS';VREET

JPQD V23
PFl'l' llGE012

-"e- ~~~±?'GONZAr:,EZ:"",;j·
'::ooa: 04/23/1959 PQB;

S NAG

E:M'~z:\DD-:

ST: ZIP. PHONE:::
CI.!:AOS'7 8196 9- -FBI'1f : 93a-Sl-4:Pl DANO: sapo:
1P: Q5,[01/1998 Pi!OT·O: 02/14/20.10 WARRA~T= NO OECEA$BD{
1.0 NOTE:
-DLNOl:' CAN574166$ 'Rq:~Ol:•• MSN01~
~y,'-+** 'END O:FLIST*'''''''''**

FrtbB:- NO

SPARI(SPO-121J1/2O'1_1~'



l:..sTEMG Vos

CEN:

LIST' EMERGENCY:, CONTACrS 0!3t~,6/2Pi-'1 '1,8:10 P~GE',~ 001

·PRr'NTER; SJFt1

POB: ;NO
~~r~~ BBQWN

~PJ'N NAME: GQNZALEZ.. ERN:ESTO MAN'OEL
S'SK: M DOll: 'O·4f23!l,Q58
HeIGHT: 5'07 WETGRT'~" 1;75'

CONTACT NAi"IE:: ~;C~1~IN~1:T
HOP$.E# .s DR ~TH~E-T tiJAME

AQDR; N9fiE NOTED
S,T: ZIP::

DATI!:: Q2./ lA1201Q·

S'E' S'TE

RAGW-; RisPAN1;C
:E:':{E~: BROWN

crty



JPQH V56 QUERY' 5LNGLE CEN-.KISTORY 09/26/2:0.11 1.8~Oll~1~l';J;: 1
S,F..~TACL:A-nA: COUNTX' ARREST AND D.ISPOSITION, ,.HISTeRY,

PFN: Ji3GE012 IiNAM:: .GON.ZALEZ " FNAM: £~ESTQ MNAM:: ,Mll.N.QE.L GEN~
C~SE4f'/PURl'O&K:: ~CP\AS 1.065 '; II/ fISPARK;j INV

HA~ COMPLrED'WI~H pc296ON

.;A.L~SES: :G'ONZA:LEZ

n;/14/2Ql0
PERSON

ERN£S'TO
DATA

MANUEL

HA.IR
131IDWN

Supo;
o MORE DLNS

W.GHT
1.75

RG1iT
507

DANQ';
DLM: CAN5747663

POB
NO

,PHOTO :021141:201(}

FBT1t-:: 93::l:l~14Pl
o MORE SSN-S

DOB
04/2:3 /J.. 9-58

la, Q5/01/199S
~D NOTE;:
s~x RACEJ~RANSL,

M H ttrSEJ;iN'Ie

dIL' ,'A:OS7:Erl~69

~;~~:'.......
s. N p" G

REG: SEXP: NEXP; 'AEXP~ GEXP~

TREATMENT CT~
...."",'*,,\,""' k ""~,,,,_~,* *::1<".,*'."'''*:*''''' '., '" *'1f","lf**',* *'* 'k-J< -Ii *,,.. *' /< '* .. *,'* k'"!< *,*,,jI',.,,,* *' '* *"1< ;;;'-fr'''*, ji * '* Ir: '* ........ "' ..... *--*,,*'+'* *:-ti ** I<

ODS/?
07/12/2010,
0711;2/20.-1 G
Q711c?l2P10
07/121200.0

'RELElA'SI: S'rA!'llS
OZIl;4/201G 1S': 12' BE-

C(JqNT/tASZ
COUNT/CASE
G9i:JN:J;! leASE1
COUNT/CASE:

DU:5iP: 12·.(l;l1/20·10

ENJ:1G

DDS,P'.:12/01/20:J::O

ENHt"

DDSP: lZ/0:.1/2:Cfl0

ENHC

DDSE! 12/Ul!2010

ENHC

VER IND~' IfERIF
oFeN

1 d~044_08 66
nsp

'CMBlilPQ'nHER
C0BljD ,OTH~R

O:l.B]:ilO OTHER
C:~ND OTHER

OFFeR
KI}:\EY

M!F'
>!!
F
F
F

BOOK DATE BOOK TYP~

02/14/2010 ONVIEW

MfF ERE
M:

UqMpDI~N~TIF EVIDENCE

CRT-DQCf\J;;X:: ·S,J.q,,~'47 O---£lO'~:l ~ 59
CHILD:; DV':
CHARGE: MIF" PRS
pC 12021, ("~j I,ll ... . p
t>fSflOSXT:rqN-': bSMsnl1Ns'tlF EV:tDE.NC&

CHARGE M/F ~RS

PC 12031lA) (1) F
DISPOSITLON: DSMSDIINSUF E~DENCE

CHARG~ HiE PRS
PC 1202Q IAJ li) F
DXS i>OS'ITIC>N t jjSM'SD/IN'SOF' 'E'!'TOENCE

.CHARGE
PC 653K
PISPOSITION~

ORIGINATING CENS·
**+-./i ... .., ** .. f<* ""Ii .,W *~;., "..:**""* ... *** *** *", '" '" ****t*~ 1.1'.".. *;i,::**-* tri! * off*,*-1<*"*·*.Jr**~* ... .,,~,. ....*-*~****:*t'"

D~I~ CEN ARST DATE
1.0'Q'OS-HYS 02/131201Ck

. Sl'AY' -tiT /ct5:
Me
SAN tiDS ~ po­
BOOKING. CHARGES:
l;'C 65:3 (K:}
PC 12U25lA) (1)
PC 120'31 (A) (1)
PC lia,20 (1\) {4l

"" * ... *'* *"" *'* '* ,,'';',*, 10 .''"'"''*'"' ** ",*,*--,1;*,*.",."" **-1- -I< -1-*"" *,..*-i."+~*'"* ~""**i**"":***,'Ii~*"'''''*'' *>t'" :t*--oi''''' •• '''*''''''''''''"+ w'c"
'.' . CASES cONVERTED FROM CJ·tt ",

'" *:1< -I< ** ... *,,;J,.., ** '#< *' '* .... *.}( '" it .... * *,*.,j,"* ~* ** -.;- -I< fj- .... t>- *..,* ~ -1<.*** "'*''''' -I< olc·*'* .... "',*'''''''''''*':/t,'*¥''k ** *-i,!*** * *1''<\-.*"",,,,,** ~r",.

r



JPQH VS6 'QqERX S'IN~LE C';'EN HTSTORY 09I26(2:Cll 18: 08 _P~GE~ .2
Sl-\NTA GLl\M COUN1'Y -AR~8ST Al'fD Or.S~OS.1::TH)~ HTSTbRY

.PFN; BGEO'12 LliIF..M,~GONZ.All&.z. f'NAM; ERNBST'Q HNAH: MANUEL GEN,:
'C~S.Eo#jl?UR1?OSE:REGKAS 1865 II/IIIS.PARKS IN\i

RELE~S.El ,,SIl'ATV$
()'3(13i)';.9~j 16::c'QO S~~

Q~N ARST DA1":E 'BOOK DATE BOOK TY FE
935'76~l 02/13/19'9-3 02il3-/l99'3 COMML'l'MEtNT

S;r~Y ~1ICD'~ P-212.Q/199~3 WWP VER I~n: UNK}\:iOWN
AAG ARR oFFeR OFCN
sec DEPT coRR L0053-
BOOKING CHARGES; MfF OS}? DDSF
'VC ;I.460'l.1(Al M COMM!TM,f;~T O~I13h9B:j,.

VC 2-23,4 9 I COM..!Iij.tT~~T, .. , .:02Il'3!t9~:j
*~*~*~*******~~**********~**~***~******************~~~**~~****~*~***~**~~*~*~~*

BOOK DATE BOOK TYPE
61/2l/1993 ONVIEW

DDSi>'

Gl/21119S3
ol)2,/un
0,1,/21119'9-3,

. o:iI2111.9~~
Cil2i/1993
0\/21/1991
011z1/1993
OlI:>l11 99J.

~ELEASE S~~TOS

01/2~11'9'93 P?:'~O SRE1.

OASN
VER IND: VE!{IF

bFmr
9.3.o2'1tJ06
nsp

,.EILEp
PRrQR ;S09K;ING
eRIOR B{)oJi(rNG
l?R;TP'R HooKING
PR'lOR BQOKIN't
PR:IOR .tlOQ:Klt'i1G
PRIOR ,_BoOKING
PRIOR BodK:!NG~
ER:;J:OR 'BOOKING

M/F
M
M
M
M
M
:r
I
1
M

ARROFFCR
D0075 -

CEN ~ST DATE
939,2952, 01/21/1993

STAY D'l'/CD:
AAG
ltAt.6 ALTOPD
BOOKING CHARGES~

vc J,460~.lVq

vc 4050EL(A:)
va 11'2803 (A,)
Vi:' '40908 (A').
\Ie lA 601. 1 (AT
VC 224..50
VC 4000 (A.)
VC22349
VC 14601.1(A)------_.---------- -'- _--.--------------_._~..,._.,., -.~.-.".,....,.,....,.__.~--''--- --_.- - - --,~-.""'---.-,-- -.,..,-..'--
CRT-DOCf(~'I: -:. E'A -434 60-a930'8'352
CHILD~ :DV:
CHARGE MlF ~RS

VC 1460L nll) M 1
OISP,QSATIO~~ CQNVICTED

FIL~D~ 01/22/1993

ENfi.C

DOSE': 'Ol!:22-/19~~

SENTENCE :,
JATL~

NO'l"'B':

Ol/:22./J;S~93
5, DAY~ COUNTY JAIl,
CTG3t>-A;H01.D VALID :rae i;o- IN$,OBEY AL}..- LAWSICOMMITTBD

llDS,P

DASN

ENHC

DDSP, b1/:2J../199S

MLF
1.
M

M1E'
I,

ARR OFFeR
MO,la. -

SY 436.-35-P·9254727
OV;'

ARST DAT.Kl>OOE:. .DJ:\,!,;E.,BOOl{ TYPE,
03121/19'92 04/1.3/19,92 CRIMINAI,o CITATION:
DT!CD'~ V'EE(I~d: U~KNOWN

QFCN
UD08371
DS:~

FILEl;)
f'lLED

CRT'-'DOCKET:
CHILD.:
P:H~J,tG1i:

Vc 2,23;.If9
I)Is:i?OSITION~ CO'NVI.CTEP:

*~'**,"'**"":*'*:'*"'**.. *,;;--,..** *,***,'Ii'*'**'* ** k*~-lr*.*"""*"oj., "'"-Ii **.., x** **.*.";'**~'IN<'I.**'~* *,'!<'~'lo:***'JI............... "'''''-1'
RELEASE S.TATUS·

GEN
4'2;1347'9

, S~~AX
AAi:;
gCH.!',Y-G:tLROY ~HP
BOOKING CliARGES,~
'vC' 'i'23:·if9 "
y.c 14:601. 1 tAl

-------------------~-------~~~~--~---~---~------------
-------~~----~----~------

=-



JPC!:H V56 el?~R':( SI~.GL£ Cfi:N HlS;~ORY o9/?:61~o;1i l-rk,OEl PAGE,: ,3
, S<\NTA CLA:RA COUN,TYAltRE~:r p,ND tU:SPQSITtOW }IX'STORY

PEN:, BGEDIZ LNAM: GONZALEZ Ftqf,i.M::ERNES'TO l'4NAbll::· MANUEL, GElN::i
CASE{f/PURPOSE-: R~9KAS J,1HiS {11/11S·P{\Rks: INVi

SENTENCE:
"NOTE·:

6,1. /:2'll1 993, SENT1'.:NCE stJ$.l?EN D}i::D
?tO~F, ~lDRF, 1\8 FEE WAiVED, OBEy ~LLLAWS ~~f~ :OR~~h

CHARGE MIW
VCV1.6'Ol • 1 (A') M
D;r_S~PQS:ITlbN; C:ONv;rC:r'ED

PRS
1

ENl{C

ODSP: Ol/21/1g'9,3

S~NTEN'GE:

1:'J<.:9BJ?TIGNJAIL';
PROBAT],QN;
PROBATIoN t'INE.:
N.QTE':

01/21/19'93, IMPOSITlbN SENT- SOSP~l'lDEr;)

;; DAYS WEEKEND JAIL,
2, YEA:RS .cOURT PROB~:rTO~

,$l[}O:,OOFINE~ fI70-.-O'D, 'P~ML'F:YAS'SESSMENT

ADM -P·R, DOC 0-2/13/9~J, WJ O;2:/Z0I9J ,_ SA'I'S ONLY,

BBLEASE ST~TUS

-1 Q It'fi /1.9-7 8 .2!Q: 3.0 BAl L

~-

CEN ARST D~T& ~QOK DA~E BOOK ~XPE

-78430:68 Dllot/l.BDD. 10/2'9/19]8 LO~}\L !3ENCH, WARRANT
STAY DT/CD: VER IND: UN~QWN
AAG ARR 'OFFeR 00E'"C:N.
MTVIEW PD J9D27 - 7S'78'2l
BOOKING CHA~ES: HIE" nsp upsp
PC 5Sli.l M Ti{t1J'1S?ER P~OSECiJ,TTON ~PIil6/1978
PC 6Q2M M TAAN,SFER 1?ROSECUT-Xd1~ 10/;2.6/1978

** **"' .. 4;..1: ..** +*"'*"'* .. '*~" *"* *:<t*";,, ,,* .. ******* '"' k;>-** 1< ~* ",,*-"'*****+'" "" ...*",. '* ,oW***,,** *-"'*-"* k* ... "" **
T}fIS INmRMAt'ION IS CONfIDENTIAL J\.ND FOB OE-FICIAL U-qE, ONLY

po NOT PUPLICATE
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Intel Dare
03I2~/2011

ID#
2055

'slibmitred ay
Eve WoloszO'lJk #3223

'Follow Up'
-(None)

lliSsemlnate
Yes "

InteIligence-RepOI1;

CrilJ1iniillA~ity
Outlaw. Motorcycle Gangs

Case #
(None)

Agency
san Jose POU~ au

,Approved By
(None)

Resbict~

LaIV EnfurcenJent

Verffica~on

Vetified

File #
12007-0415

Inte~ Type
q!Jtl1l\'i Motorcyde Gang

,~arr~tlv,~

Onil.2/01/10' at b94S;hrs Inten,persanneJ (analystl<Jrn Reclms)obServe:ttwtlVagpS.:Jtl tnelTlfo' parYJnQ­
Iot-GOnzafez (Cl'J:,VlaS in the lot wD:n -ariiither Va~male. ~G) went ta.the:ll"lfn~ter,and ~ demandlnif
to have pnipertY'released to him~. Pr9pen)t~s nat· reJeasw i3S,~ls,guontnlt'etasek~lI~g:'se~~': ..
atlllohe,f PllOtos, , '"

LInked SubjectS

SUbjEl;et,# ,1_,-.Gonz.>alez,,'E[n~esto]~\anllel

Basic,IitfiniltatJim
i:ldB':i>!/23/1956 .. 1?I '.
FBI #: 9365HP1 Stale,ID#: (f'!one) DL #: CA - N5747663,

P!Jvfca/ Information
..Race~ Hispiu\te GenderfMale' Height:,5'8" Weighll;17fi
Haif:;BroWo' ~y~: Brown

5ppciQllndlcator
f\Jlly Patched

Addre~.l,.fpkeil Pfr?!ctfylo'Subjec! _
-"\dd~'proVided'jUr272010- 4118 Fqlsortl street ~ franJ;:isto cA !)4110

link~Vebic1es

2009Harley,"Oavtdson CA 1955150.
1,9~g- Harley Q;;lvidson Hf301HNM

Linked'GYoups.

Vagas: Me
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Exhibit 2

Exhibit 2

F I LED
Electronically

11-26-2012:02:14:17 PM
Joey Orduna Hastings

Clerk of the Court
Transaction # 3366578



San Mateo County Sheriff's Office

-
6~0821759Q SFI'D AIRI'ORT BUREAU R

Charge:

PC 12316 (b)(I)

09:14:26 11-16-2012

Greg Mllnks Sheriff

Investigative Follow Up Report
Cas. Number: 10-35550

Victim: Disposition:

Gonzalez, Ernesto Manuel Arrest

Suspect:
Gonzalez, Ernesto Manuel

DaB 4-23-1956
COL: N5747663
CII: A05761969

411 B Folsom Street
San Francisco, Ca 94110

Phone: 415-264-9335

, /6

I
I

I
I

I

On Monday, Oecember20, 2010, I was notified by San Francisco PO Airport
Communications that Suspect Ernesto Gonzalez had been arrested by SFPD
Officers for a violation of PC 12316(b)(1)- Felon in Possession of Ammunition.
Officer Webb explained to me that Gonzalez had been detained by SFIA
Customs and Border Patrol Agents upon his arrtval to SFO Customs area A side.
He arrived on a flight from Nicaragua. CBP noticed a loaded magazine in
Gonzalez' property. The magazine contained thirteen rounds of gmm pistol
ammunition. some hollow point and some full metal jacket.

Gonzalez was positively identified with his US Passport # 057192903 and his
California driver's license N5747663. A records check revealed that Gonzalez
had a lengthy history of arrest in California, including felony convietons for drug
possession.

Gonzalez explained to Customs agents that he did not have a firearm with him
and had left one in Nicaragua. He further told them it was legal to carry
ammunition in Nicaragua and that he forgot the ammunition and magazine were
in his backpack.

Gonzalez was arrested and transported to the Maguire Correctional Facility
where he was booked on one felony charge of PC 12316(b)(1),

Submitted by: Detedive Josephson

I ""*FOR OrflCU,L US!:. ONLY~'"
"11·,r"~'-~-"'j" .'." -"·-'?~~·'·I"'"
,_.~ f;-:~ 'j'::i r--, d-". ii;, :..-' n,',H( ,U I'.

j i..lNA.UTiWR(i}P ;li..;;~ I::; t\ Gnirv1lrH~L OffE?~SE
I._•..<-"._~-- ..-----'

Page #: 1

Reviewed by: Sgt. Matsuura
Date: November 16, 2012
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San Mateo County Sheriffs Office
Investigative Follow Up Report

Case Number: 10- 35550
I conducted a records check of Gonzalez. He has a valid California driver's
license with a motorcycle endorsement showing the current address at 4118
Folsom Street. A criminal history records check of California showed a history of
at least thirteen aliases. It shows arrests dating back to 1976 for various crimes
such as vandalism. trespass, assault, weapons charges, and several various
narcotic offenses. On April 17, 1980, Gonzalez was convicted in San Francisco

'County of HS 11360(a)- transportation of marijuana and two counts of HS
11352- transportation of narcotics (SFCO case #100948), He was subsequently
sentenced to formal probation and jail.

I went to the Maguire Correctional Facility to speak with Gonzalez. Paperwork
there showed that Gonzalez was in the process of posting bail and would be
released on $10,000 bail. I began to read Gonzalez his Constilutional rights per
Miranda. He interrupted and said he would like to speak to a lawyer. He said he
already had one, I told him that he would be released shortly and would receive
information from the jail as to the dates for his future hearings. I prOVided him
with my contact infonnalion.

Recommendations:
Forward to the District Attorney's Office for prosecution of PC 12316(b)(1)- No
person prohibited from owning or possessing a firearm under Section 12021 or
12021,1 of this code....shall own, possess, or have under his or her custody or
control, any ammunition or reloaded ammunition.
PC 12021 (a)(1) states "Any person Who has been convicted of a felony under
the laws of the United States, the State of California....and who owns,
purchases, receives, or has in his or her possession or under his or her custody
or control any firearm is guilty of a felony".

SUbmitted by Stephanie Josephson
Reporting Deputy:

Page #: 2

6Lf.3

Reviewed by:
Date: November 16, 2012
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Joey Orduna Hastings
Clerk of the Court

Transaction # 3367343

1 CODE
Richard A. Gammick

2 #001510
P.O. Box 30083

3 Reno, NV 89520-3083
(775) 328-3200

4 Attorney for Plaintiff

5

6 IN THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA,

7 IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF WASHOE.

8 * * *

9 THE STATE OF NEVADA,

10 Plaintiff,
Case No. CR11-1718

12 CESAR VILLAGRANA, (A)
and

13 ERNESTO MANUEL GONZALEZ (B)

11 Vo

Dept. No.4

14 Defendants.

15 /

16 SUPPLEMENT TO MOTION FOR ORDER ADMITTING GANG ENHANCEMENT EVIDENCE
AND TESTIMONY

17

18 COMBS NOW, the State of Nevada, by and through RICHARD A.

19 GAMMICK, District Attorney of Washoe County, and KARL S. HALL, Chief

20 Deputy District Attorney, and files this SIUPPLEMENT TO MOTION FOR

21 ORDER ADMITTING GANG ENHANCEMENT EVIDENCE AND TESTIMONY. This motion

22 is based upon the attached Points and Authorities, the evidence

23 presented at any hearing of this matter, oral argument of counsel,

24 and all other pleadings and papers on file herein.

25 / / /

26 / / /



1 POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

2 The State hereby supplements its previously filed motion

3 and addendum by filing the attached curriculum vitae of Detective

4 Daniel Long as Exhibit 15.

5 AFFIRMATION PURSUANT TO NRS 239B.030

6 The undersigned does hereby affirm that the preceding

7 document does not contain the social security number of any person.

8 Dated this 26th day of November 2012.

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26 1126CR111718LD

RICHARD A. GAMMICK
District Attorney
Washoe County, Nevada

By lsi Karl S. Hall
KARL S. HALL
23
Chief Deputy District Attorney

C;S-(
2



1 CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE BY E-FILING

2 I certify that I am an employee of the Washoe County

3 District Attorney's Office and that, on this date, I electronically

4 filed the foregoing with the Clerk of the Court by using the EeF

5 system which will send a notice of electronic filing to the

6 following:

7 DAVID Z. CHESNOFF, ESQ.
RICHARD A. SReONFELD, ESQ.

8 CHESNOFF & SCHONFELD
520 S. FOURTH STREET, 2~ FLOOR

9 LAS VEGAS, NV 89101

10
DATED this 26th day of November, 2012.

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

IslLORI DELANO
LORI DELANO

3



1 CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE BY E-FILING

2 I certify that I am an employee of the Washoe County

3 District Attorney's Office and that, on this date, I electronically

4 filed the foregoing with the Clerk of the Court by using the ReF

5 system which will send a notice of electronic filing to the

6 following:

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

MAIZIE W. pusrCH, C.D.P.D.
WASHOE COUNTY PUBLIC DEFENDER'S OFFICE
350 S. CENTER STREET, 5TH FLOOR
P.O. BOX 30083
RENO, NV 89520

CHRISTOPHER FREY, D.P.D.
WASHOE COUNTY PUBLIC DEFENDER'S OFFICE
350 S. CENTER STREET, 5~ FLOOR
P.O. BOX 300B3
RENO, NV 89520

BIRAY DOGAN, D.P.D.
WASHOE COUNTY PUBLIC DEFENDER'S OFFICE
350 S. CENTER STREET, 5 TH FLOOR
P.O. BOX 30083
RENO, NV 89520

DATED this 26th day of November, 2012.

IslLORI DELANO
LORI DELANO
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1 INDEX OF EXHIBITS

2 EXHIBIT 15 Curriculum Vitae of:
Detective Daniel Long, P#3969

3 Number of Pages: 5

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

6~
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CURRICULUM VITAE
September 17, 2012

Detective Daniel Long, P# 3969

Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department
Homicide Section / Robbery-Homicide Bureau
4750 W. Oakey Boulevard, Las Vegas, NV 89102

Experience

(702) 828-3521

Police Officer, Las Vegas Metrnpolitan Police Department Hired: 09-11-90

Detective assigned to the Gang Crimes Section 11-18-1995 - 01-20-2001

Detective assigned to the Homicide Section 01-20-2001 - Present

Education

Bachelor of Science / Business Administration
University ofNevada, Las Vegas (1983).

Training Received

LVMPD Police Officer Academy

Poly-testing Narcotics Screening & Identification
Search Warrant Preparation & Execution
Interviews and Interrogations
Gangs in Clark County
Crime Scene Preservation & Investigation
Managing Confidential Informants
Investigator Development
Search & Seizure Forfeitures

. Advanced Investigator TeChniques (FBI)
Slll'Veillance Techniques
Drug Recognition Expert
Street Survival
Gang Tactics Training
Gang Tactics Training
Nevada Gang Investigators Association Conference
Instructor Development

Class 2-1990

03/1991
02/1993
07/1993
07/1993
09/1993
09/1993
03/1994
03/1994
08/1994
09/1994
07/1995
12/1995
01/1996
02/1996
03/1996
06/1998



12/2003
1112004
1112004
0212005
0312005

0411999
08/1999
10/1999
0412000
0912000

0912000
1212000
0312001
0312001
0112002
03/2002
07/2002
0812002

Nevada Gang Investigators Association Conference
National Law Enforcement Inst. Advanced Gang Conference
Behavior Analysis Deception Detection Techniques
Nevada Gang Investigators Association Conference
Reid Technique of Interview and Interrogation
Advanced Reid Techniques Interview & Interrogation
Advanced Practical Homicide Investigations
California Homicide Investigators Association Conference
Practical Homicide Investigation
Killology
Advanced Practical Homicide Investigations
Advanced Officer Skills Tralning
International Homicide Investigators Association Conference

Cyber-Porn and Cyber Stalking
Amber Alert
VlCAP
Patterns and Trends in Child Homicides
Interviews oflncarcerated Offenders
Forensic Updates and DNA
Geographic Profiling
Multi-National Homicide Investigations
Serial Murders
National Center for Missing and Exploited Children
Victim Concerns
Mass GravesJBody Identifications
Explosions - The Scene Investigation
Child Pornography- Recognition and Interview Techniques

Advanced Practical Homicide Investigations
Advanced Practical Homicide Investigations
Surface Skeleton and Buried Body Recovery Seminar
The BulletproofMind by Lt. Col. Dave Grossman
Advanced Practical Homicide Investigations

New York State Police
COlonel Henry F. Williams Homicide Seminar

Crime Scene Reconstruction
Laci Peterson Murder investigation review
Forensic Pathology
Forensic Entomology
Forensic Dentistry
Childhood Deaths and Homicides
Homicides in Hospitals
Phannacology ofDeath

09/2006

657



D.C. Sniper Serial Murder review
Forensic Investigations
BTK Killer Serial Murder review
Forensic Video Investigations
Forensic Anthropology
Forensic Psychology
Medgar Evers Murder review

Excited Delirium - In Custody Deaths

California Homicide Investigators Association
Photo Line-Ups vs. Sequential Double Blind Line-Ups
Homicide Reviews
Undercover Hornicide Investigations

International Homicide Investigators Association
14"' AnnuaJ Symposium

California Homicide Investigators Association Conference
State of the Drug Cartels in Mexico
Shooting Dynamics, Force Science Institute
Case Reviews

Public Agency Training Council
Use ofDeadly Force
Officer Involved Shootings

Institute for the Prevention of In-CUstody Deaths
Arrest-Related Deaths Investigator Program

Nevada Coalition against Sexnal Violence
CSI Effect: Maximizing the Potential ofForensic DNA

Public Agency Training Council
Cold Case Investigations
Crime Scene Investigations
Case and Courtroom Preparation
Deadly Force Investigations
Domestic Violence Murders

03/2007

03/2007

0912007

0312008

1212008

04/2010

0212011

1212011



Training Given

CLASSES TAUGHT

Gangs in Clark County
Gang Trends in Southern Nevadl!
Narcotics
Gang Awareness
Gangs in the Millennium
Officer Involved Shootings
Death Scene Investigations
Interviews and Interrogations
LVMPD Homicide Investigations
Intermediate Detective School

GROUPS INSTRUCTED

LVMPD Police Officer=s Academies
LVMPD Police Officer=s Lateral Academies
LVMPD Police Officer In-Service Tmining
LVMPD Citizens Academies
LVMPD Youth Citizens Academy
LVMPD Cadet Training
Nevada Sheriffs Association
Nevada POST Academy Tmining
UNLV, CCSD and University OrPhoenix Gmduate and l1ndergmd Classes
Nevada Gang Investigators Associstion Conference
Nevada Police Accreditation Coalition
National CALEA Conference
Adult and Jnvenile Parole and Probation
Las Vegas Security Officer Workshops
Nevada Dare Association Conference
KCEP Public Radio Talk Show
CuIinary Workers Union Seminar
Numerous Teachers and Student Groups in Clark County
Numerous Other Civic and Church Groups

ARTICLES WRITTEN

Co-Authored AGang Trends in Clark County 2000@ article published in the
LVMPD Gang Crimes Section paper AGang Busters@.
Co-Authored ABlack Gang History in Clark Coun!y@ articles written with



Del R. WIlson.
Books and Article. Read

Bureau ofAlcohol, Tobacco and Firearms. Crips and Bloods Street Gangs 1989
Los Angeles Gangs BriefHistory African-American Gangs by Alejandro Alonso 1997
National Law Enforcement Institute, Inc. National Gang Update 1996
ALA Sty1e@ Los Angeles County Sheriff~s Office, Street Gang Mannal 1993
AMonster® The Autobiography of an LA Gang Member by Sannyika Shakur AKA Scott,
Cody.
The Reid Technique of Interview and Interrogation by John Reid and Associates
Practical Homicide Investigations by Vernon Gebreth
Gunshot and Stab Wounds A Medical Examiners View by Barbara Clark Mirns Assoc.
Forensic Services, U.S. Department of Justice.
Federal Resources on Missing and Exploited Children, Federal Agency Task Force.
Forensic Anthropology by Dr. Sue BlaCk, Consultant Forensic Anthropologist University
ofGlasgow and Director of Centre for International Forensic Assistance (CIFA).
Forensic Archaeology by Professor Margaret Cox, Scbool ofConservation Sciences,
Bownemouth University.
Officer-Involved Shootings and Use ofForce, David Hatch, Practical Investigative
Techniques.
Sex-Related Homicide and Death Scene Investigations, Vernon Geberth.

Gang Experienee

Experience reference Street Gangs in Clark County.
Speak to gang members on a daily basis.
Thousands of field contacts with gang members.
Over two hundred investigations into gang related crimes.
Testified in Justice and District Court on Gang Related Cases.
Certified as a AGang Expert@ on several occasions in-Justice and District Court
Numerous interviews ofGang Members, Custodial and Nonecustodial.

Homicide Experience

Conducted the Investigation of 158 Murders
Conducted the Investigation into 61 Officer Involved Shootings with 107 shooting
officers
Involved in the Investigation of moTe than 421 Homicides
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Joey Orduna Hastings
Clerk of the Court

Transaction # 3366076

1 CODE
Richard A. Gammick

2 #001510
P.O. Box 30083

3 Reno, NV 89520-3083
(775) 328-3200

4 Attorney for Plaintiff

5

6 IN THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA,

7 IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF WASHOE.

8 * * *

9 THE STATE OF NEVADA,

10 Plaintiff,
Case No. CRl1-171S

12 CESAR VILLAGRANA, (A)
and

13 ERNESTO MANUEL GONZALEZ (B)

11

14

v.
Dept. No. 4

Defendants.
15

16
ADDENDUM TO MOTION FOR ORDER ADMITTING GANG ENHANCEMENT EVIDENCE

17 AND TESTIMONY

18 COMES NOW, the State of Nevada, by and through RICHARD A.

19 GAMMICK, District Attorney of Washoe County, and KARL S. HALL, Chief

20 Deputy District Attorney, and files this ADDENDUM TO MOTION FOR ORDER

21 ADMITTING GANG ENHANCEMENT EVIDENCE AND TESTIMONY.

22 / / /

23 / / /

24 /1/

25 / / /

26



1 This addendum is being filed due to the size of the motion

2 and exhibits for e-filing purposes.

3 AFFIRMATION PURSUANT TO NRS 239B.030

4 The undersigned does hereby affirm that the preceding

5 document does not contain the social security number of any person.

6 Dated this 26th day of November 2012.

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

RICHARD A. GAMMICK
District Attorney
Washoe County, Nevada

By /s/ Karl S. Hall
KARL S. HALL
Chief Deputy District Attorney

6'7\
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1 CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE BY E-FILING

2 I certify that I am an employee of the Washoe County

3 District Attorney's Office and that, on this date, I electronically

4 filed the foregoing with the Clerk of the Court by using the ECF

5 system which will send a notice of electronic filing to the

6 following:

7 DAVID Z. CHESNOFF, ESQ.
RICHARD A. SHCONFELD, ESQ.

8 CHESNOFF & SCHONFELD
520 S. FOURTH STREET, 200 FLOOR

9 LAS VEGAS, NV 89101

10
DATED this 26th day of November, 2012.

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

js/LORI DELANO
LORI DELANO
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1 CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE BY E-FILING

2 I certify that I am an employee of the Washoe County

3 District Attorneyls Office and that, on this date, I electronically

4 filed the foregoing with the Clerk of the Court by using the ECF

5 system which will send a notice of electronic filing to the

6 following:

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

MAIZIE W. PUSICH, C.D.P.D.
WASHOE COUNTY PUBLIC DEFENDER'S OFFICE
350 S. CENTER STREET, 5TH FLOOR
P.O. BOX 30083
RENO, NV 89520

CHRISTOPHER FREY, D.P.D.
WASHOE COUNTY PUBLIC DEFENDER'S OFFICE
350 S. CENTER STREET, 5TH FLOOR
P.O. BOX 30083
RENO, NV 89520

BIRAY DOGAN, D.P.D.
WASHOE COUNTY PUBLIC DEFENDER'S OFFICE
350 S. CENTER STREET, 5TH FLOOR
P.O. BOX 30083
RENO, NV 89520

DATED this 26th day of November, 2012.

IslLORI DELANO
LORI DELANO
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2

EXHIBIT 11
3

4

5
EXHIBIT 12

6

7

EXHIBIT 13
8

9

10 EXHIBIT 14

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

INDEX OF EXHIBITS

Arizona Department of Public Safety
Case Number 2010-039100. August 21, 2010
Number of Pages: 284

Santa Cruz Sheriff's office
Case Number 1102482. March 17, 2011
Number of Pages: 384

Operation Simple Green Takedown
Investigation Number BNE-R12011-00087
Number of Pages: 12

Curriculum Vitae of:
Detective Les S. Skelton - GIITEM
Don Fieselman - Las Vegas Metropolitan Police
Department
Jeffrey Simpson - Santa Cruz County Sheriff's Office
Eric Bennett - San Bernardino Police Department
Jorge Gil-Blanco
Number of Pages: 34

5
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Yavapai County, Arizona

August 21,2010

2010-039100
2010-039208

\



( Yuma Police Report Notes

Zayas Report is very informative
SuoP #20 Raiss: is also very informative re: shell casings recovered
SuoP #30 Surack: interview of Blankanship
SuoP #32 Page: Crime scene diagrams

2670 North Yuma Drive is the HA house Casings were found in the front yard; different
calibers;
Vagos bike out front -

HA was shooting at that house from a Harley dumped in front of the house.

Azevedo was the infonnant that provided information about how the gun fight started and
he was working with law enforcement.

VAGOShouse
2920 N. Yuma St. is where all the Vagos were staying Michael Diecks house
Numerous items ofVagos paraphernalia including guns, ammo, cuts, pot, etc,
Just like Gonzalez house: Report done by Del. J. Viles GIITEM

Bikes in the road looked like vagos bikes (stickers)

VAGOS (Church meeting)
Blankenship, Rnbert - Said the HA's shot at them as they drove by HA house;
He was hit in the knee; He's a member out of Vegas.
Micheal Diecks (2920 N. Yuma Rd "Maddog")
James P. Sabon
Ruben Lopez - President (kickstand) Was shot in the stomach (shot his own bikew

stated that they were shot at as they drove by.
Aurelio Figueroa (aka 45) VP from Vegas. Said they were driving by 2670 when the HA
started shooting at them and they shot back.
Shawn Fabretti
Carlito Woodley (Wednesday) Sgt. at anns
Danny Urguilla (Danny Loco) Was going to tum in his cuts; drove by was shot at and
laid his bike down; gave wife's glUl to Kickstand; Justin picked up wife's .357;
TopHat and Coyote was there at the house when he got back
Josh Ealey (fexas)
Justin Kaufmann? Sgt. at Anns
Shawn Pratt
William Pizel Top Hat
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Vagus arrested
Jo,h Ealey 2) Jo,hua Mead 3) Darryl Reed 4) WilJiam Pize! 5) Robert Blanken,hip 6)
Jame, Saban 7) Ju,tin Kaufmann 8) Michael Dieck, 9) Brian ApfeIID)Je" Flore,
ll)Sbawn Pratte 12)David Wall",z 13)Ruben Lopez 14)Thomas Darling IS)Danile
Urquilla 16)Aurelio Figueroa 17)Jermie Murphy
At this time no further
HELLS ANGELS 2670 N. Yuma Numerous guns and paraphernalia found inside
the house
Kiley Hill shooting according to Lopez (Zavas Report)
Larry Scott construction bike?
Michael Koepke bike on premises: shooting according to Lopez
John Bernard shooting according to Lopez
Juan Marchelli bike on premises
Warren Kuntz - bike on premises gives statement Supp# 33 (was in the house when
shooting started) Mentioned the Kingman incident which may have caused problems.
Bruce Schweigert
Byron Ellis bike on premises
Kevin Christenson - Had gunshot wound to abdomen
Teddy Toth : Was a clubhou,e
Robert Kittredge

2 Vagos shot and one HA so far

Whites report lists a lay witness who said vagos were outside of HA club house; saw a
bike down and then HA started shooting;
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This is a supplemental report to Yavapai County Sheriff's Office report number 2016­
030743 authored by Detective D. Zavos.

On August 21, 2010 at approximately 1228 hours, I, Arizona Department of Public
Safety. Gang and Immigration Intelligence Team Enforcement Mission, Detective L.
Skelton #4953 was called at hcme by Arizcna Department of Public Safety Sergeanl J.
Milam in reference to a shooting involving the Hells Angels and Vagas motorcycle gangs
in Chino Valley, Arizona. Sergeant Milam requested I'respond to the area and assist
detectives with the Yavapai County Sheriffs Office with any info they may need in
relation to members of both gangs.

At approximately 1512 hours, i arrived at the south end ofthe scene on North Yuma
Drive. As I approached I noticed a large police presence with many members of various
S.W.A.T. team's position as scene security carrying assault style weapons and wearing
helmets and heavy body armor. I made conracr with Yavapai County Sherifl's Office
Sergeant D. Raiss, Commander S. Mascher and they began removing officers from
within the crime scene.

As I walked from the South end ofthe scene to the North, I observed two motorcycles
lying on their right sides facing Northbound. The motorcycles were to the East ofwhat I
know ro be the old Sknll Valley chapter clubhouse ofthe Hells Angels gang and currently
occupied by Theodore Toth, the ex-president for the Sknll Valley chapter of the Hells
Angels gang.

As I continued walking Northbound on Yuma Drive I noticed several motorcycles parked
in the "driveway" area of2670 North Yuma Drive. The driveway entrance to the
residence was sealed offwith yellow crime scene tape. Jalso saw
several people I recognized to be members, prospects or hang-a­
raunds fcr the Hells Angels gang. The first Hells Angels gang
member I recognized by sight was Michael Trevor Koepke, DOB r -,"
9-28-81, who resides at 3270 North Bumblebee Drive, Apartment .
A, in Prescott Valley, Arizona. "Mike" bed his haircut in the style
ofamohawk and was wearing a green I-shirt with a Hells Angels \.;.,
death head on the back. When I approached Mike he smiled at me
and looked away. I did not make contact with Mike. (photc to
right.)

The next Hells Angels gang member I recognized was Theodore Johu Tolh, DOB 7-8­
1947, of2670 North Yuma Drive, Chino Valley, Arizona. (Photo
to right.) Theodore is know as I'Ted.dy" and was sitting on a
scooter wearing oxygen tubes. I approached Teddy and said hi to
him and he responded with rhe same. I asked Teddy how his
health was and he said It wasn't too good. WhIle speaking with
Teddy I noticed he had a Hells Angels death head gang tattoo on
hIs left forearm. Teddy asked when he would be able to return to
his house and I told him it would be awhile. I then continued



Arizona Department of Pnblic Safety
2010-039100

walking northbound on North Yuma Drive.

As I continued to walk north. a unifonned officer was walking
Southbound with a Hells Angels hang-around gang member 1
recognized as Bruce Andrew Schweigert, DOB 12-12-1963 of
2361 South Rio Verde Drive in Cottonwood, Arizona. (Photo to
right.) I've seen and spoken with Bruce at severaJ Hells Angels
"parties" and events. He would usually be posted as security for
the gang looking for surveillance units. That is a typical 'job"
for a hang-a-round or prospect for the gang.

"CUt3" are what the biker community refer3 to a3 their
leather or denim vests they wear to show their affiliation
with a certain gang or group. (See photos to right.)

Further North on Yuma Drive 1saw a Silver Chevy truck with a motorcycle parked to the
rear of it. In the area immediately around the truck were several spent shell casings lying
on the roadway. I continued to walk North to a Black Land Rover that was parked next
to a patrol car with its emergency light's activated. Next to the patrol car were two
motorcycles with Vagos gang related stickers attached to
them.

While at 2920 North Yuma Drive 1saw several members
ofthe Vagos gang I recognized. The area was being
secured by officers and detectives from various police
agencies.

1 then walked to 2920 North Yuma Drive and saw there
were approximately fifty people in the front yard ofthe
residence and many ofthem were wearing Vagos gang
related clothing such as "cuts" or green articles of
clothing.

1then walked back to the South end ofthe scene to meet
with command stafffor investigative assignments.

At approximately 1539 hours, I noted rain began faIling in the area ofthe crime scene.

At approximatel~ 1644 hours, I noted the rain stopped falling in the area ofthe crime
scene.

At approximately 1640 hours, a briefing for all involved was held. at the command post to
brief all involved with the investigation of the current infonnation and assign details for
the investigation.
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r At approximately 1725 hours, the briefing was completed and 1was assigned to assist the
lead investigator, Detective D. Zavos, from the Yavapai County Sheriffs Office with the
investigation and provided support for the gang involvement. Also assigned to assist
Detective Zavos with the investigation was GlITEM Detective J. Morris.

At approximately 1733 hoursl 1checked into the
South end ofthe crime scene and watched as
photographs were taken of the scene by J. Nelson of
the Yavapai County Sheriffs Office. After
photographs were taken Detective Zavos, Detective
Morris and I began checking North Yuma Drive for
evidence.

At approximately 1743 hours, 1discovered a bullet
hole in the rear tire ofArizona D666MC and pointed it out to Detective D, Zavos.

At approximately 1800 hours, Detective Zavas received pennission from the property
owners at 2661 North Yuma Drive to searcb their property for evidence from the
shooting. Detective Zavos obtained the property owners information. No evidence was
located.

At approximately 1820 hams, Detective Zavas, Detective Morris and I exited the North
end ofthe scene and checked out ofthe scene.

At approximately 1829 hours, Detective Zavos, Detective Morris .:,:,-
and 1arrived at 2920 North Yuma Drive and checked io with the
.officer maintaining the crime scene log. I made contact with
Auerelio Figueroa, DOB 2-23-1964 who is known as "45." (See
photo to right) As ofthe time of this investigation, Auerelio
Figueroa is the Vice President ofthe Tri-State Vagos gang and
has been a point ofcontact (or law enforcement. I asked
Auerelio Figueroa if he would talk. to me about what occurred.
Auerelio Figueroa agreed and we walked away from the front ofthe residence for
privacy.

At approximately 1838 hours, Auerelio Figneroa was advised of the Miranda rights.
Auerelio Figueroa agreed to speak with me about the shooting. The conversation was
audio recorded by Detective Zavas. Refer to Detective Zavos' report for a swnmary of
the interview and transcription.

Atapproximately 1905 hours, Detective Zavos, Detective Morris and 1left 2920 North
Yuma Drive and returned to the command post establiShed at the South end ofthe crime
scene. I remained there while evidence was being collected by Yavapai County Sheriff's
Office Josh Nelson and secured as evidence.

(
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,- At approximately 2226 hours, Detective Zavos, Detective Morris aod 1returned to 2920
North Yuma Drive and entered the residence while asearch warrant was being executed
by GIITEM Sergeaot F. Stewart. 1walked through the residence looking at various
Vagos gang related items which include l·cuts." Our purpose at the search warrant was to
interview victims, suspects and witnesses to the shooting which occurred earlier and
ensure that gang related evidence was collected. Once a front bedroom was searched and
the evidence collected we began interviewing victims, suspects and witnesses. The first
room cleared which we used to conduct interviews was the room on the Northwest part of
the residence. Detectives conducting the search warrant indicated the room was clear of
any evidence and available for our use.

Prior to beginning the interviews I spoke with Manny Pesqueira,
DOB 8-21-70, of286 West Palamino in Chandler, Az. Manny's
moniker for the gang is "Arizona Manny." Manny told me he was at
2920 North Yuma Drive for his birthday party when everything
happened.

The first person to be interviewed was CindiJean Reed, DOB 12-18-1961 of 4124 Helen
Avenue in Las Vegas, Nevada and a phone number of 702-340-2728.

At approximately 2302 hours, Detective Zavos advised Cindi Reed of the Miranda
warning. Cindi stated she understood her rights and answered questions. During the
interview, Cindi indicated she was at the party with her husband. Darryl Reed who is a
four year patched member ofthe Vagos. Darryl Reed's moniker is "Moses" and is
believed to be the Treasurer for the Tri-State Vagos.

For a mOTe detailed synopsis of the interview see Detective D, Zavos' report.

At approximately 2312 hours. the interview with Cindi Reed was completed

The next person to he interviewed was Margarita Lynn Kleinman, DOB 7-1-78 of2657
Heritage Court in Las Vegas, Nevada and a phone number of702-677-6296.

At approximately 2313 hours, Detective Zavos advised Margarita Lynn Kleinmann ofthe
Miranda warning. Margarita stated she understood her rights and answered questions.

During the interview Margarita indicated she was at the Vagos party
with Shawn Fabretti, DOB 11-19-196500072 Leonetti, Las Vegas,
Nevada. Shawn Fabretti is a full patched member ofthe Tri-State
Vagos and uses the moniker "Dina." (See picture to right.)

For a more detailed synopsis of the interview see Detective D.
Zavas' report.
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(".. At approximately 2319 hours, the interview with Margarita Kleinmann was completed.
\

The next person to be interviewed was Maitha Guadalnpe Rojas, DaB 11-12-1972 of
3170 East Flamingo #108 in Las Vegas, NV with a phone number of702-232-4112.

At approximately 2313 hours, Detective Zavos advised Martha Guadalupe Rojas of the
Miranda warning. Martha stated she understood her rights and answered questions.

During the interview Martha indicated she was with "45," Auerelio Figueroa.

For a more detailed synopsis ofthe interview see Detective D. Zayas' report.

At approximately 2322 hours, the interview with Martha Rojas was completed.

Tbe next person to be interviewed was Michelle L. Murphy, DaB 03-20-1981 of 6357
High Sierra Avenue in Las Vegas, NY with a phone number of702-401-6267.

At approximately 2322 hours, Detective zavos advised Michelle L. Murphy ofthe
Miranda warning. Michelle stated she understood her rights and answered questions.

During the interview Michelle indicated she was at the Vagos
party with Carlito Woodley, DaB 8-29-1966, of 8700 Grazing
Hill, Las Vegas, Nevada who is a member with the Tri-State
Vagos and has claimed to be the Vice President. Carlito
Woodley's moniker with the gang is '·Wednesday." Mfchelle
indicated Carlito Woodley is currently the Sergeant at Anns.
(See photo to right)

For a more detailed synopsis of the interview see Detective D.
Zavos' report.

At approximately 2329 hours, the intervlew with Michelle Murphy was completed.

The next person to be interviewed was Janine Ann Urquilla, DaB 6-15-1963, of3850
West Elgin Street in Chandler, AZ. Janine indicated her cell phone number is 602-696­
4762 and her home phone numher is 480-775-9069.

At approximately 2331 hours, Detective Zavos advised Janine Ann Urquilia of the
Miranda warning. Janine stated she understood her rights and answered questions.

During the interview, Janine indicated she was at the party with
her husband, Danny UrquiIJa, DaB 1-20-1960, of 3850 West
Elgin Street in Chandler, AZ. Danny's moniker in the gang is
"Danny Loco" and his status was Treasure. However, Danny's
purpose for being at the party was to tum in his cuts. (See photo
to right.)
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For a more detailed synopsis of the interview see Detective D~ Zavos' rep?r1.

At approximately 2350 hours, the interview with Janine Urquilla was completed.

The next person to be interviewed was Emily Sanchez Vasquez of 2101 Eastern in
Kingman, AZ. She indicated a phone number of928-303-1466.

At approximately 2352 hours, Detective Zavos advised Emily Sanchez Vasquez ofthe
Miranda warning. Emily stated she understood her rights and answered questions.

During the interview, Emily indicated she was at the party with Joe Herrera who was
with the "Green Destiny Car Club."

For a more detailed synopsis of the interview see Detective D. Zayas' report.

At approximately 2358 hours, the interview with Emily Sanchez Vasquez was completed.

August 22,2010

The next person to be interviewed was Natalie N. Schieber, DOB 8-1-80 of90 Old Mine
Road in Pahrump, NY. She indicated her phone number was 775-291-9415.

On August 22, 2010 at approximately 0001 hours, Detective Zavos advised Natalie N.
Schieber of the Miranda warning. Natalie stated she understood her rights and answered
questions.

During the interview Natalie indicated she was at the party with
Joshua Ealey, DOB 1-28-1983 of4670 Royal Ridge Avenue,
Las Vegas, NY. Joshua is a patched member ofthe Vagos gang.
(See picture to right.)

For a more detailed synopsis of the interview see Detective D.
Zavos' report.

At approximately 0010 hours, the interview with Natalie
Schieber was complete.

The next person to be interviewed was Renee D. Bermudez, DOB 11-4-1971, of3449
North Jewel in Kingman, AZ with a phone number of909-297-0421.

At approximately 0011 hours, Detective Zavas advised Renee D. Bermudez of the
Miranda warning.. Renee stated she understood her rights and answered. questions.

During the interview Renee indicated she was at the party with Joseph Herrera and Emily
Sanchez Vasquez.
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(" For a more detailed synopsis of the interview see Detective D. Zavas' report.

At approximately 0015 hours, the interview with Renee D. Bermudez was completed.

The next person to be interviewed was the home owner of 2920 North Yuma Drive,
Leslie Diecks, DOB 12-16-1967. Leslle indicated her phone number was 928-308-0761.

At approximately 0016 hours, De~ectiYe Zayas advised Leslie Diecks ofthe Miranda
warning. Leslie stated she understood her rights and answered questions.

During the interview Leslie indicated she was hosting the party
with her husband and current member ofthe Tri-State Vagos
gang, Michael Diecks, DOB 5-21-1964. Mike nses the moniker
of "Mad Mike" and "Mad Dog." (See photo to right.)

For a more detailed synopsis of the interview see Detective D.
Zavos' report.

At approximately 0031 hours, the interview with Leslie Diecks was completed.

The next pelSOn to be interviewed was Tanya Kaufinann, DOB 3-15-1985, of2306 North
Wilbur Circle in Mesa, AZ. Tanya indicated her phone number is 623-760-3889.

At approximately 0034 hours, Detective Zavas advised Tanya Kaufmann of the Miranda
warning. Tanya stated she understood her rights and answered questions.

During the interview Tanya indicated she was at the party with
her hnsband Justin Kaufinann, DOB 3-26-1982 and she also
stated they were there for "Church." Justin is 8 patched
member of the Vages and is currently the Phoenix area
Sergeant at Arms. (See photo to right.)

For a more detailed synopsis ofthe interview see Detective D,
Zayas' report.

At approximately 0041 hours, the interview with Tanya Kaufinann was completed.

The next person to be interviewed was Heather Brunelle, DOB 8-4-1972 of5469
Palisades, Newward Qnad, NY. Heather indicated her phone number is 602-446-0407.

At approximately 0043 hours, Detective Zavos advised Heather Brunelle of the Miranda
warning. Heather stated she understood her rights and answered questions

\0
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Heather indicated she was at the Vagos party with her boyfriend
and current member ofthe Vagos gang, Shawn Pratte, 5-2&-1975.
Shawn is known by the moniker "Fuzzy."

For a more detailed synopsis ofthe interview see Detective D.
Zavas' report.

At approximately 0047 hours the interview with Heather was
completed.

After the interview with Heather Brunelle it was brought to our. (Det. Zayas, Morris and
Skelton's) attention that membe~s of the Vagos were now sitting in the nont yard, outside
of the room where the interviews were being conducted, Because ofthis we changed the
interview room to the room just across from the room we had been conducting interviews
in. Detectives conducting the search warrant indicated the room was clear of any
evidence and available for our use.

The next person to be interviewed was Ruben Lopez, DOB 6-21-1967 of4115 Carmine
Street in Las Vegas, NV. Ruben indicated his phone number is 702-762-2785.

At approximately 0049 hours, Detective Zavas advised Ruben Lopez ofthe Miranda
warning. Ruben stated he understood his rights and answered questions.

Ruben indicated he is a current full patched member ofthe Tri-State
Vagos gang and holds the rank of President. Ruben is known by the
moniker "Kickstand."

For a more detailed synopsis ofthe interview see Detective D.
Zavas 1 report.

At approximately 0111 hours, the interview with Ruben Lopez was completed.

The next person to be interviewed was Auerelio Figueroa, DOB 2-23-1964 ofl716 North
Ridge Circle in Mesa, AZ.

At approximately 0117 hours, Detective Zavos advised Aurereilo
Figueroa ofthe Miranda warning. Auerelio stated he understood his
rights and answered questions. Aurereilo was also advised ofthe
Miranda Rights at 1838 hours, by Detective Zavos.

During the interview Aurereilo indicated he was the Vice President
for-the rri-State chapter ofthe Vagos gang. His moniker for the
gang is "45." (See photo to rigbt)

For a more detailed synopsis of the interview see Detective D. Zavas' report.

\ \
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At approximately 0124 hours, the interview with Aurereilo was completed.

The next person to be interviewed was Danny A. Urquilla, DaB 1-20-1960 of3850 W.
Elgin Street in Chandler, AZ.

At approximately 0125 hours, Detective Zavas advised Danny
Urquilla of the Miranda warning. Danny stated he understood his
rights and answered questions.

Danny indicated he came to the party with his wife and his reason
for coming was to tum in his cuts. By doing this he would no longer
be an active member ofthe Tri-State Vagas gang. Danny stated he was getting out ofthe
club because he won't.die for the club.

For a more detailed synopsis of the interview see Detective D. Zayas' report.

At approximately 0148 hours, the interview with Danny was completed.

The next person to be interviewed was Joshua E. Ealey, DaB 1-28-1983 of90 Old
Mine, Pahrump, NV with a phone number of702-884-7300.

At approximately 0157 hours, Detective Zaves advised Joshua
Ealey of the Miranda warning. Joshua stated he understood his
rights and answered questions.

During the interview Joshua indicated he was at the Vagos
party with his girlfriend Natalie Schieber.

For a more detailed synopsis ofthe interview see Detective D.
Zavos' report.

At approximately 0208 hours, the interview with Joshua was completed.

The next person to be interviewed was Williarn Bly Pizel, DaB 7-31-45 of 11610 Silver
Spur in Dewey, AZ. William indicated he had two phone numbers, 928-772-4663 and
928-379-2200.

At approximately 0209 hours, Detective Zavos advised William Pizel
of the Miranda warning. William stated he understood his rights and
answered questions.

During the interview William indicated he was a member ofthe
Vagos l'Nomads" from California and he doesn't report to the officers
in the Tri-State chapter of the Vagos gang. William is known by the moniker ''Top Hat"

For a more detailed synopsis of the interview see Detective D. zavos' report.
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( At approximately 0221 hours, the ioterview with William Wllll completed.

At approximately 0223 hours, it was brought to our, (Det. Zavos, Morris and Skelton's)
attention that members ofthe Vagos were being placed under arrest for possession of
marijuana and removed from the front of 2920 North Yuma Drive. This removed all
subjects left to be interviewed from our location. Because oftrus we concluded.
conducting interviews on members and associates of the Vagos gang.

At approximately 0224 hours, I checked out of the search warrant location, 2920 North
Yuma Drive.

Detective D. Zavos told Detective Morris and I thaI the search warrant on 2670 North
Yuma Drive, the residence owned by Theodore Toth. would be conducted on August 22.
2010 at 1100 hours and the residence would be secured for the evening by officers in the
command vehicle.

At approximately 0245 hours, I secured the scene for the evening.

August 22, 2010

On August 22, 2010 at approximately 1040 hours. I arrived at the command post across
the street from 2670 North Yuma Drive. The yellow crime scene tape was still draped
across the front access ofthe driveway. Wle waiting I was provided with a list of
names of arrested Hells Angels gang members. The names provided are: Juan Marchelli,
Warren Kuntz, Larry Scott, Robert Kittredge, John Bernard, Kilry Hill, Bruce
Schweigert, Theodore Toth and Sandra Toth. Ofthe names provided the only one I
wasn't familiar with Wllll Juan Marchelti. Sandra Toth wouldn't be a member ofthe Hells
Angels gang because she's female.

At approximately 1100 hours, ali involved with executing the search warrant at 2670
North Yuma Drive were on scene. yeSO photographer J. Neilson entered the property at
a time that is unknown to me to begin entry photographs. 1 stayed off the property until
ready to begin searching the property.

At approximately 1139 hours, 1entered the curtilage al2670 North Yuma Drive and
begin searching the front yard for fired shell cllllings while entry photographs ofthe
interior of the residence are being conducted.

At approximately 1207 hours, Sergeant D. Raiss -fonned a line search using detectives on
scene to search the entire front yard.

At approximately 1228 hours, the line search is completed with no evidence located by
me.
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At approximately 1229 hours, 1begin searching a 1997 Harley
Davidson motorcycle, bearing Arizona registration MCPM78,
registered to Warren Spencer Kuntz, DOB 7·17·1951 of 2740
North Main Street in Flagstaff. Arizona. While conducting the
search of the motorcycle I found gang indicia that consist oftwo
sweat shirts with the death head artwork from San Jose and Orange
County. Also located was cash, Hells Angels Nomads gang ladger
and Hells Angels West Coast Officers Meeting gang notes for July 17,2010.

Warren KWltz is currently the Treasure for the Arizona Hells Angels Nomads gang. This
is further supported by the ledger with gang members dues, fines and "out of club" status
reported within the ledger. (Information contained within the ledger is explainad further
in this report.)

At approximately 1252 hours, I complete the search ofArizona MCPM78 owned by
Warren Spencer Kuntz.

At approximately 1253 hours, the next motorcycle 1searched was a 2006 Harley
Davidson motorcycle bearing Arizona MC92IZ, registered to Stacy L. Marchelli. While
conducting a search ofthe motorcycle I found a Sonny Barger T-shirt, sling shot, red
hooclie and a red hat. Sonny Barger is an icon within the Hells Angels gang and his shirts
are often worn by members of the gang and the general public. Many ofthe Hells Angels
wear clothing with the color red as the Hells Angels gang proudly boast "Red" or "Red
and White" as the color that represents the gang.

These items were taken as evidence.

At approximately 1257 hours, 1completed searching the 2006 Harley Davidson
motorcycle bearing Arizona MC92IZ.

At approximately 1257 hours, I began a 1997,
Harley Davidson motorcycle bearing Arizona
registration MCIlZ9, registered to Byron Ellis
of 1302 West Anderson in Phoenix, Arizona.
While searching the motorcycle I discovered a
holster fastened to the handlebar area and a
rubber mallet attachad 10 the down tube ofthe
frame on the right side of the motorcycle.

It's common for members of motorcycle gangs to
carry hanuners, usually ball peen style, contained
within their cuts to be used as weapons. Some
Hells Angels gang members have started carrying
various hammers attached to the frame ofthe
motorcycle as described and pictured here.

\~



While looking through the notepad the entry
that stuck out to me was "Painter Death Date."
This note is inline with current Hells Angels
gang events for the Nomads charter. "Painter"
is also the moniker for Jeffrey Beckett, DOB
12-13-1968, ofJ005 North Stewart Street in
Kingman. AZ and is a current patched member
of the Vagos gang.

I know Larry Dean Scott Jr., DOB 04-09-1963 of 1528
North Road 1 E, Chino Valley, Arizona to be a Prospect for the HeUs Angels gang. Larry
Scott is known by the moniker "Scotty."
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At approximately 1259 hours I completed searching the
motorcycle bearing Arizona registration MCIIZ9.

At approximately 1301 hour, my attention was drawn to
documents left by the front gate to the entrance ofthe

property. The documents were in a red notepad often
carried by members of the HeUs Angels gang and other
miscellaneous paperwork with the notepad. One
document was an instruction permit issued to Larry
Dean Scott Jr., DOB 4-9-1963. Also located with the
instruction permit was a Superior Court order restoring
civil rights to carry a firearm with Larry Scott listed as
the defendant.

These items were taken as evidence.

This page also has a note to further indicate the
note is from Larry Dean Scott Jr. The entry on
the second line to the bottom states, "-My house
- Aug. 21." A shnilar entry is also found in a
note pad belonging to John Anthony Bernard,
DOB 08-25·1966 ofl3413 North 33'" Street in
Phoenix, Arizona. John Bernard is CWTently a
Prospect for the Hells Angels gang from the
Phoenix charter. In John Bernard's notepad. the
entry indicates, "Fri church 8:00 PM Scotty's."

(

The notepad and various items located around it were taken as evidence.

At approximately 1313 hours. I completed' searching the items found around Larry Dean
Scott's notepad.
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At approximately 1318 hours, I entered the residence located at 2670 North Yurna Drive
through a door on the north side of the residence that enters into a food pantry. ] took a
walk through the house to see what would be required to complete the search. All rooms
were marked with a letter to indicate where evidence or gang indicia was located and
seized as evidence.

At approximately 1345 bours, all room in the residence were marked using the alphabet.

At approximately 1346 hours, Detective Morris and I began searching room "A."

At approximately 1349 hours, the search ofroom "A" was completed.

At approximately 1349 hours, the search ofroom l'B" started, This room, the kitchen,
was searched by Detective zayas, Morris and 1.

At approximately 1351 hours, I located a Hells Angels gang cup in the cabinet, brass
knuckles on the refrigerator and a photograph of Theodore Toth on the refrigerator as
well. All items were photographed and collected as evidence.

At approximately 1404 hours, the search of room "B" was completed.

At approximately 1405 hours, I began searching room '1c," This room is the living room
next to the kitchen.

At approximately 1407 hours, I located cash in Theodore Toth's wallet, a motorcycle
key, an old photo of an airplane with "Hells Angels" on the pboto, a death head displayed
in the media center and a red "Angels" wood design.

At approximately 1413 hours, rooms "e" and uD" are completed. Room "D" was
searched by Detective J. Morris.

At approximately 1414 hours, room "F" is searched by Detective J. Monis. Room UJ" is
searched by me. Both are bathrooms. Room ·'F' is a hall bathroom, room "J" is the
bathroom in the master bedroom.

At approximately 1416 hours, Detective Morris tells me he's completed searching room
"F."

At approximately 1417 hours, I located a picture ofa death heed on the hathroom wall.

At approximately 1420 hours, I located a female Hells Angels gang support shirt hanging
in the bathroom. All items located in room "J" are photographed 8lld collected as
evidence.

At approximately 1421 hours, I completed searching room "J."
•

\l:
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At approximately 1416 hours, Detective J. Morris begins searching room 11K."

At approximately 1423 hours, I began assisting Detective Morris with searching room
11K."

At approximately 1426 hours, the search ofroom "K" was completed.

At a.pproximately 1428 hours, I began searching room "L,"

At approximately 1429 hours, the search of room "L" was completed.

At approximately 1430 hours, I began searching room "N."

At approximately 1432 bours, I completed searching room "N."

At approximately 1432 hours, I began searching room "0."

At approximately I440 hours, 1located to death head pictures.

At approximately 1447 hours, Detective J. Morris indicated'to me he started searching
room "P."

At approximately 1449 hours, DetectiveJ. Morris indicated he completed searching room
"P."

At approximately 1457 hours, Department ofPublic Safety, GIITEM Sergeant R. Miiam
arrived on scene to assist with the search and wasbriefed as to the status ofthe
investigation.

At approximately 1502 hours, I completed searching room "0." All items located in
room "0" were photographed and collected as evidence.

At approximately 1503 hours, I began searching room "M." While searching room "M" I
located miscellaneous Hells Angels gang reiated paperwork and memorabilia.

At approximately 1522 hours, I competed searching room I'M." All items located in
room "M" were photographed and collected as evidence.

At approximately 1523 hours, Detective D. Zavos searched the attic ofthe residence.
Located in the attic was and extensive collection of Hells Angles gang related
paraphernalia to include; T-shirts, photographs, posters, plaques, framed Hells Angels
gang patches and charter photos.

At approximately 1700 hours, the search of the attic was completed. All items located in
the attic were photographed and collected as evidence.
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(, At approximately 170I hours, I hegan
to search room uE." Located in room
"E" were three sets offully patched
cuts and one prospect set of cuts.

A full patch contains the top rocker,
I'Hells Angels,'" bottom rocker.
"Arizona," the "death head" and the
"Me" patch.

Prospect cuts have the bottom rocker,
"Arizona," and the "Me" patch.

The cuts to the right I recognize as Michael
Koepke's. On the left side ofthe cuts (as worn) at
the top are "flashes" indicating Michael Koepke
holds the position ofSergeant at Arms for the
Nomad chapter of the Hells Angels gang. Below
the flashes is a "YAVAPAl CO" side rocker. This
indicates to me the Hells Angels gang is active in
Yavapai County. This is significant since the Hells
Angels Nomad chapter/cluhhouse is/was located at
1611 North West Street in Flagstaff, Arizona in
Coconino County. This side rocker along with other indicators. indicate that the Hells
Angels gang may have been in the process afre-starting the "Skull Valley" chapter.

The Skull Valley chapter ofthe Hells Angels gang was
frozen by the Hells Angels gang after memhers,
including Theodore Toth were convicted on charges
related to the investigation known as "Black Biscuit"
where the Hells Angels gang was investigated by the
Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives.
Theodore roth's last day on probation from charges
related to that investigation was August 20, 20 I0 and
hls probation officer was Brett Wrons, 928-774-3095
Extension 21.

The "flashes" on the right side of the cuts (as worn) are
a "filthy few" and "Hells Angels." The filthy few flash
is earned for committing a crime or violent act against
another person. The Hells Angels gang flash is a
common flash for members to display on their cuts.

The cuts to the right with the fringe on them are
Theodore Toth's. On his cuts are various death head

\~
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patches wbicb members can purchase and display. On the right side of the cuts <as worn)
is a "Filthy 666 Few" flash. The "666" represents the sixth letter of the alphabet, the
letter .op" or "Filthy Few Forever'"

Below that is ablack and white "Dequiallo" flash which indicates the wearer committed
an act of violence towards a person with authority or resisted arrest violently. There are
only three known wearers ofthe UDequiaIlo" patch in Arizona. Theodore Toth is one of
them.

The second set of Theodore Toth's cuts have only the "Filthy 666 Few" and UDequiallo"
flasb.

The fourth set ofcuts belong to Kevin E. Christensen, DOB 07-04-1960 of3301 East
Ames Avenue in Kingman, Arizona. This set of cuts are prospect cuts.

The "flasb" on the left side <as worn) of the cuts
indicate that the member ofthe gang is in "prospect"
status by displaying the prospect patch. Below the
prospect patch is a small flash indicating '"Nomads."
Further below is a '~omads" side rocker which
indicates, along with displaying the ··Arizona" bottom
rocker on the back ofthe cuts that he is prospecting
for tbe Arizona Nomads cbapter of the Hells Angels
Gang.

At approximately 1713 hours, a phone, motorcycle
keys and a poster were located in room "E. lO

At approximately 1719 bours, I completed searching room "E." All items were
pbotograpbed and collected as evidence.

At approximately 1720 hours, Detective Zavos, Morris and I began searching room 'IH,"
the master bedroom.

At approximately 1724 hours, I located various Hells Angels gang pins, papers, T-shirts,
photographs, phone, and Theodore Toth's old "president" and "Skull Valley" flash.

At approximately 1743 hours, I completed my searching ofroom "H" while Detective
Morris completed the closet. All items were photographed and collected as evidence.

At approximately 1144 hours, I began searching room "G." As I entered the room I
observed several bullets on the floor. These items were to be collected as evidence.

At approximately 1800 hours, I suspended the search ofroom "G" for a dinner break.

At approximately 1812 hours, I continued searching room "G."
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Located in the room was a tower style computer on the floor below the desk and a laptop
style computer in a drawer. Also located were several Hells Angels related books.

At approximately 1841 hours, I completed the search of room "G." All items were
photographed and collected as evidence.

At appro~irnately 1842 hours, I began searching room UR," the garage.

. At approximately 1844 hours, I observed a motorcycle gas tank with a death head logo on
it.

At approximately 1849 hours, Detective J. Morris indicated he began searching the
vehicle liS."

At approximately 1852 hours, I completed my search of room "R." the garage.

At approximately 1852 hours, I began searching room "T." Room "T" didn't have an
alphabet card assigned to it and was a shed just outside the garage.

At approximately 1853 hours, Detective J. Morris indicated he completed searching
vehicle "S" and was out ofroom l'R," the garage.

At approximately 1853 hours, I completed searching room "T."

While standing outside the garage and discussing the location where bullet holes were
that entered room "Q:' the room above the garage we (Detective Zavas, Morris and
Skelton) decided to re-check room "Q" for an unaccounted for projectile.

At approximately 1857 hours, I began searching the ground for a projectile.

At approximately 1859 hours, I located a projectile on the ground near the west wall.

The projectile was photographed and collected as evidence.

At approximately 1923 hours, Detective Sergeant R. Milam, Detective 1. Morris, Zavos
and I exited the property and this concluded my involvement with pbysically searching
2670 North Yuma Drive in Chino Valley, Arizona.

At approximately 2032 hours, I arrived at the Yavapai County Sheriffs Office, Eastern
Detention Bureau located at 2830 N Commonwealth Drive, Suite 105 in Camp
Verde, Arizona. The purpose was to interview shooting victim and Hells Angels gang
member Kevin E. Christensen.

At approximately 2043 hours, Detective Sergeant R. Milam, Detective J. Morris. Zavas
and I were escorted to a secure room to interview Kevin Christensen.
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At approximately 2050 hours, Kevin Christensen was brought into the room. Detective
Zavas advised Kevin Christensen ofthe Miranda Right's.

At approximately 205 I hours, Kevin Christeoseo slated he understood his right's and
requested an attorney. No questions wefe asked.

At approximateLy 2052 hours, Kevin Christensen was removed from the room by
detention officers.

This completed the investigation for August 22, 2010.

September 2,2010

On September 2, 2010 at approximately 0850 hours, I arrived atthe Yavapai County
Sheriff's Office Evidence yard to meet with Detective Zavas and begin photocopying
documents seized as evidence. When I arrived. Detective Zayas told me he was almost
done with completing the inventory searches of Michael Diecks and Robert Kittredge's
vehicles so he could box up their property to return it. I asked Detective Zavas if the
search warrants included searching the vehicles while in property for evidence collection
and he indicated the warrants did.

I was escorted to a vehicle bay where a 2004, Nissan bearing Arizona registration
170MZP, registered to Leslie S. Dieeks of 2920 North Yuma Road in Chino Valley,
Arizona, was being inventoried.

At approximately 0856 hours, 1observed a green bandana and Vagos cuts pulled from the
trunk ofthe vehicle. I also noted tbat on the key ring was a green clip. I suggested the
green clip be documeoted as green is the color the Vagos identify their gang with.

At approximately 0916 hours, the inventory search of the 2004, Nissan bearing Arizona
registration 170MZP Was completed.

At approximately 0928 hours, Detective Zavos drove a 1998, Dodge SUV, bearing
Arizona registration ACV071 1 registered to Robert E. Kittredge of 3950 North Dana
Court in Prescott Valley. Arizona into the vehicle bay to inventory items for return.

At approximately 0932 hours, blue bank bags were located within a brown briefcase that
was unlocked. Inside the blue bank bags was United States currency. This was counted
and kept for safekeeping by Detective Zavos.

At approximately 0944 hours, the inventory search of the vehicle Was stopped to
interview and meet with Auerelio Figueroa. DOB 2-23-1964 and Justin Kaufmann, DOB
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3-26-J982. These interviews and release ofpersonal property was recorded by Detective
D.Zavos.

At approximately III J hours, the inventory search ofthe 1998, Dodge SUV, bearing
Arizona registration ACV0711 continued.

At approximately 1114 hours, a baggie ofpersonal use marijuana was located between
the driver's seat and the center console.

At approximately 1155 hours, the inventory ofthe 1998, Dodge SUV, bearing Arizona
registration ACV0711 was completed.

Detective Zavas and I then photocopied various paper related documents seized as
evidence. I've included these photocopies with this supplemental report.

This concluded case related investigation for September 2, 2010.

September 9, 2010

On September 9, 2010 at approximately 0902 hours, Detective Sergeant R. Milam
provided me with copies of interviews from Jeremy Murphy, Jesus Lopez, Michael
Koepke, Robert Kittredge, Kiley Hill, Theodore Toth, Sandra Totb, Justin Kaulinann,
Michael Diecks, Brian Apfel and Kevin Christensen. The videos will be viewed later for
gang related content.

On August 22, 2010, as stated earlier in this report, I was provided with a list ofnames of
arrested Hells Angels gang members. The names provided were: Juan Marchelli. Warren
Kuntz, Larry Scott, Robert Kittredge, John Bernard, Kilry Hill, Bruce Schweigert,
Theodore Toth and Sandra Toth. Ofthe names provided the only one I wasn't fumiliar
with was Juan Marchelli. Sandra Tofu wouldn't be a member of the Hells Angels gang
because she's female. The following is a known history of each gang member and an
explanation of gang ledgers and notes as they relate to the gang in no particular order.

Michael Trevor Koepke, DOB 9-28-81, who resides at 3270 North Bumblebee Drive,
Apartment A, in Prescott Valley, Arizona.

l

Michael Koepke is known in the Hells Angels gang as
"Muff." Mike was first observed in Arizona by Detectives
assigned to G1ITEM on March 10, 2007 at a Spartan Riders
Me poker run being held at the Spartan Glendale club house.
(See picture to right taken by Det. Skelton.)
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( At the lime ofthe Spartan Riders MC poker run Mike was a full patched member of the
Hells Angels Gang. He was later identified as a member of the Cave Creek Chapter of
the Hells Angels Gang.

On February 21, 2010 Mike was observed at the Florence Prison
Run with his wife Sarah Koepke. During this gang organized event
Mike was wearing Hells Angels cuts with a "Cave Creek" side
rocker. (See photo to right taken by Ken Lucas.)

On July 10,2010 Mike was observed at the Pinon Pines Bar located
at 2701 East Old US Highway 89A in Prescon, Arizona during the
July meeting for the Arizona Confederation of Motorcycle Clubs
meeting. While at this gang meeting Mike was observed displaying
the "Yavapai" side rocker. Although not clear in the picture, the
flash on the left side of Mike's cuts, as worn, is a Sgt. at Anns tab

which indicates be's in an officer's position. (See photo to right
taken by Sgt. Milam.)

The Hells Angels Nomads gang ledger, collected as evidence on
August 22, 2010, indicates Mike began paying dues to the Nomads
chapter on or about March 6, 2007. The date, 2007, for this entry
appears to be a mistake. Dates surrounding the entry indicate the
dues are actually for 2010. Further notes in the gang ledger indicate
Mike was in an officer's position or a position of high trust. These
notes are, "Mike to go to WCOM" and "Made envelope for Mike
road trip + dues WCOM." These two notes indicate Mike Koepke
was the Arizona Hells Angels Nomads gang representative for the
Hells Angels West Coast Officers Meeting held most likely in San
Bernadino or Oakland, California.

SECURED STORAGE SX1D 1(
-.,,,. Rllgglc
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On September 24, 2010 a check ofMike's Myspace! page titled
"Koepke Karte!" found a flyer for the Hells Angels Fall Colors
Run and various other pictures from the webpage. Mike's wife,
Sarah Koepke, was displaying a profile picture which shows
Mike and her posing with a weapon.

The West Coast Officers Meeting held by the Hells Angels gang is where representatives
from each chapter meet to discuss gang issues. These meetirigs include notifying other
chapters of the gang about new members, members that have left the gang and members
that have been removed from the gang in bad standing. Also discussed are defense
fundraising parties and merchandise sales to assist gang members with defense attorney
fees which are sometimes paid for by the Hells Angels- gang. Included in evidence
collected on August 22, 2010 was a copy of the July 17, 2010 West Coast Officers
Meeting notes. Included with the West Coast Officer gang
notes is a phone list of current gang members by chapter. Mike
Koepke is. still Hsted under the "Cave Creek (602)" chapter.
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Warreu Spencer Kuntz, DOB 7-17-1951 of 2740 North Main Street in Flagstaff,
Arizona.

Warren Kuntz is known in the Hells Angels gang ~s "Turtle."
Wmen told me he received his full patch in 1999 as a member of
the Cave Creek Chapter. Warren currently holds the position of
Treasure for the Arizona Hells Angels Nomads chapter of the
gang. Warren's gang membership is further supported by his
name and phone nmnber being listed on the gang member phone
list under "Nomads AZ (928)" as, "Turtle cell 607-1218."

As Treasurer, Warren maintains the gang ledger which indicates
who has paid gang dues, been fined and gang membership status.
Warren is also responsible for making sure all gang property
mortgages and bills are current.

(The photo to the right of Warren was taken during the 2010,
Laughlin River Run by Detective Skelton.)

On September 28,2010 at approximately 1530 hours, Detective Zavos aud I spoke with
Warren Kuntz when be arrived at the Yavapai County Sheriffs Office Property Room to
retrieve his motorcycle. During this conversation Kuntz indicated the Nomads were
broke aud could no longer afford the rent for the Nomad clubhouse located atl611 North
West Street in Flagstaff, Arizona. Kuntz indicated the Nomads rent the house from
"Richard." When I asked Kuntz if the Nomads were looking to move their chapter to
Skull Valley he smiled aud told me the Nomads cau go auywhere, that's why they're
Nomads. I then asked him ifthey were moving into Yavapai County. I asked this
question because on September 25, 2010 at the Fall Colors Run Bruce Schweigert was
observed holding a small stack of Yavapai side rockers. Kuntz smiled aud stated he
couldn't talk ahout club husiness.

A check of public records found the property located at 161 I North West Street in
Flagstaff, Arizona is owned by Richard L. Eby who list's au address of 1753 South Main
in Snowflake, Arizona

Robert.Edward Kittredge, DOB 10-20-1973, of 3950 North
Dana Ct. Apt. 2 in Prescott Valley, Arizona

Robert Kittredge is new to the gang and doesn't appear to yet
be listed on the gaug ledger.

On September 25, 2010 after the Hells Angels annual Fall Color
Run, Robert Kittredge was arrested for assault and trespassing.
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When he was arrested he was wearing a black shirt with "Skull Valley" on tbe front.
Kittredge was not a member of the original Hells Angels Skull Valley chapter. This is
another indicator the Hells Angels gang may be re-starting the Skull Valley chapter or
moving the Nomad chapter to the Chino Valley area.

Theodore Jobn Toth, »OB 7-8-1947, of 2670 North Yuma Drive, Chino Valley,
Arizona.

Theodore Toth is kuown in the Hells Angels gang as "Teddy." Recently Theodore has
not been seen in public with members of the Hells Angels gang because he was convicted
on charges related to the investigation known as "Black Biscuit" where the Hells Angels
gang was investigated by the Bureau ofAlcohol, Tobacco, Fireanns and Explosives.
Theodore Tofu's last day on probation from charges related to that investigation was
August 20, 2010, the day before this shooting. During the time Theodore was on
probation he was not to have contact with gang members.

Juan Vincent Marchelli, DOB 2-2-1972, of 4833 West Las
Palmaritas Drive in Glendal~ Arizona.

Juan Marchelli is a newer member ofthe Hells Angels gang
and is currently listed as a hang-around.

The July 17,2010 Hells Angels West Coast Officer gang
meeting notes indicate Juan began his hang~around status on
July 2, 2010 with the Phoenix chapter ofthe Hells Angels
gang.

Juan Marchelli's notebook contained chores the Hens Angels gang expects a hang~

around to do.

Larry Dean Scott Jr., DOB 04-09-1963, ofl528 N. Road 1 E in Chino VaDcy,
Arizona.

Larry Scott is known in the Hells Angels gang as "Scotty."
The gang ledger indicates Larry became a hang-around
memher of the gang on 11-14-2009.

On 2-20-2010 the gang ledger indicates Larry became a
prospect member ofthe gang.

On July 10, 2010 Larry was observed at the Pinon Pines Bar
located at 2701 East Old US Highway 89A in Prescott,
Arizona during the July meeting for the Arizona Confederation

10D
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( of Motorcycle Clubs meeting. (See photo to right taken by Sgt. Milam.)

During the Arizona Confederation of Clubs meeting Larry was doing a typical prospect
related gang assignment of looking for law enforcement surveillance. During the event
Larry came to my vehicle and introduced himself as a prospect for the gang.

Other entries in Larry Scott's notepad not yet listed are:
"Friday/church 8:00 pm or Teddy House."

This is an indicator that the old "Skull Valley" club house owned by Theodore Toth may
be used again as a Hells Angels clubhouse.

Bruce Andrew Scbweigert, DOB 12-12-1963 of 2361 S. Rio Verde Drive in
Cottonwood, Arizona.

The gang ledger indicates that on 2-13-10 Bruce became a hang-around member for the
Hells Angels gang.

,
\.

On February 21, 2010 Bruce was observed in attendance at the
Florence Prison Run.

On April 18, 2010 Bruce was observed doing a typical prospect
related gang assignment of looking for law enforcement
surveillance while at Sonny Barger's birthday party held at the
Steel Horse bar located at 1818 West Bell Road in Phoenix,
Arizona. (See picture to right taken by Det. Skelton.) During this
event Bruce made contact with me while I was parked in the
parking lot observing the gang related party.

Kiley Steven Hill, DOB 04-29-1971 of 7237 North Apache Avenue in Williams,
Arizona.

Kiley Hill is known in the Hells Angels gang as "Kile."

The gang ledger indicates that on 07-09-2009 Kiley became a
hang-around member for the Hells Angels gang.

The gang ledger indicates that on 8-7-2010 Kiley Hill became
a Prospect for the Hells Angels gang.

Gang ledger notes indicate Kiley Hill and Bruce Schweigert were assigned 10 "run shirts"
while "Duck" (Robert Steffens) runs the LLC. This note indicates to me responsibilities

'10\ ..H
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within the gang to further fundraising by ensuring T-shirts are available for sale at gang
related events.

John Anthony Bernard, DOB 8-25-1966 of 13413 North 33"' Street in Phoenix,
Arizona.

John Bernard is a Prospect with the Hells Angels Phoenix
chapter ofthe gang.

One of the items located during the search warrant at 2670
North Yuma Drive was John's prospect notebook. This
notebook had various entries but the following entries
stood out:

"Nomads chino Mike Rudy Turtle Duck Teddy offpaper."

TIlls entry is significant. John's notes are referencing full
patched gang members of the Hells Angels Nomads, Mike Koepke, Rudolfo "Rudy"
Martinez, Warren ..Twtle" Kuntz l Robert "Duck" Steffens and Theodore "Teddy" Toth.

On August 7, 2010 Richard Laakmano, aka Showlow Rick, quit the gang. Rick was the
Nomads President at the time he left. Richard Laakamaan was involved in locating the
Nomads clubhouse and renting it from Richard Eby. During the conversation with
Warren Kuntz on September 28,2010, Kuntz confinns Rick is out ofthe club and the
Nomads clubhouse at 1611 North West Street in Flagstaff, Arizona is no longer active
because of Richard Laakmaan's departure from the gang and a lack of funds to pay rent
to "Richard." This indicates the possibility that the Nomads will be moving their chapter
to Chino Valley.

"Fri church 8:00 pm Scotty's."

This entry indicates the Hells Angels gang is holding their meeting at Larry Scott's
house.

"Bruce Kevin Kyle Scotty,"

This entry list's the unon-patched" members of the Hells
Angels Nomads gang.

"Vagos stabbed Mike arrested."

This entry indicates the members of the Hells Angels gang
are aware of the violence which is ongoing between the
Vagos and Hells Angels gangs. This entry is specific to a
Vagos gang member that was stabbed on May 30, 2010 in

l Gildale, California by a member ofthe Hells Angels gang.
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Michael Henry Pena, also known as Delano Mike is a full patched member of the Hells
Angels Orange County gang.

On September 24,2010 a check
nf John Bernard's Myspace!
PRSPCT PHX 81 page found
him posing with hang-around
cuts on and a 1'666" hat. John
posted, IClfyou are not with us,
you are against us!! Get it right
or it's night night!!!!"

A check of John's Facebookpage found him posing with Travis
Fulleoon, DOB 2-23-1969 who is a Hells Angels Prospect from
the Mesa Chapter and Colon O'Connor, DOB 11-14-1972 who is a
prospect for the Hells Angels Phoenix chapter. The picture to the
righl is cropped to show John wearing "Prospect Phoenix" cuts.

,,

Kevin E. Chri.ten.en, DOB 07-04-1960 of 3301 East Ames
Avenue in Kingman, Arizona.

The gang ledger indicates Kevin·became a hang-around with the
Hells Angle. gang on 01-24-2009.

The gang ledger then indicates Kevin became a prospect with the
Hells Angels gang on 06-12-2010.

On September 23, 2010 Detective D. Zavos provided me with jail recordings ofcalls
made by Juan Marchelli, Warren Kuntz, Larry Scott, Robert Kittredge, John Bernard
Bruce Schweigert and Sandra Toth.

During call recording number
187548728081411 John Bernard calls
"Jennifer" his significant other.

Approximately four minutes into the call
the following exchange of conversation
occurs:

Jennifer: I talked to Juan yesterday he
.aid he talked to a lawyer, a

187548728081411.;vav
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lawyer came to see him yesterday and that he was getting out today. They've
already got Teddy and hi' wife out and ,orne guy named Mike.

John: Yeah. Mike. This is his fucking fault

The conversation then turns to other members ofthe gang .that may be released.

During call recording number
187985802591235, Kiley Hill calls John
Bernard. '
Approximately forty-eight seconds into
the recording the following exchange of
conversation occurs:

John: Hey. Hello?

Kiley: John.

John: Kile, what's happening man?

Kiley: Get you're patch?

John: Ab, no.

Kiley: Huh?

187985802591235.wav
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John:- No, it's ahh. were gonna wait cause ah we don't want it to look like anything,
anything, a reward for anything.

Kiley: That', fucked up man.

John: Yeah, well no I mean, that's, we talked about it and I mean it's pretty much I been
told it's a forgone conclusion it's just. Yeah.

The conversation then turns to the party to raise money to bail Kiley out ofjail.



Detective/Officer. L. Skelton Aaencv: DPS
Suoervisor.. R. Milam DR#: 2011-051796 Date: 12-11-11

, Susoects: N/A
Crime: Surveillance Reeart Gang Relatect;18l

Narrative:
On December 11, 2011 at 0800 hours, GIITEM detectives from the metro investigations squad
conducted surveillllllce on the Nomads Hells Angels 201 I Toy Run held at Rock Springs Cafe, 35769
South Old Black Canyon Highway in Rock Springs, Am:ona.

Owing the toy nul. the following motorcycle clubs were observed attending the event;

Hells Angels (Mesa, Cave Creek and Nomads), Devils Own, Bikers for Christ, Desert Thunder,
Tinners. LostDutclmmn (peoria), Brotherhood Union, Sober Riders. Spartan Riders (Phoenix). Sons
ofAesir, Legacy Vets, Hooligans. Soldiers for Jesus. Survivors- Clean and Sober, Loners, Sons of
Hell, Desert Eagles, Medieval Maidens, •EXIled Few, Desert Road Riders, ALMA., U.S. Military
.vets and Cerberus.

Other groups that attended the toy run were;

Brotherh~odRe, All Brothers Together, Night Riders, Los Santos

Hells Angels members obsel'Ved at the toy run;

From the Nomads Chapter; Secretary Andres Ospina, and members Michael Koepke~ Bruce
Schweigert. Robert Steffens, Kevin Christensen, Larry Scott and WalTen Kuntz. Prospect; Kiley Hill
and an tmknown associate.

From the Mesa Chapter; Prospects; William Sanders, Arturo CamachQ. and Joseph Chavez.

From the Cave Creek Chapter; President Robert Eberhardt, VP Robert Reinstra, Secretary Patrick
Cavanaugh. Members; Ralph "SOMy" Barger, John Veir, Chris Baucum, John Ward. Prospects John
Mason, Mason Casten and Donald Battenfield. New prospects Patrick Eberhardt and Robert Miller
and hang-around Normand Dupont.

Devils Own members; Tim McNees, Anthony Scribner.

At approximately 1600 hours, surveillance was concluded.
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Detective/Officer;
Su ervisor: J. Milam

Sus ects:
Crime:

Narrative:

A enc : Arizona De
DR#: 2010-039100

artment of Public Safe
Date: A ril 4, 2012

Gang Related:

This is a supplemental report to Arizona Department of Public Safety report number 2010-039100.

On March 10, 2012 the Hooligans motorcycle club held their second annual Shamrocks and
Shenanigans bike run. The run started at the Hooligans clubhouse located at 2663 West Lone Cactus
in Phoenix, AZ and went to the Lost Dutchman Peoria chapter,
motorcycle clubhouse at Cotton Crossing and 79th Avenue in Peoria, ",.
AZ.

At approximately 1751 hours, a silver Honda Accord, bearing
Arizona registration ofASH2558 arrived in the area of 7800 W
Market Street in Peoria, AZ which is in the area of the Lost
Dutchman Peoria clubhouse. Arizona ASH2558 is registered to
Sarah J Logan Koepke, the wife of Michael Koepke. The driver of
the vehicle was a white female, Sarah Koepke and the passenger was
Michael Trevor Koepke, DOB 9-28-1981.

As the Honda stopped at the event, Michael Koepke exited the
vehicle and was greeted hy Bruce Schweigert, DOB 12-12-1963 and
they greeted each other with a hug.
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Also in attendance working the Hells Angels Nomads booth was Kiley Hill, DOB 4-29-1971.

Det. L. Skelton #4953
Arizona DPS, GIITEM

Re oTt submitted h Detective/O Icer: L Skelton
o tl'i! Arizona Slate Gall Task Force GIITEM - Gan & Immi ration lnte/Ii ence Team Ell OTcemenJ Mission
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Detective/Officer:
Su ervisor: L. Griffith

Sus eets;

en ; Arizona De
DR#: 2010-039100

M. Koe ke

artment of Public Safe
Date: Ma 21,2012

Crime:
Narrative;

A . Assault Gang Related:l8I

This is a supplemental report to Arizona Department of Public Safety report number 2010-039100.

On May 18, 2012 at approximately 1300 hours, t, Arizona Department of Poblic safety Detective L.
Skelton #4953, checked the Arizona Hells Angels Nomads website and found the Nomads website to
be promoting a "Shootout Party" to he held on August 18, 2012.

The Shootout Party is to commemorate the shooting that took place on August 21,2010 between
members ofthe Arizona Hells Angels Nomads chapter and the Vagos"motorcycle gangs.
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On Monday, May 21, 2012 at approximately 0900 hours, I checked the Arizona Hells Angels Nomads
website and found it to be updated_ The website was showing a new photo promoting the "Shootout"
party and listed the date for the party as Aug. 81h

SUpponyour Ioeal businesses and organlzatfonslI

Del. L. Skelton #4953
Arizona DPS, GIITEM

..................... ....,..,."--"''''-

~:::---::."=.::=~~

~~_._._. -_. -'--

S10 Ea. I S15 P~r Coople
Eland - Food - Support 81 Gear

Aug. 8th. Shoot Out
TBD (sign up lor ourmalllrlg list)

R ort submitted b
o lite Aritoll" State Gan Task Force

Detective/O Icer: L. Ske!trJn
GIITEM - Gan & lmmi rationlnlelli ence Team En OTceme"t MissioJl
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Detective/Officer: A enc : Arizona De artment of Public Safe
Su ervlsor: L Griffith DR#: 2010-039100 Date: Ma 21,2012

Sus ects: M. Koe ke
Crime: A . Assautt Gang Related:

Narrative:
This is a supplemental report to Arizona Department ofPublic Safety report number 2010-039100,

On May 18,2012 at approximately 1300 hours, I, Arizona Department of Public safety Detective L.
Skelton #4953, checked the Arizona Hells Angels Nomads website and found the Nomads website to
be promoting a "Shootout Party" to be held on August 18, 2012,

The Shootout Party is to commemorate the shooting that took place on August 21, 2010 between
members ofthe Arizona Hells Angels Nomads chapter and the Vagos motorcycle gangs.

- I -
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On Monday, May 21, 2012 at approximately 0900 hours, I checked the Arizona Hells Angels Nomads
website and found it to be updated. The website was showing a new photo promoting the "Shootouf'
party and listed the date for the party as Aug. gfu.

Sappan your local bU5/nesses slJd ofgBnfUlrions-lI
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510 Ea./ $15 Per CO'4J1e
Band - Food - Suppor1 81 Gear

Aug. 8th - Shoot out
TaD (sjgOl UP for auf mailing IfSl)

Det. L. Skelton #4953
Arizona DPS, GIITEM

Re. ort submitted b De/ectlve/O. leer: L SkeJloll
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(r-' This is a supplemental report to Arizona Department of Public Safety report number
, 2010-039100.

On November 4,2010, at approximately 1432 bours, 1, Arizona Department ofPnblic
Safety Detective L. Skelton #4953, checked the status of John Anthony Bernard's
Facebook social media webpage to find the below information listed. From the
information posted it appears John Bernard has become a full patched member of the
Hells Angels gang.

John Bernard

WaD Info Photos

IWrite something._.• _

Attach, ~ 'R' <fi]

•
•
iii:.-
fa
' ., .
,, <-~

Filters

Tommy Elliott CONGRADS JOHN! YOU EARNED YOUR PATCHI ~IUCH

RESPEcr TO YOU ALWAYS! LLH&R!
5 hours ago' Comme,nt . Like, . See Friendship

Tommy Elliott drinks on me this weekend if va can get away to 43rd. stay
focused and positive••

Tuesd.:'I'1 at 6:~pm . Comment· Uke . See Friendship

Amber Cardinal miss you lots... doing good went to calif to see my mom•••••

October 29 at 1:22pm' COmment· Like' See FriEndship

Jennifer Coleman Bernillrd Your freedom is more importEllit

October 22 e.t 1: 15pm Comment Like' See Friendship

~ Sheri Giarrusso KeUwood Brock likes this.

-,_._-_.._._,---_._~------_._- ._- .-------- ----- ---

!V'irite a l:ommen1.,.
,------,-,..._._-----_._- ,--.',,' .-_..__._..._""-.... -. --_.-'-'--_.,,------ _.--- -----------

~.~- Jennifer Coleman Bernard I deleted the photos•••Sorry John••
_ Odober 22 at 1:15pm' Comment· Like· See Friendship

Detective 1. Skelton #4953
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This is a supplemental report to Arizona Department ofPublic Safety report munher
2010-039100.

On November 4, 2010, at approximately 1432 hours, I, Arizona Department ofPublic
Safety Detective L. Skelton #4953, checked the status ofJohn Anthony Bernard's
Facebook social media webpage to find the below infonnation listed. From the
infonnation posted it appears John Bernard has become a full patched member of the
Hells Angels gang.

John Bemard

Wall Info Photos

IWrite something...

AUach, ItiJ ""' 'I']

Filters

Tommy ElDott CONGRADS JOHN! YOU EARNED YOUR PATCH! MUCH
RESPECT TO YOU ALWAYS! LLH&R!

5 hours ago' Comment· like' See Friendship

Tommy Elflott drinks on me this weekend if ya can get aWay to 43rd. stClY
focused and positive••

Tuesdav at 6:-40pm - Comment' Like' See Friendship

Amber Cardinal miss you lots... doing good went to calif to see my mom•....
October 29 at 1: 2.2pm . Comment· Like' See Friendship

Jennifer Colem;;1n Bernard Your freedom is more Important
October 22 at 1: lSpm -Comml:l1t -Like: " See FliendshlP

~ Sheri Giarrusso KeIl'lI'ood Brock likes this,
--- "- --- --------- -,--------

!i'Vrite a comment.,.

ra_ Jennifer Coleman Bernard I deleted the phoros•..Sorry John..

_ O:tober 22 EI t 1: lSpm . Conlment ' like . 5e~ ,I:riendship

Detective L. Skelton #4953
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This is a supplemental report to Yavapai. County Sheriffs Office report number 2010­
030743 authored by Detective D. Zavos.

au August 21, 2010 at approximately 1228 hours, I, Arizona Department of Public
Safety, Gang and Immigration Intelligence Team Enforcement Mission, Detective L.
Skelton #4953 was called at home by Arizona Department ofPublic Safety Sergeant J.
Milam in reference to a shooting involving the Hells Angels and Vagos motorcycle gangs
in Chino Valley, Arizona. Sergeant Milam requested I respond to the area and assist
detectives with the Yavapai County Sheriffs Office with any info they may need in
relation to members of both gangs.

At approximately 1512 hours, I arrived at the south end of the scene onNorth Yuma
Drive. As I approached I noticed a large police presence with many members of various
S.W.A.T. team's position as scene security carrying assault style weapons and wearing
helmets and heavy body annor. I made contact with Yavapai County Sheriffs Office
Sergeant D. Raiss, Commander S. Mascher and they began removing officers from
within the crime scene.

As I walked from the South end ofthe scene to the North, I observed two motorcycles
lying on their right sides facing Northbound. The motorcycles were to the East of what I
know to be the old Skull Valley chapter clubhouse of the Hells Angels gang and currently
occupied by Theodore Toth, the ex~president for the Skull Valley chapter of the Hells
Angels gang.

As I continued walking Northbound on Yurna Drive I noticed several motorcycles parked
in the "driveway" area of2670 North Yuma Drive. The driveway entrance to the
residence was sealed off with yellow crime scene tape. I also saw !'

several people I recognized to be members, prospects or hang-a­
rounds for the Hells Angels gang. The first Hells Angels gang
member I recognized by sight was Michael Trevor Koepke, DOB
9-28-81, who resides at 3270 North Bumblebee Drive, Apartment
A, in Prescott Valley, Arizona. "Mike" had his haircut in the style
of a mohawk and was wearing a green t-shirt with a Hells Angels
death bead on the back. When 1 approacbed Mike he smiled at me
and looked away. I did not make contact with Mike. (Photo to
right.)

The next Hells Angels gang member I recognized was Theodore John Toth, DOB 7~8­

1947, of2670 North Yuma Drive, Chino Valley, Arizona. (Photo
to right.) Theodore is know as "Teddy" and was sitting on a
scooter wearing oxygen tubes. I approached Teddy and said hi to
him and he responded with the same. 1 asked Teddy how his
health was and he said it wasn't too good. While speaking with
Teddy 1noticed he had a Hells Angels death head gang tattoo on
his left forearm. Teddy asked when he would be able to return to
his house and 1 told him it would be awhile. 1 then continued

7?--\
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walking northbound on North Yuma Drive.

\
As I continued to walk north, a uniformed officer was walking
Southbound with a Hells Angels hang-around gang member I
recognized as Bruce Andrew Schweigert, DOB 12-12-1963 of
2361 South Rio Verde Drive in Cottonwood, Arizona. (Photo to
right.) I've seen and spoken with Bruce at several Hells Angels
"parties" and events. He would usually be posted as security for
the gang looking for surveillance units. That is a typical "job"
for a hang-a-round or prospect for the gang.

I then walked to 2920 North Yuma Drive and saw there
were approximately fifty people in the front yard of the
residence and many of them were wearing Vagos gang
related clothing such as "cuts" or green articles of
ciothing.

Further North on Yuma Drive I saw a Silver Chevy truck with a motorcycle parked to the
rear of it. In the area immediately around the truck were several spent shell casings lying
on the roadway. I continued to walk North to a Black Land Rover that was parked next
to a patrol car with its emergency light's activated. Next to the patrol car were two
motorcycles with Vagos gang related stickers attached to
them.

While at 2920 North Yuma Drive I saw several members
of the Vagos gang I recognized. The area was being
secured by officers and detectives from various police
agencies.

I then walked back to the South end of the scene to meet
with command staff for investigative assignments.

"Cuts" are what the biker community refers to as their
leather or denim vests they wear to show their affiliation
with a certain gang or group. (See photos to right.)

At approximately 1539 hours, I noted rain began falling in the area of the crime scene.

At approximately 1644 hours, I noted the rain stopped falling in the area of the crime
scene.

At approximateiy 1640 hours, a briefing for all involved Was held at the command post to
brief all involved with the investigation of the current information and assign details for
the investigation.

I
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At approximately 1725 hours, the briefmg was completed and I was assigned to assist the
lead investigator, Detective D. Zavos, from the Yavapai County Sheriffs Office with the
investigation and provided support for the gang involvement Also assigned to assist
Detective Zavas with the investigation was GIITEM Detective J. Morris.

At approximately 1733 hours, [ checked into the
South end of the crime scene and watched as
photographs were taken of the scene by J. Nelson of
the Yavapai County Sheriffs Office. After
photographs were taken Detective Zavas, Detective
Morris and I began checking North Yuma Drive for
evidence.

At approximately 1743 hours, I discovered a bullet
hole in the rear tire ofArizona D666MC and pointed it out to Detective D. Zavas.

At approximately 1800 hours l Detective Zavas received pennission from the property
owners at 2661 North Yuma Drive to search their property for evidence from the
shooting. Detective Zavos obtained the property owners infonnation. No evidence was
located.

At approximately 1820 hours, Detective Zavos, Detective Morris and I exited the North
end of the scene and checked out of the scene.

At approximately 1829 hours, Detective Zavas, Detective Morris
and I arrived at 2920 North Yuma Drive and checked in with the
officer maintaining the crime scene log. I made contact with
Auerelio Figueroa, DOB 2-23-1964 who is known as "45," (See
photo to right) As of the time of this investigation, Auerelia
Figueroa is the Vice President of the Tn-State Vagos gang and
has been a point of contact for law enforcement. I asked
Auerelio Figueroa if he would talk to me about what occurred.
Auerelio Figueroa agreed and we walked away from the front of the residence for
privacy.

At approximately 1838 hours, Auerelio Figueroa was advised of the Miranda rights.
Auerelio Figueroa agreed to speak with me about the shooting. The conversation was
audio recorded by Detective Zavos. Refer to Detective Zavos' report for a summary of
the interview and transcription.

At approximately 1905 hours, Detective Zavos, Detective Morris and I left 2920 North
Yuma Drive and returned to the command post established at the South end of the crime
scene. I remained there while evidence was being collected by Yavapai County Sheriffs
Office Josh Nelson and secured as evidence.

L
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At approximately 2226 hours, Detective Zayas, Detective Morris and I returned to 2920
North Yuma Drive and entered the residence while a search warrant was being executed
by GIITEM Sergeant F. Stewart. 1walked through the residence looking at various
Vagos gang related items which include "cuts." Our purpose at the search warrant was to
interview victims, suspects and witnesses to the shooting which occurred earlier and
ensure that gang related evidence was collected. Once a front bedroom was searched and
the evidence collected we began interviewing victims, suspects and witnesses. The first
room cleared which we u.sed to conduct interviews was the room on the Northwest part of
the residence. Detectives conducting the search warrant indicated the room was clear of
any evidence and available for our use.

Prior to begirming the interviews I spoke with Manny Pesqueira,
DaB 8-21-70, of286 West Palamino in Chandler, Az. Manny's
moniker for the gang is "Arizona Manny." Manny told me he was at
2920 North Yuma Drive for his birthday party when everything
happened.

The first person to be interviewed was Cindi Jean Reed, DOB 12-18-1961 of4124 Helen
Avenue in Las Vegas, Nevada and a phone number of702-340-2728.

At approximately 2302 hours. Detective Zavos advised Cindi Reed of the Miranda
w3rning. Cindi stated she understood her rights and answered questions. During the
interview, Cindi indicated she was at the party with her husband, Darryl Reed who is a
four year patched member of the Vagos. Darryl Reed's moniker is "Moses" and is
believed to be the Treasurer for the Tri-State Vagos.

For a more detailed synopsis of the interview see Detective D. Zavos' report.

At approximately 2312 hours, the interview with Cindi Reed was completed.

The next person to be interviewed was Margarita Lynn Kleinman, DaB 7-1-78 of2657
Heritage Court in Las Vegas, Nevada and a phone number of702-677-6296.

At approximately 2313 hours, Detective Zavas advised Margarita Lynn Kleinmann of the
Miranda warning. Margarita stated she understood her rights and answered questions.

During the interview Margarita indicated she was at the Vagos party
with Shawn Fabretti, DaB 11-19-1965 00072 Leonetti, Las Vegas,
Nevada. Shawn Fabretti is a full patched member of the Tri-State
Vagos and uses the moniker "Dino." (See picture to right.)

For a more detailed synopsis afthe interview see Detective D.
Zavas' report.
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At approximately 2319 hours, the interview with Margarita Kleinmann was completed.

The uext person to be interviewed was Martha Guadalupe Rojas, DOB 11-12-1972 of
3170 East Flamingo #108 in Las Vegas, NY with a phone number of 702-232-41 12.

At approximately 2313 hours, Detective Zavas advised Martha Guadalupe Rojas ofthe
Miranda warning. Martha stated she understood her rights and answered questions.

During the interview Martha indicated she was with "45:' Auerelio Figueroa.

For a more detailed synopsis of the interview see Detective D. Zavas' report

At approximately 2322 hours. the interview with Martha Rojas was completed.

The next person to be interviewed was Michelle L. Murphy, DOB 03-20-1981 of6357
High Sierra Avenue in Las Vegas, NV with a phone number of702-401-6267.

At approximately 2322 hours, Detective Zavos advised Michelle L. Murphy of the
Miranda warning. Michelle stated she understood her rights and answered questions_

During the interview Michelle indicated she was at the Vagos
party with Carlito Woodley, DOB 8-29-1966, of 8700 Grazing
Hill, Las Vegas, Nevada who is a member with the Tn-State
Vagos and has claimed to be the Vice President. Carlito
Woodley's moniker with the gang is "Wednesday." Michelle
indicated Carlita Woodley is currently the Sergeant at Anns.
(See photo to right)

For a more detailed synopsis of the interview see Detective D.
Zavas' report.

At approximately 2329 hours, the interview with Michelle Murphy was completed.

The next person to be interviewed was Janine Ann Urquilla, DOB 6-15-1963, of3850
West Elgin Street in Chandler, AZ. Janine indicated her cell phone number is 602-696­
4762 and her home phone number is 480-775-9069.

At approximately 2331 hours, Detective Zavos advised Janine Ann Urquilla of the
Miranda warning. Ianine stated she understood her rights and answered questions.

During the interview, Janipe indicated she was at the party with
her hushand, Danny Urquilla, DOB 1-20-1960, of 3850 West
Elgin Street in Chandler, AZ. Danny's moniker in the gang is
"Danny Loco" and his status was Treasure. However. Danny's
purpose for being at the party was to turn in his cuts. (See photo
to right.)
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For a more detailed synopsis of the interview see Detective D. Zaves' report.

At approximately 2350 hours, the interview with Janme Urquilla was completed.

The next person to be interviewed was Emily Sanchez Vasquez of2101 Eastern in
Kingman, AZ. She indicated a pbone number of928-303-1466.

At approximately 2352 hours, Detective Zavas advised Emily Sanchez Vasquez of the
Miranda warning. Emily stated she understood her fights and answered questions,

During the interview, Emily indicated she was at the party with Joe Herrera who was
with the "Green Destiny Car Club."

For a more detailed synopsis oithe interview see Detective D. Zavas' report

At approximately 2358 hours, the interview with Emily Sanchez Vasquez was completed.

August 22,2010

The next person to be interviewed was Natalie N. Schieber. DOB 8-1-80 of90 Old Mine
Road in Pahrump, NV. She indicated her phone number was 775-291-9415.

On August 22,2010 at approximately 0001 hours, Detective Zavas advised Natalie N.
Schieber of the Miranda warning. Natalie stated she understood her rights and answered
questions.

During the interview Natalie indicated she was at the party with
Joshua Ealey, DOB 1-28-1983 of4670 Royal Ridge Avenue,
Las Vegas, NV. Joshua is a patched member of the Vagos gang.
(See picture to right)

For a more detailed synopsis of the interview see Detective D.
Zaves' report.

At approximately 0010 hours, the interview with Natalie
Schieber was complete.

The next person to be interviewed was Renee D. Bennudez, DOB 11-4-1971, of3449
North Jewel in Kingtmm, AZ with a phone number of909-297-0421.

At approximately 0011 hours, Detective zavos advised Renee D. Bermudez of the
Miranda warning. Renee stated she understood her rights and answered questions.

During the interview Renee indicated she was at the party with Joseph Herrera and Emily
l__ Sanchez Vasquez.
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(- For a more detailed synopsis of the interview see Detective D. Zavas' report.

At approximately 0015 hours, the interview with Renee D. Bermudez was completed.

The next person to be interviewed was the home owner of2920 North Yuma Drive,
Leslie Diecks, DOB 12-16-1967. Leslie indicated her phone number was 928-308-0761.

At approximately 0016 hours, Detective Zavos advised Leslie Diecks of the Miranda
warning. Leslie stated she understood her rights and answered questions.

During the interview Leslie indicated she was hosting the party
with her husband and current member of the Tri-State Vagos
gang, Michael Diecks, DOB 5-21-1964. Mike uses the moniker
of "Mad Mike" and "Mad Dog." (See photo to right.)

For a more detailed synopsis of the interview see Detective D.
zayas' report.

At approximately 0031 hours, the interview with Leslie Diecks was completed.

The next person to be interviewed was Tanya Kaufmann, DOB 3-15-1985, of2306 North
Wilbur Circle in Mesa, AZ. Tanya indicated her phone number is 623-760-3889.

At approximately 0034 hours, Detective Zavas advised Tanya Kaufmann afthe Miranda
warning. Tanya stated she understood her rights and answered questions.

During the interview Tanya indicated she was at the party with
her husband Justin Kanfmann, DOB 3-26-1982 and she also
stated they were there for "Chmch." Justin is a patched
member of the Vagos and is currently the Phoenix area
Sergeant at Arms. (See photo to rigbt.)

For a more detailed synopsis of the interview see Detective D.
Zavos' report.

At approximately 0041 hours, the interview with Tanya Kaufmann was completed.

The next person to be interviewed was Heather Brunelle, DOB 8-4-1972 of5469
Palisades, Newward Quad, NV. Heather indicated her phone number is 602-446-0407.

At approximately 0043 hours, Detective Zavos advised Heather Brunelle of the Miranda
warning. Heather stated she understood her rights and answered questions

1'--7
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Heather indicaled she was at the Vagos party with her hoyfriend
and current member of the Vagos gang, Shawn Pratte, 5-28-1975.
Shawn is known by the moniker "Fuzzy."

For a more detailed synopsis of the interview see Detective D.
Zavas' report.

At approximately 0047 hours the interview with Heather waS
completed.

After the interview with Heather Brunelle it was brought to OUf, (Det. Zayas, Morris and
Skelton'S) attention that members of the Vagas were now sitting in the front yard, outside
ofllie room where the interviews were being conducted. Because of this we changed the
interview room to the room just across from the room we had been conducting interviews
in. Detectives conducting the search warrant indicated the room was clear of any
evidence and available for our use.

The next person to be interviewed was Ruben Lopez, DOB 6-21-1967 of4115 Carmine
Street in Las Vegas, NY. Ruben indicated his phone number is 702-762-2785.

At approximately 0049 hours, Detective Zavas advised Ruben Lopez of the Miranda
warning. Ruben stated he understood his rights and answered questions.

Ruben indicated he is a current full patched member of the Tri-State
Vagos gang and holds the rank of President. Ruben is known by the
moniker "Kickstand." .

For a more detailed synopsis of the interview see Detective D.
Zavos' report.

At approximately 0111 hours, the interview with Ruben Lopez was completed.

The next person to be interviewed was Auerelio Figueroa, DOB 2-23-1964 of 1716 North
Ridge Circle in Mesa, AZ.

At approximately 0117 hours, Detective Zavos advised Aurereilo
Figueroa of the Miranda warning. Auerelio stated he understood his
rights and answered questions. Aurereilo was also advised of the
Miranda Rights at 1838 hours, by Detective Zavos.

During the interview Aurereilo indicated he was the Vice President
for the Tri-State chapter of the Vagos gang. His moniker for the
gang is "45." (See photo to right)

For a more detailed synopsis of the interview see Detective D. Zayas' report.
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( At approximately 0124 hours, the interview with Aurereilo was completed.
,

The next person to be interviewed was Danny A. Urquilla, DOB 1-20-1960 of3850 W,
Elgin Street in Chandler, AZ.

At approximately 0125 hours, Detective Zavas advised Danny
Urquilla of the Miranda warning. Danny stated he understood his
rights and answered questions.

Darmy indicated he came to the party with his wife and his reason
for corning was to tum in his cuts. By doing this he would nO longer
be an active member of the Tri-State Vagos gang, Danny stated he was getting out of the
club because he won't die for the club.

For a more detailed synopsis of the interview see Detective D. Zayas' report.

At approximately 0148 hours, the interview with·Danny was completed.

The next person to be interviewed was Joshua E. Ealey, DOB 1-28-1983 of90 Old
Mine, Pahrump, NV with a phone number of702-884-7300.

At approximately 0157 hours, Detective Zavas advised Joshua
Ealey of the Miranda warning. Joshua stated he understood his
rights and answered questions.

During the interview Joshua indicated he was at the Vagos
party with his girlfriend Natalie Schieber.

For a more detailed synopsis of the interview see Detective D.
Zavos'report.

At approximately 0208 hours, the interview with Joshua was completed.

The next person to be interviewed was William Bly Pizel, DOB 7-31-45 of 11610 Silver
Spur in Dewey, AZ. William indicated he had two phone numbers, 928-772-4663 and
928-379-2200.

At approximately 0209 hours, Detective Zavos advised William Pizel
of the Miranda warning. William stated he understood his rights and
answered questions.

During the interview William indicated he was a member of the
Vagos ''Nomads'' from California and he doesn't report to the officers
in the Tri-State chapter oftbe Vagos gang. William is known by the moniker ''Top Hat."

For a more detailed synopsis afthe interview see Detective D. Zavas' report.
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( At approximately 0221 hours, the interview with William was completed.

At approximately 0223 hours, it was brought to our, (Det. Zavos, Morris and Skelton's)
attention that members of the Vagos were being placed under arrest for possession of
marijuana and removed from the front of 2920 North Yuma Drive. This removed aU
subjects left to be interviewed from Ollf location. Because of this we concluded
conducting interviews on members and associates of the Vagos gang.

At approximately 0224 hOUTS. I checked out of the search warrant location. 2920 North
Yuma Drive.

Detective D. Zayas told Detective Morris and I that the search warrant on 2670 North
Yuma Drive, the residence owned by Theodore Toth, would be conducted on August 22,
2010 at 1100 hours and the residence would be secured for the evening by officers in the
command vehicle.

At approximately 0245 hours, I secured the scene for the evening.

August 22,2010

On August 22, 2010 at approximately 1040 hours, I arrived at the command post across
the street from 2670 North Yuma Drive. The yellow crime scene tape was still draped
across the front access of the driveway. While waiting I was provided with a list of
names of arrested Hells Angels gang members. The names provided are: Juan Marchelli,
Warren Kuntz, Larry Scott, Robert Kittredge, John Bernard, Kilry Hill, Bruce
Schweigert, Theodore Tofu and Sandra Toth. Of the names provided the only one I
wasn't familiar with was Juan Marche11i. Sandra Toth wouldn't be a member of the Hells
Angels gang because she's female.

At approximately 1100 hours, all involved with executing the search warrant at 2670
North Yuma Drive were on scene. YCSO photographer J. Neilson entered the property at
a time that is unknown to me to begin entry photographs. I stayed off the property until
ready to begin searching the property.

At approximately 1139 hours, I entered the curtilage at 2670 North Yuma Drive and
begin searching the front yard for fired shell casings while entry photographs of the
interior of the residence are being conducted.

At approximately 1207 hours, SergeantD. Raiss fonned a line search using detectives on
scene to search the entire front yard.

(
'-... -

At approximately 1228 hours, the line search is completed with no evidence located by
me.
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(' At approximately 1229 hours, I begin searching a 1997 Harley
Davidson motorcycle. bearing Arizona registration MCPM78,
registered to Warren Spencer Kuntz, DOB 7-17-1951 of2740
North Main Street in Flagstaff, Arizona, While conducting the
search ofthe motorcycle I found gang indicia that consist of two
sweat shirts with the death head artwork from San Jose and Orange
County, Also located was cash, Hells Angels Nomads gang ledger
and Hells Angels West Coast Officers Meeting,gang notes for July 17, 2010,

Warren Kuntz is currently the Treasure for the Arizona Hens Angels Nomads gang. This
is further supported by the ledger with gang members dues, fines and "out of club" status
reported within the ledger. (Infonnation contained within the ledger is explained further
in this report,)

At approximately 1252 hours, I complete the search of Arizona MCPM78 owned by
Warren Spencer Kuntz.

At approximately 1253 hours, the next motorcycle I searched was a 2006 Harley
Davidson motorcycle bearing Arizona MC921Z, registered to Stacy L. Marchelli. While
conducting a search of the motorcycle I found a Sonny Barger T-shirt, sling shot,.red
boodie and a red hat. Sonny Barger is an icon within the Hells Angels gang and his shirts
are often worn by members ofthe gang and the general public. Many of the Hells Angels
wear clothing with the color red as the Hells Angels gang proudly boast "Red" or "Red
and White" as the color that represents the gang.

These items were taken as evidence.

At approximately 1257 hours, I completed searching the 2006 Harley Davidson
motorcycle bearing Arizona MC92IZ,

At approximately 1257 hours, I began a 1997,
Harley Davidson motorcycle bearing Arizona
registration MC l1Z9, registered to Byron Ellis
of 1302 West Anderson in Phoenix, Arizona,
While searching the motorcycle I discovered a
holster fastened to the handlebar area and a
rubber mallet attached to the down tube of the
frame on the right side ofthe motorcycle.

It's common for members of motorcycle gangs to
carry hammers, usually ball peen style, contained
within their cuts to be used as weapons. Some
ReUs Angels gang members have started carrying
various hammers attached to the frame of the
motorcycle as described and pictured here.



At approximately 1301 hour, my attention was drawn to
documents left by the front gate to the entrance of the

property. The documents were in a red notepad often
carried by members ofthe Hells Angels gang and other
miscellaneous paperwork with the notepad. One
document was an instruction pennit issued to Larry
Dean Scott Jr., DOB 4-9-1963. Also located with the
instruction permit was a Superior Court order restoring
civil rights to carry a fireann with Larry Scott listed as
the defendant.

This page also has a note to further indicate the ?_
note is from Larry Dean Scott Jr. The entry on itlj..r~C"'-''-L~~~~:.c
the second line to the bottom states, "-My house
- Aug. 21." A similar entry is also found in a
note pad belonging to John Anthony Bernard,
DOB 08-25-1966 of 13413 North 33'" Street in
Phoenix, Arizona. John Bernard is currently a
Prospect for the Hells Angels gang from the
Phoenix cbarter. In John Bernard's notepad the
entry indicates, "Fri church 8:00 PM Scotty's."

While looking through the notepad the entry
that stuck out to me was "Painter Death Date."
lbis note is inline with current Hells Angels
gang events for the Nomads charter. "Painter"
is also the moniker for Jeffrey Beckett, DOB
12-13-1968, of3005 North Stewart Street in
Kingman, AZ and is a current patched member
of the Vagos gang.

I know Larry Dean Scott Jr., DOB 04-09-1963 of 1528
North Road I E, Chino Valley, Arizona to be a Prospect for the Hells Angels gang. Larry
Scott is known by the moniker "Scotty."

Arizona Department of Public Safety
2010-039100

At approximately 1259 hours I completed searching the
motorcycle bearing Arizona registration MC11Z9.

(- These items were taken as evidence.

The notepad and various items located around it were taken as evidence.

At approximately 1313 hours, I completed searching the items found around Larry Dean
Scott's notepad.
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At approximately 1318 hours, I entered the residence located at 2670 North Yuma Drive
through a door on the north side of the residence truit enters into a food pantry. I too~ a
walk through the house to see what would be required to complete the search. All rooms
were marked with a Jetter to indicate where evidence or gang indicia was located and
seized as evidence.

At approximately 1345 hours, all room in the residence were marked using the alphabet.

At approximately 1346 hours, Detective Morris and I began searching room ~'A"

At approximately 1349 hours. the search ofroom "A" was completed

At approximately 1349 hours, the search of room '"B" started. This room, the kitchen,
was searched by Detective Zavos, Morris and 1.

At approximately 1351 hows, I located a Hells Angels gang cup in the cabinet, brass
knuckles on the refrigerator and a photograph ofTheodore Toth on the refrigerator as
well. All items were photographed and collected as evidence.

At approximately 1404 hours. the search ofroom "B" was completed.

At approximately 1405 hours, I began searching room "C." This room is the living room
next to the kitchen.

At approximately 1407 hours, I located cash in Theodore Toth's wallet, a motorcycle
key, an old photo of an airplane with "Hells Angels" on the photo, a death head displayed
in the media center and a red "Angels" wood design.

At approximately 1413 hours, rooms "c" and "D" are completed. Room "D" was
searched by Detective J. Morris.

At approximately 1414 hours, room <OF" is searched by Detective J. Morris_ Room "J" is
searched by me. Both are bathrooms. Room "F" is a hall bathroom, room "J" is the
bathroom in the master bedroom.

At approximately 1416 hours, Detective Moms tells me he's completed searching room
"F."

At approximately 1417 hours, I located a picture ofa death head on the bathroom wall.

At approximately 1420 hours, I located a female Hells Angels gang support shirt hanging
in the bathroom_ AIl items located in room "J" are photographed and collected as
evidence.

At approximately 1421 hours, I completed searching room "J."
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At approximately 1416 hours, Detective J. Morris begins searching room 'OK."

At approximately 1423 hours, I began assisting Detective Morris with searching room
'OK."

At approximately 1426 hours, the search ofIoom "K" was completed.

At approximately 1428 hours, I began searching room "L."

At approximately 1429 hours~ the search of room "L" was completed.

At approximately 1430 hours, I began searching room "N."

At approximately 1432 hours, I completed searching room "N."

At approximately 1432 hours, I began searching room "0."

At approximately 1440 hours, I located to death head pictures.

At approximately 1447 hours, Detective J. Morris indicated to me he started searching
room "P."

At approximately 1449 hours, Detective J. Morris indicated he completed searching room
"P."

At approximately 1457 hours, Department ofPublic Safety, GIITEM Sergeant R. Milam
arrived on scene to assist with the search and was briefed as to the status ofthe
investigation.

At approximately 1502 hours, I completed searching room "0." All items located in
room "0" were photographed and collected as evidence.

At approximately 1503 hours, I began searching room "M." While searching room "M" I
located miscellaneous Hells Angels gang related paperwork and memorabilia.

At approximately 1522 hours, I competed searching room "M." All items located in
room "M" were photographed and caJIeeted as evidence.

At approximately 1523 hours, Detective D. Zavos searched the attic of the residence.
Located in the attic was and extensive collection ofReHs Angles gang related
paraphernalia to include; T-shirts, photographs, posters, plaques, framed Hells Angels
gang patches and charter photos.

At approximately 1700 hours, the search of the attic was completed. All items located in
the attic were photographed and collected as evidence.
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( At approximately 170 I hours, I began
to search room "E." Located in room
"E" were three sets of fully patched
cuts and one prospect set of cuts.

A full patch contains the top rocker,
"Hells Angels," bottom rocker,
"Arizona," the "death head" and the
UMe" patch.

Prospect cuts have the bottom rocker,
"Arizona," and the "Me" patch.

The cuts to the right I recognize as Michael
Koepke's; On the left side of the cuts (as worn) at
the top are "flashes" indicating Michael Koepke
holds the position of Sergeant at Anns for the
Nomad chapter of the Hells Angels gang. Below
the flashes is a "YAVAPAI CO" side rocker. This
indicates to me the Hells Angels gang is active in
Yavapai County. This is significant since the Hells
Angels Nomad chapter/clubhouse is/was located at
1611 North West Street in Flagstaff, Arizona in
Coconino County. This side rocker along with other indicators, indicate that the Hells
Angels gang may have been in the process ofre-starting the "Skull Valley" chapter.

The Skull Valley chapter of the Hells Angels gang was
frozen by the Hells Angels gang after members,
including Theodore Toth were convicted on charges
related to the investigation known as "Black Biscuit"
where the Hells Angels gang was investigated by the
Bureau ofAlcohol, Tobacco, Fireanns and Explosives.
Theodore Toth's last day on probation from charges
related to that iuvestigation was August 20, 20I 0 and
his probation officer was Brett Wrons, 928-774-3095
Extension 21.

The "flashes" on the right side of the cuts (as worn) are
a "filthy few" and "Hells Angels." The filthy few flash
is earned for committing a crime or violent act against
another person. The Hells Angels gang flash is a
common flash for members to display on their cuts.

The cuts to the right with the fringe on them are
Theodore Toth's. On his cuts are various death head



(

Arizona Department of Public Safety
2010-039100

patches which members can purchase and display. On the right side of the cuts (as worn)
is a "Filthy 666 Few" flash. The "666" represents the sixth letter of the alphabet, the
letter "F" or «Filthy Few Forever."

Below that is a black and white "Dequiallo" flash which indicates the wearer committed
an act of violence towards a person with authority or resisted arrest violently_There are
only three knO\VIl wearers of the "Dequiallo" patch in Arizona, Theodore roth is one of
them.

The second set of Theodore Toth's cuts have only the "Filthy 666 Few" and "Dequiallo"
flash.

The fourth set of cuts belong to Kevin E. Christensen, DOB 07-04-1960 of3301 East
Ames Avenue in Kingman, AIizona. This set of cuts are prospect cuts.

The l'flash" on the left side (as worn) of the cuts
indicate that the member of the gang is in "prospect"
status by displaying the prospect patch. Below the
prospect patch is a small flash indicating "Nomads."
Further below is a <lNomads" side rocker which
indicates, along with displaying the "Arizona" bottom
rocker on the back of the cuts that he is prospecting
for the Arizona Nomads chapter of the Hells Angels
Gang.

At approximately 1713 hours, a phone, motorcycle
keys and a poster were located in room "E."

At approximately 1719 hours, I completed searching room "E," All items were
photographed and collected as evidence.

At approximately 1720 hours, Detective Zavos, Morris and I began searching room "H,"
the master bedroom.

At approximately 1724 hours, I located various Hells Angels gang pins, papers, T-shirts,
photographs, phone, and Theodore Toth's old "president" and "Skull Valley" flash.

At approximately 1743 hours, I completed my searching of room "II" while Detective
Morris completed the closet. AIl items were photographed and collected as evidence.

At approximately 1744 hours, I began searching room "G," As I entered the room I
observed several bullets on the floor. These items were to be collected as evidence.

At approximately 1800 hours, I suspended the search ofroom "G" for a dinner break.

At approximately 1812 hours, I continued searching room "G."
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( Located in the room was a tower style computer on the floor below the desk and a laptop
style computer in a drawer. Also located were several Hells Angels related books.

At approximately 1841 hours, I completed the search of room "G." All items were
photographed and collected as evidence.

At approximately 1842 hours, I began searching room "R," the garage.

At approximately 1844 hours, I observed a motorcycle gas tank with a death head logo on
it.

At approximately 1849 hours, Detective 1. Morris indicated he began searching the
vehicle "S."

At approximately 1852 hours, I completed my search ofroom "R," the garage.

At approximately 1852 hours, I began searching room "T." Room "T" didn't have an
alphabet card assigned to it and was a shed just outside the garage.

At approximately 1853 hours, Detective J. Morris indicated he completed searching
vehicle "S" and was out ofroom "R," the garage.

At approximately 1853 hours, I completed searching room "T."

While standing outside the garage and discussing the location where bullet holes were
that entered room "Q," the room above the garage we (Detective Zavos, Morris and
Skelton) decided to re-check room «Q" for an unaccounted for projectile.

At approximately 1857 hours, I began searching the ground for a projectile.

At approximately 1859 hours, I located a projectile on the ground near the west wall.

The projectile was photographed and collected as evidence.

At approximately 1923 hours, Detective Sergeant R. Milam, Detective J. Morris, Zavos
and I exited the property and this concluded my involvement with physically searching
2670 North Yuma Drive in Chino Valley, Arizona.

At approximately 2032 haws, I arrived at the Yavapai County Sheriffs Office, Eastern
Detention Bureau located at 2830 N Commonwealth Drive, Suite 105 in Camp
Verde, Arizona. The purpose was to interview shooting victim and Hells Angels gang
member Kevin E. Christensen.

At approximately 2043 hours, Detective Sergeant R Milam. Detective 1. Morris, Zavos
and I were escorted to a secure room to interview Kevin Christensen.
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( At approximately 2050 hours, Kevin Christensen was brought into the room. Detective
Zavas advised Kevin Christensen of the Miranda Right's.

At approximately 2051 hours, Kevin Christensen stated he understood his right's and
requested an attorney. No questions were asked.

At approximately 2052 hours, Kevin Christensen was removed from the room by
detention officers.

This completed the investigation for August 22, 2010.

September 2, 2010

On September 2,2010 at approximately 0850 hours, 1arrived at the Yavapai County
Sheriff' 5 Office Evidence yard to meet with Detective Zavos and begin photocopying
documents seized as evidence. When I arrived. Detective Zayas told me he was almost
done with completing the inventory searches of Michael Diecks and Robert Kittredge's
vehicles so he could box up their property to return it. I asked Detective Zavos if the
search warrants included searching the vehicles while in property for evidence collection
and he indicated the warrants did.

I was escorted to a vehicle bay where a 2004, Nissan bearing Arizona registration
170MZP, registered to Leslie S. Diecks of 2920 North Yuma Road iu Chino Valley,
Arizona, was being inventoried.

At approximately 0856 hours, I observed a green bandana and Vagos cuts pulled from the
trunk of the vehicle. I also noted that on the key ring was a green clip. ] suggested the
green clip be documented as green is the color the Vagos identify their gang with.

At approximately 0916 houfs, the inventory search of1he 2004. Nissan bearing Arizona
registration 170MZP was completed.

At approximately 0928 hours, Detective Zavos drove a 1998, Dodge SUV, bearing
Arizaua registration ACV071 1 registered to Robert E. Kittredge of 3950 North Dana
Court in Prescott Valley, Arizona into the vehicle bay to inventory items for return.

At approximately 0932 hours, blue bank bags were located within a brown briefcase that
was unlocked. Inside the blue bank bags was United States currency. This was counted
and kept for safekeeping by Detective Zavos.

l
'-.

At approximately 0944 hours, the inventory search of the vehicle was stopped to
interview and meet with Auerelio Figueroa, DOB 2-23-1964 and Justin Kaufmann, DOB
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3-26-1982. These interviews and release ofpersonal property was recorded by Detective
D.Zavos.

At approximately I I 1I hours, the inventory search of the 1998, Dodge SlN, bearing
Arizona registration ACV0711 continued.

At approximately 1I 14 hOUIB, a baggie of personal use marijuana was located between
the driver's seat and the center console.

At approximately 1155 hours, the inventory of the 1998, Dodge SUV, bearing,Arizona
registration ACV0711 was completed.

Detective Zayas and I then photocopied various paper related documents seized as
evidence. I've included these photocopies with this supplemental report.

This concluded case related investigation for September 2,2010.

September 9, 2010

On September 9, 2010 at approximately 0902 hours, Detective Sergeant R. Milam
provided me with copies ofinterviews from Jeremy Murphy, Jesus Lopez, Michael
Koepke, Robert Kittredge, Kiley Hil~ Theodore Toth, Sandra Toth, Justin Kaufmann,
Michael Diecks, Brian Apfel and Kevin Christensen. The videos will be viewed later for
gang related content.

On August 22, 2010, as stated earlier in this report, I was provided with a list ofnames of
arrested Hells Angels gang members. The names provided were: Juan Marchelli, Warren
Kuntz, Larry Scott, Robert Kittredge, John Bernard, Kilry Hill, Bruce Schweigert,
Theodore Toth and Sandra Toth.. Of the names provided the only one I wasn't familiar
with was Juan Marcbelli. Sandra Toth wouldn't be a member of the Hells Angels gang
because she's female. The following is a knO'Wll history of each gang member and an
explanation of gang ledgers and notes as they relate to the gang in no particular order.

Michael Trevor Koepke, DOB 9-28.-81, who resides at 3270 North Bumblebee Drive,
Apartment A, in PrescotfValley, Arizona.

(
..... _,.

Michael Koepke is known in the Hells Angels gang as
"Muff." Mike was first observed in Arizona by Detectives
assigned to GIlTEM on March 10, 2007 at a Spartan Riders
Me poker run being held at the Spartan Glendale club house.
(See picture to right taken by Det. Skelton.)

® ..
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At the time oftbe Spartan Riders MC poker run Mike was a full patched member of the
Hells Angels Gang. He was later identified as a member ofthe Cave Creek Chapter of
the Hells Angels Gang.

On February 21, 2010 Mike was observed at the Florence Prison
Run with his wife Sarah Koepke. During this gang organized event
Mike was wearing Hells Angels cuts with a "Cave Creek" side
rocker. (See photo to right taken by Ken Lucas.)

On July 10, 2010 Mike was observed at the Pinon Pines Bar located
at 2701 East Old US Highway 89A in Prescott, Arizona during the
July meeting for the Arizona Confederation of Motorcycle Clubs
meeting. While at tills gang meeting Mike was observed displaying
the "Yavapai" side rocker. Although not clear in the picture, the
flash on the left side ofMike's cuts, as worn, is a Sgt. at Arms tab
which indicates he's in an officer's position. (See photo to right
taken by Sgt. Milam.)

The Hells Angels Nomads gang ledger, collected as evidence on
August 22, 2010, indicates Mike began paying dues to the Nomads
chapter on or about March 6, 2007. The date, 2007, for this entry
appears to be a mistake. Dates surrounding the entry indicate the
dues are actually for 2010. Further notes in the gang ledger indicate
Mike was in an officer's position or a position of high trust. These
notes are, "Mike to go to WCOM" and ''Made envelope for Mike
road trip + dues WCOM." These two notes indicate Mike Koepke
was the Arizona Hells Angels Nomads gang representative for the
Hells Angels West Coast Officers Meeting held most likely in San
Bernadino or Oakland, California.

SECURED STORAGE mo 1C
• RuggJe

8-10-1

On September 24, 2010 a check of Mike's Myspace! page titled
"Koepke Kartel" found a flyer for the Hells Angels Fall Colors
Run and various other pictures from the webpage. Mike's wife,
Sarah Koepke, was displaying a profile picture which shows
Mike and her posing with a weapon.

The West Coast Officers Meeting held by the Hells Angels gang is where representatives
from each chapter meet to discuss gang issues. These meetings include notifying other
chapters ofthe gang about new members, members that have left the gang and members
that have been removed from the gang in bad standing. Also discussed are defense
fundraising parties and merchandise sales to assist gang members with defense attorney
fees which are sometimes paid for by the Hells Angels gang. Included in evidence
collected on August 22,2010 was a copy of the July 17, 2010 West Coast Officers
Meeting notes. Included with the West Coast Officer gang
notes is a phone list of current gang members by chapter. Mike
Koepke is still listed under the "Cave Creek (602)" chapter.
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Warren Spencer Kuntz, DOB 7-17-1951 of 2740 North Main Street in Flagstaff,
Arizona.

Warren Kuntz is known in the Hells Angels gang as "Turtle."
Warren told me he received his full patch in 1999 as a member of
the Cave Creek Chapter. Warren currently holds the position of
Treasure for the Arizona Hells Angels Nomads chapter ofthe
gang. Warren's gang membership is further supported by his
name and phone number being listed on the gang member phone
list under "Nomads AZ (928)" as, "Turtle cell 607-1218."

As Treasurer, Warren maintains the gang ledger which indicates
who has paid gang dues, been fmed and gang membership status.
Wmen is also responsible for making sure all gang property
mortgages and bills are current.

(The photo to the right of Warren was taken during the 2010,
Laughlin River Run by Detective Skelton.)

On September 28, 2010 at approximately 1530 hours, Detective Zavas and I spoke with
Warren Kuntz when he arrived at the Yavapai County Sheriffs Office Property Room to
retrieve his motorcycle. During this conversation Kuntz indicated the Nomads were
broke and could no longer afford the rent for the Nomad clubhouse located at 1611 North
West Street in Flagstaff. Arizona. Kuntz indicated the Nomads rent the house from
"Richard." When I asked Kuntz if the Nomads were looking to move their chapter to
Skull Valley he smiled and told me the Nomads can go anywhere, that's why they're
Nomads. I then asked him if they were moving into Yavapai County. I asked this
question because on September 25. 2010 at the Fall Colors Run Bruce Schweigert was
observed holding a small stack of Yavapai side rockers. Kuntz smiled and stated he
couldn't talk about club business.

A check ofpublic records found the property located at 1611 North West Street in
Flagstaff, Arizona is owned by Richard L. Eby who list's an address of 1753 South Main
in Snowflake, Arizona.

Robert Edward Kittredge, DOB 10-20-1973, of 3950 North
Dana Ct. Apt. 2 in Prescott Valley, Arizona

Robert Kittredge is new to the gang and doesn't appear to yet
be listed on the gang ledger.

On September 25, 2010 after the Hells Angels annual Fall Color
j Roo, Robert Kittredge was arrested for assault and trespassing.
\



(

Arizona Department of Publie Safety
2010-039100

When he was arrested he was wearing a black shirt with "Skull Valley" on lbe front.
Kittredge was not a member oflbe original Hells Angels Skull Valley chapter. This is
anolber indicator the Hells Angels gang may be re-starting lbe Skull Valley chapter or
moving the Nomad chapter to the Chino Valley area.

Theodore John Toth, DOB 7-8-1947, of 2670 North Yuma Drive, Chino Valley,
Arizona.

Theodore Tolb is known in lbe Hells Angels gang as "Teddy." Recently Theodore has
not been seen in public with members ofthe Hells Angels gang because he was convicted
on charges related to the investigation known as "Black Biscuit" where the Hells Angels
gang was investigated by the Bureau ofAlcohol, Tobacco, Fireanns and Explosives.
Theodore Toth's last day on probation from charges related to that investigation was
August 20, 2010, the day before this shooting. During the time Theodore was on
probation he was not to have contact with gang members.

Juau Vincent Marchelli, nOB 2-2-1972, of 4833 West Las
Palmaritas Drive in Glendale, Arizona.

Juan Marchelli is a newer member of the Hells Angels gang
and is currently listed as a hang-around.

The July 17, 2010 Hells Angels West Coast Officer gang
meeting notes indicate Juan began his hang-around status on
July 2, 2010 wilb lbe Phoenix chapter ofthe Hells Angels
gang.

Juan Marchelli's notebook contained chores the Hells Angels gang expects a hang­
around to do.

Larry Deau Scott Jr., DOB 04-09-1963, ofl528 N. Road 1 E in Chino Valley,
Arizona.

'"1

[
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Larry Scott is known in the Hells Angels gang as "Scotty."
The gang ledger indicates Larry became a hang-around
member of the gang on 11-14-2009.

On 2-20-2010 the gang ledger indicates Larry became a
prospect member of the gang.

On July 10,2010 Larry was observed at lbe Pinon Pines Bar
located at 2701 East Old US Highway 89A in Prescott,
Arizona during the July meeting for the Arizona Confederation
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of Motorcycle Clubs meeting. (See photo to right taken by Sgt. Milam.)

During the Arizona Confederation of Clubs meeting Larry was doing a typical prospect
related gang assignment of looking for law enforcement surveillance. During the event
Larry came to my vehicle and introduced himself as a prospect for the gang.

Other entries in Larry Scott's notepad not yet listed are:
"Friday/church 8:00 pm or Teddy House."

This is an indicator that the old "Skull Valley" club house owned by Theodore Toth may
be used again as a Hells Angels clubhouse.

Bruce Andrew Sehweigert, DOB 12-12-1963 of2361 S. Rio Verde Drive in
Cottonwood, Arizona.

The gang ledger indicates that on 2-13-10 Bruce became a hang-around. member for the
Hells Angels gang.

On February 2l, 2010 Bruce was observed in attendance at the
Florence Prison Run.

On April 18, 2010 Bruce was observed doing a typical prospect
related gang assignment of looking for law enforcement
surveillance v.lrile at Sonny Barger's birthday party held at the
Steel Horse bar located at 1818 West Bell Road in Pboenix,
Arizona. (See picture to right taken by Det. Skelton.) During tbis
event Bruce made contact with me while I was parked in the
parking lot observing the gang related party.

Kiley Steven Hill, DOB 04-29-1971 of 7237 North Apache Avenue in Williams,
Arizona.

Kiley Hill is known in the Hells Angels gang as "Kile."

The gang ledger indicates that on 07-09-2009 Kiley became a
hang-around member for the Hells Angels gang.

The gang ledger indicates that on 8-7-2010 Kiley Hill became
a Prospect for the Hells Angels gang.

Gang ledger notes indicate Kiley Hill and Bruce Schweigert were assigned to "run shirts"
while "Duck" (Robert Steffens) runs the LLC. This note indicates to me responsibilities
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within the gang to further fundraising by ensuring T-shirts are available for sale at gang
related events, ,

John Anthony Bernard, DOB 8-25-1966 of 13413 North 33'" Street in Phoenix,
Arizona.

John Bernard is a Prospect with the HeUs Angels Phoenix
chapter of the gang.

One of the items located during the search warrant at 2670
North Yuma Drive was John's prospect notebook. This
notebook had various entries but the following entries
stood out:

"Nomads chino Mike Rudy Turtle Duck Teddy offpaper."

This entry is significant. John's notes are referencing full
patched gang members of the HeUs Angels Nomads, Mike Koepke, Rudolfo "Rudy"
Martinez, Warren "Turtle" Kuntz, Robert "Duck" Steffens and Theodore "Teddy" Toth.

On August 7, 2010 Richard Laakmann, aka Sbowlow Rick, quit the gang. Rick was the
Nomads President at the time he left. Richard Laakamaan was involved in locating the
Nomads c1ubJ:1ouse and renting it from Richard Eby. During the conversation with
Warren Kuntz on September 28, 2010, Kuntz confirms Rick is out of the club and the
Nomads clubhouse at 1611 North West Street in Flagstaff, Arizona is no longer active
because of Richard Laakmaan's departure from the gang and a lack of funds to pay rent
to "Richard" This indicates the possibility that the Nomads will be moving their chapter
to Chino VaUey.

"Fri church 8:00 pm Scotty's."

This entry indicates the Hells Angels gang is holding their meeting at Larry Scott's
house.

"Bruce Kevin Kyle Scotty."

lIDs entry list's the l'non-patched" members oithe Hells
Angels Nomads gang.

"Vagos stabbed Mike arrested."

This entty indicates the members of the Hells Angels gang
are aware ofthe violence which is ongoing between the
Vagos and Hells Angels gangs. This entry is specific to a
Vagos gang member that was stabbed on May 30, 2010 in
OUdale, California by a member of the Hells Angels gang.

I .CI



(.

Arizona Department of Public Safety
2010-039100

Michael Henry Peua, also known as Delano Mike is a full patched member of the Hells
Augels Orange County gang.

On September 24, 2010 a check
of John Bernard's Myspace!
PRSPCT PHX 81 page found
him posing with hang-around
cuts bn and a "666" hat. John
posted, "Ifyou are not with us,
you are against us!! Get it right
or it's night night!!! 1"

A check of John's Facebook page found him posing with Travis
Fullerton, DOB 2-23-1969 who is a Hells Angels Prospect from
the Mesa Chapter and Colon O'Connor, DOB 11-14-1972 who is a
prospect for the Hells Angels Phoenix chapter. The picture to the
right is cropped to show John wearing "Prospect Phoenix" cuts.

Kevin E. Christensen, DOB 07-04-1960 of 3301 East Ames
Avenue in Kingman, Arizona.

The gang ledger indicates Kevin became a hang-around with the
Hells Augles gang on 01-24-2009.

The gang ledger then indicates Kevin became a prospect with the
Hells Angels gang on 06-12-2010.

On September 23, 2010 Detective D. Zavos provided me with jail recordings of calls
made by Juan Marchelli, Warren Kuntz, Larry Scott, Robert Kittredge, Johtt Bernard
Bruce Schweigert and Sandra Toth.

LroringcIDlrecordmgnumb~

187548728081411 John Bemard calls
"Jennifer" his significant other.

Approximately four minutes into the call
the following exchange of conversation
occurs:

Jenrdfer: I talked to Juan yesterday he
said he talked to alawyer, a

Recording NUl11be" 187548i2808141 Lwav
.. . called paiiy:6.02.6.~0761i=-- ....

.. ~rtc~[!q~t~J:Q~'.i201 O:0~:24.11 :5.~:,!§
End.call Datefflme: 2010-08-2411:0315

C'_"'. -~M·iriule'~ '8 ,-----. ,
T;[.Ph~n;:lb; 43124
·'iJiill. -BERNARD-JOHN'

D"ls~nn~ct~d:R-~;;~;n~ ji\~TEHAN-'"1GiTp---'
...... R,,,,,rilfie~Mnj AlJ'TCJMA-TI-C--'-'"''

. --"---"\;~~~;-~~ 2------------ -----... --.-,--, -------
------_.- ..-_. /-
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lawyer came to see him yesterday and that he was getting out today. They've
already got Teddy and his wife out and some guy named Mike.

John: Yeab. Mike. This is his fuckiug fault.

The conversation then turns to other members of the gang that may be released.

During call recording number
187985802591235, Kiley Hill calls John
Bernard.
Approximately forty-eight seconds into
the recording the fonowing exchange of
conversation occurs;

John: Hey. Hello?

Kiley: John.

John: Kile, what's happeuing man?

Kiley: Get you're patch?

John: Ab, no.

Kiley: Huh?

R.ecol"!1iJ'!!:l Nurnb_~r,

Called.partY:,

.SJ.~rt G~ii'o~~m~':'
Ent;i".:Qall DatetDr.'!e::

Minut~_~:

Tele8hon,e.:19:
,Name:

·isco'nnectad Reason:
- R'e~~rd Re~.~rit.:_

locatl,ort

187985802591235.wav
" ...- - ... " ---

6026807627
---._------ -..._._-- ._._-------
2010-08-29 10:48:29_., .. ,.- '.'..- .... -------. - -._... --

2010-08·29 10:55:23
7
63984-'- - ----_.----- "" .. _'.- ,- -----

I1ILL,JSUEY... u"

J:j\If.{ATE lL'lNGVP
--------,," ".-- .. - ." .."--,,"-"
AIHOMATIC..."_._...._...
1

John: No, it's ahh, were gonna wait cause ah we don't want it to look like anything,
anything, a reward for anything.

Kiley: That's fucked up man.

John: Yeah, well no I mean, that's, we talked about it and I mean it's pretty much I been
told it's a forgone conclusion it's just. Yeah.

The conversation then turns to the party to raise money to bail Kiley out ofjail.

....., ,
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Detective/Officer: L. Skelton #4953 Allencv: Arizona DPS
SuperviSor: R Milam #3950 DR#: 2010-039100 Date: 12-19-2011

Suspects: Michael Koepke
Crime: Agg. Assault I Gang Related:J:><;J

Narrative: .

This is a supplemental report to Yavapai County Sheriffs Office report number 2010-030743
authored hy Detective D. Zavos.

On August 19, 2011 Chino Valley Police Officer C. Cousins #22, arrested Arizona Nomads Hells
Angels memher Warren Spence Kuntz, DOB 7-17-1951 for DUL During the arrest, Chino Valley
Police Officer B. Frost #25 located various Hells Angels related gang notes and made photo copies of
them, all are allached.

On Augnst 26, 2011 Department of Public Safety Sergeant R. Milam #3950, met with Chino Valley
Police Officers and obtained a copy of the gang notes obtained by Chino Valley Police Officer Frost
during the arrest ofKuntz.

On approximately August 31, 2011, Sergeant R. Milam provided me, Arizona Department of Puhlic
Safety Detective L Skelton with a copy ofthe notes to review. Due to a temporary assignment Iwas
unable to review the documents 1.U1.l::i1 November 29. 2011. Once I reviewed the notes I found them to
provide valuable infonnation related to the ongoing formal structure of the HeUs Angels Nomads
Chapter gang which included members of the gang which were involved in the assault on the Vagos
motorcycle gang.

Some ofthe infonnation noted is:

A document dated 9-30-I0 the Arizona Hells Angles Nomads are requesting that members of the
Hells Angels gang in the United States, members and prospects, be required to pay a $250.00
assessment to help with the legal fees associated with various ongoing attorney fees for separate
criminal charges the Arizona Nomad. members have been charged with. The document didn't indicate
if the motion had passed or failed, however~ it provides insight how the Hells Angels function as an
ongoing fonnal gang with nationwide and worldwide structure.

Notes specific to the Arizona Hells Angels Nomads gang indicated members, whether on court
ordered non-association or not, continue to communicate with members of the Hells Angels Nomads.
For example, the gang ledger indicated that Michael "Mike" Koepke, Larry "Scotty" Scott, Bruce
Schweigert, Kevin Christensen, and Kiley "Kyle" Hill continued to pay their Hells Angels gang dues
on the following dates, 11-6-10, 11-13-10, 11-20-10, 11-27-10, 12-4-10, 12-11-10, 12-18-10, 12-25-
10, I-I-II, J-8-11, 1-15-11, 1-22-11, 1-29-11,2-5-11,2-12-1 I, 2-19-11,2-25-11, 3-4-11, 3-11-11, 3-
18-I I, 3-25-1 1,4-2-1 I, 4-15-1 1,4-22-1 1,4-29-1 I, 5-6-1 I, 5-13-1 1,5-20-1 I, 5-27-1 1,6-3-11, 6-10-
I1,6-17-11,6-25-11,7-2-11,7-8-11,7-17-11,7-24-11,7-28-1 1,8-6-1 1,8-13-1 I and 8-20-1 I. These
dates are after the court imposed non-association restriction applied to each member unless their ,..-"--'\...
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attorneys are present

Further, the gang ledger indicates that on 7-8-11 Kevin (Christensen) makes member and Scotty
(Larry Scott) 3-11-11 made member. Both are presumed to be Uvoted in" on those dates which
coincide with the list ofdates above for club meetings where members paid their gang dues.

Also found is the "AZ NOMADS BI-LAWS" which indicate they were updated April 2009, older
Hells Angels gang phone list, Hells Angels Motorcycle Corporation Corporate Property Agreement,
2007 Upcoming Events List, Project 8l.oet logon infonnation and passwords, nul dates, Hells Angels
Motorcycle Club Application, hang around infonnation, photocopies afU.S. currency and a document
on "Prospecting" all ofwhich provide information and insight into the ongoing fannal gang
association of the Arizona Hells Angels Nomads.

L. s rLw;u

Detective L Skelton #4953
Arizona DPS/GIITEM

R-;;;ol't submittedbVT Deteetille/Offlcel': L Skelton
Of/lll! ArjzOlru Stille Gallo Task Force iGllTEM Gt1ll0 & lmmioration Illtellio(!lIce Team Enforcement Mission
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IN 'fHE &RIOR COUIlI" OF THE STATE OF AloNA

NO.: P1300CR201000968

NO" P130OCR201000969

NO.: PI3COCR201000970

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF YAVAPAI ....Jl:.!:Ik~~~~M

INDICTMENT DEC' 1 1010

aY~

STATE OFAR/ZONA.
Plainffff.

vs.

JOHN ANTHONY BERNARD,

KEVIN EUGENE CHRISTENSEN,

KILEY STEVEN HILL,

(

MICHAEL TREVOR KOEPKE. AND

LARRY DEAN SCOTT, JR"

ROBEIlI" EDWARD KITTREDGE, AND

BRUCE ANDREW SCHWEIGERT. SR"

NO.: P130OCR201000971

NO,; PI300CR201 000972

NO,: P1300cR201000976

NO,: P1300CR20l 000977

The Grand Jurors of Yavapai County. Arizona. accuse JOHN ANTHONY
BERNARD, KEVIN EUGENE CHRISTENSEN, KILEY STEVEN HIll, MICHAEL TREVOR
KOEPKE, LARRY DEAN SCOTT, JR.. ROBEIlI" EDWARD KITTREDGE, AND BRUCE
ANDREW SCHWEIGERT, SR., charging thaf in Presco1t Precinct. Yavapai County.
Arizona:

(
Defendants, Grand Jury No, 160-GJ-17651

COUNT I

On or abouf August 21. 2010. JOHN ANTHONY BERNARD, KEVIN EUGENE
CHRISTENSEN, KILEY STEVEN Hill, MICHAEL TREVOR KOEPKE. AND LARRY DEAN
SCOTT, JR., usIng a deadly weapon or dangerous Instrument. to-wlt: a firearm.
Intenffonally. knowingly or recklessly caused physlcol Injury to Robert Blankenship.
In vloloffon of A.R.S, §§ 13-1204(A). 13-1203. 13-704. 13-301. 13-302. and 13-303. a
class 3felony,

c;oUNTIl

On Or about August 21. 2010. JOHN ANl'HONY BERNARD, KEVIN EUGENE
CHRISTENSEN, KIlEY STEVEN HIll, MICHAEL TREVOR KOEPKE, AND LARRY DEAN

• SCOTT, JR., using a deadly weapon or dangerous instrument. to-wll: a firearm.
in1entlonally. knowingly or recklessly caused physical Injury to Ruben Lo~ in
vIalatfon of A.R,5, §§ 13-1204(A), 13-1203. 13-704. 13-301. 13-302. and 13-303. a
class 3felony.

CONn!i!UED ON NEXT PAGE
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( COUNT III

On or about August 21. 2010, JOHN ANTHONY BERNARD, KEVIN EUGENE
CHRISTENSEN, KILEY STEVEN HILL, MICHAEL TREVOR KOEPKE, AND LARRY DEAN
soon, JR" using a deadly weapon or dangerous InstnJment, to-wij: a fiream
In1en11onally placed Robert Blarl<enshlp in reasonable apprehension of imminent
physical Injury, In vlolallon of A.R.S, §§ 13-1204(A), 13-1203, 13-704, 13-301, 13-302,
and 13-303, a closs 3 felony.

COUNT IV

On or about August 2i, 2010, JOHN ANTHONY BERNARD, KEVIN EUGENE
CHRISTENSEN, KlLEY SlEVEN HILL. MICHAEL TREVOR KOEPKE, AND LARRY DEAN
scon, JR., using a deadly weapon or dangerous InstnJment to-wij: a firearm,
Infenflonally placed Ruben Lopez In reasonable apprehension of Imminent
physical Injury, In vlolaflon of AR,S. §§ 13-1204(A), 13-1203, 13-704, 13-301, 13-302,
and 13-303, a closs 3 felony,

COUNT V

On or about August 21. 2010. JOHN ANTHONY BERNARD, KEVIN EUGENE
CHRISTENSEN. KILEY STEVEN HILL. MICHAEL TREVOR KOEPKE, AND LARRY DEAN
scon, JR., using a deadly weapon or dangerous Instrument to-wll: a firearm,
In1entlonally placed Daniel UrquUla in reasonable apprehension of imminent
physical injury, In vIolaflon of AR.s. §§ 13-1204(A), 13-1203. 13-704, 13-301, 13-302­
and 13-303, a class 3 felony,

COUNT VI

On or about August 21. 2010, JOHN ANTHONY BERNARD, KEVIN EUGENE
CHRISTENSEN, KILEY STEVEN HILL, MICHAEL TREVOR KOEPKE. AND LARRY DEAN
scon, JR., using a deadly weapon or dangerous Instrument to·wll: a firearm,
Intenflonally piaced Jeanine Urquilla In reasonable apprehension of imminent
physical if1jury. In vlolaflon of A,R,S, §§ 13-1204(A), 13-1203, 13·704, 13-301, 13-3lJ2,
and 13-303. a class 3 felony,

COUNT VII

On or about August 21, 201 0, JOHN ANTHONY BERNARD, KEVIN EUGENE
CHRISTENSEN, KILEY STEVEN HILL, MICHAEL TREVOR KOEPKE, AND LARRY DEAN
scon, JR., using a deadiy weapon or dangerous InstnJment, to-wit: a firearm,
in1enflonally placed Aurelio Figueroa In reasonable apprehension of Imminent
physical InJury, In vlolaflon of AR,S, §§ 13-1204(A), 13-1203, 13-704. 13-301, 13-302­
and 13-303, a class 3 felony,

CONTINUED ON NEXf PAGE
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IN THE SECOND mDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF WASHOE

6

7 THE STATE OF NEVADA,

8 Plaintiff,
vs.

9

10

11

CESAR VILLAGRANA, and
ERNESTO MANUEL GONZALEZ,

Defendants.

Case No. CR11-1718NB

Dept. No.4

12 /

13 ORDER

14 On February 24, 2012, Defendant Emesto Manuel Gonzalez (hereinafter, "Gonzalez")

15 filed Motion to Dismiss Indictment or in the Alternative Petitionjor Writ ofHabeas Corpus. The

16 State of Nevada (hereinafter, "the State") filed Opposition to Defendant Gonzalez's Motion to

17 Dismiss/ Petition/or Writ a/Habeas Corpus on March 5, 2012. The Court heard oral argument

18 on the matter on the dates requested by co~nsel: June 14, 2012 and July 13,2012. J The matter is

19 now before the Court for review.

20 On ?v1arch 5,2012, Defendfint Cesar Villagrana (hereinafter, "Villagrana") filed Petition

21 for Writ of Habeas Corpus ("Original Petition"). The State filed Opposition to Defendant

22 Villagrana's Petition/or Writ ofHabeas Corpus on May 4) 2012.2 On June 7, 2012, Villagrana

23

24

25

26

27

28

At the conclusion of the July 13,2012 Hearing, the Court allowed Gonzalez to file a supplemental petition
based on the parties' stipulation regarding Villagrana's Motion to Compel Dfscovery of Transcript OfHearing to
Withhold Marcum Notice and Other Documents Related 10 that Hearing, which Gonzalez had joined. Gonzalez did
not me a supplemental petition.
1 The Court notes that On May 29, 2012, Gonzalez filed Motion to Parlially Join in Co-Defendant Cesar
Villagrana's Writ ofHabeas Corpus and MoJion to Compel. On June 11, 2012, Gonzalez ftled Motlon to Join the
Balance of Co~Defendan{Cesar Villagrana's Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus. The State filed Opposition to
Defendant Gonzalez's Motion to Partially Join in Co-Defendam Cesar Villagrana's Writ of Habeas Corpus and
Motion to Compel on June 14,2012. The same day, Gonzalez filed Reply to Opposition to Defendant's Motion to
Partially Join in Co-Defendant Cesar Villagrana's Petition/or Writ ofHabeas Corpus andMotion (0 Compel.



1 filed Defendant Cesar Villagrana's Supplement to Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus

2 ("Supplemental Petition"). The State filed Opposition to Defendant Villagrana's Supplement to

3 Petitionfor Writ of Habeas Corpus on June 11,2012. The Court heard oral argument on the

4 matter on the dates requested by counsel: June 14, 2012 and July 13,2012.3 On August 3, 2012,

S Villagrana filed Defendant Villagrana's Second Supplement to Petition for Writ of Habeas

6 Corpus ("Second Supplemental Petition''). On August 10, 2012, the State filed Opposition to

7 Defendant Villagrana's Second Supplement to Petition for Writ a/Habeas Corpus. The matter is

8 now before the Court for review.

9 NRS 34.360 provides that "[e]very person who is unlawfully committed, detained,

10 confined or restrained of his or her liberty, under any pretense what[so]ever, may prosecute a

11 writ of habeas corpus to inquire into the cause of such imprisonment or restraint." The party

12 seeking relief may prosecute a writ of habeas corpus prior to trial. See NRS 34.700, 34.710.

13

14

I. Villagrana's Original Petition, Supplemental Petition and Second Supplemental
Petition

15 In Villagrana's Original Petition he asserts six grounds for relief. First, Villagrana argues

16 that the Marcum Notice 'Was improperly withheld. Second, Villagrana argues that the State did

17 not instruct the Grand Jury on self-defense. Third, Villagrana argues that the structure of the

18 indictment violates NRS 172.095(2). Villagrana also argues that the State committed other

19 instructional errors at the Grand Jury proceeding, in violation of NRS 172.05(2). Fourth,

20 Villagrana argues that the testimony of Jorge Gil-Blanco was inadmissible before the Grand Jury

21 because he is not an expert. Villagrana also asserts that the State impennissibly referred to Jorge

22 Gil-Blanco as an expert and that his testimony went beyond the permissible scope. Fifth,

23 Villagrana argues that the State failed to present sufficient evidence of the gang enhancement,

24 the charge of battery with a deadly weapon, and discharging a firearm in a structure.

25 Additionally, Villagrana asserts that there are duplicative counts in the indictment and that the

26

27

28

At the conclusion of the July 13, 2012 Hearing, the Court also allowed Villagrana to file a Sllpplemental
petition based on the parties' stipulation regarding his Motion to Compel Discovery of Transcript of Hearing to
Withhold Marcum Notice and Other Documents Related to that Hearing.

2



I State failed to properly instruct on specific intent and the definition of concealed. Sixth,

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

Villagrana argues that the combination of inadmissible, secondary, and inflarrunatory evidence,

and the improper instruction to the Grand Jury constituted cumulative error which irreparably

impaired the Grand Jury function. In the Supplemental Petition, Villagrana alleges a seventh

ground for relief. Villagrana argues that the State failed to present exculpatory evidence to the

Grand Jury~ In Villagrana's Second Supplemental Petition he supplements his arguments with

respect to the first ground in his Original Petition, relating to the Marcum Notice issue, but he

does not allege any additional grounds for relief.

The State asserts that Villagrana's Writ must be denied in its entirety. The State argues

that the Marcum Notice was properly withheld pursuant to NRS 172.241(3)(b). The State asserts

that it is required to instruct the Grand Jury on the elements of the crimes charged, not on the

law, as many of Villagrana's claims imply. The State argues that the indictment itself is legally

sufficient. Additionally, the State argues that it did not fail to present exculpatory evidence

because the evidence relied on by Villagrana was learned of after the Grand Jury proceeding and

it is not exculpatory as to Villagrana.

A. The Arguments Contained in Ground II for Relief, as well as the Arguments
from Ground III and Ground V Regarding the State's Failure to Instruct the
Grand Jury

NRS 172.095(1) provides, among other things, that "the court shalL .. [g]ive the grand

jury such information as required by law and any other information it deems proper regarding

their duties and any charges for public offices returned to the court or likely to come before the

21 grand jury." NRS 172.095(1)(a). "Before seeking an indictment, or series of similar

22 indictments, the district attorney shall infonn the grand jurors of the specific elements of any

23 public offense which they may consider as the basis of the indictment or indictments." NRS

24 172.095(2).

25 Villagrana argues in Ground II of his Original Petition that the State was required to

26 instruct the Grand Jury on self-defense. Additionally, Villagrana argues in Ground V that the

27 State was required to instruct on specific intent for the gang enhancement and the definition of

28
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1 concealed for Count 6 of the Indictment. The Court disagrees, The Court finds that none of the

2 cases cited by Villagrana impose a duty on the State to instruct the Grand Jury as he argues. In

3 fact, the Nevada Supreme ColUt has held that the prosecuting attorney is not required to instruct

4 the grand jury on the law. Schuster v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court ex reI. County of Clark, 123

5 Nev. 189, 192 (2007) ("This court has further held that 'it is not mandatory for the prosecuting

6 attorney to instruct the grand jury on the law"') (citing Hyler v. Sheriff, 93 Nev. 561,564 (1977);

7 Phillips v, Sheriff, 93 Nev, 309, 311-12 (1977)).

8 Further, l\TRS 172.095(2) only imposes a duty on the State to instruct the Grand Jury on

9 the specific elements of the public offenses to support the Indictment. Villagrana does not

10 contend, nor can the Court find based on the record, that the State failed to instruct the Grand

11 Jury on the specific elements of the offenses charged. Because NRS 172.095(2) only required

12 the State to instruct the Grand Jury on the elements of the offenses to support the indictment

13 against Villagrana, and because the traditional role of a grand jury is as an investigative and

14 accusatory body, rather than an adjudicative one, the Court finds that Ground II. as well as the

15 allegations contalued in Ground V concerning instructions to the Grand Jury fail to state a basis

16 for relief. See Schuster, 123 Nev. at 193 ("our statutes and case law addressing grand juries

17 generally reflect the historical view that they are investigative and accusatory bodies, rather than

18 adjudicatory ones"); id. at 194 (noting that the Court has previously "expressed an unwillingness

19 to expand the rights of grand jury targets beyond those explicitly provided by statute or

20 constitutionally required").

21 With respect to Ground Ill, Villagrana argues that the State did not correctly instruct the

22 Grand Jury on the necessity of determining probable cause for the factual components of aiding

23 and abetting. Villagrana argues that the State did not instruct the Grand Jury that for Count 2

24 Villagrana must have aided and abetted with the intention that the crime be conunitted,

25 Additionally, Villagrana argues that the Grand Jury was improperly instructed on vicarious

26 liability as an aider and abettor in relation to Count 10. Based on the discussion above, the Court

27 fmds that State was not required to provide the Grand Jury with instructions on aiding and

28
4



I abetting. See Schuster, 123 Nev. at 192, 194; NRS 172.095(2). Because the State did provide an

2 instruction on aiding and abetting the Court will address Villagrana's argument that the language

3 used by the State in the instruction on principal liability as an aider and abettor was a complete

4 misstatement of the law. The Court finds that Villagrana's argument is without merit because

5 the exact language challenged by Villagrana, as well .as the other language used in the

6 instruction, is contained in NRS 195.020. Therefore, the Court finds that the arguments in

7 Ground ill regarding the State's duty to instruct the Grand Jury fail to state a basis for relief.
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B. The Remaining Arguments Contained in Ground III and the Arguments in
Ground V Regarding Duplicative Counts

Villagrana makes a number of different arguments under Ground III, thus, the Court will

address each in tum. The Court will first address Villagrana's argument that Count 2 and Count

10 of the indictment are defective because they are only supported by generic factual allegations.

To support his argument, Villagrana relies on the finding in State v. Hancock that an indictment

that lumps multiple defendants together with multiple acts "is very difficult to decipher who is

alleged to have done what" and is defective. See 114 Nev. 161, 165 (1998). Villagrana asserts

that none of the allegations apply to him in Count 2 and Count 10, thus, he argues they fail to

state a basis for I1ability. Villagrana does not provide any explanation for his assertion that the

allegations contained in Count 2 and Count 10 do not apply to him. The Court fmds that

Villagrana's conculsitory statement is without merit because both Count 2 and Count 10

specifically name him and provide factual allegations against him, which include the elements of

the offense charged. See Stale v. Hancock, 114 Nev, 161, 164 (1998); NRS 173.075(1).

With respect to Villagrana's reliance on Hancock, the Court finds that the instant case is

distinguishable. In Hancock, the Court affinned the district court's dismissal of the indictment,

and found that the indictment contained indefinite charges, it was difficult to decipher who was

alleged to have done what, and each count was defective because it failed to cite what particular

provisions of NRS 207.400 the respondents conspired to violate. Id. at 165-167. While the

indictment names Villagrana, as well as Gary Stuart Rudnick, Jeffrey Pettigrew, and Gonzalez in

ColUlt 2 and CmD1t 10, the Court finds that, unlike Hancock, it is clear what acts Villagrana
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allegedly committed and the theory, or theories, of liability that support each Count. See id. The

Court finds that the allegations contained in Count 2 and Count 10 are sufficient to apprise

Villagrana of the allegations against him; thus, the Indictment is not deficient as Villagrana has

alleged. See id. at 164 (noting that the United State's Supreme Court has held that an indictment

is deficient unless it "sufficiently apprises the defendant of what he must be prepared to meet").

The Court next considers Villagrana's argument that there is no probable cause for C01Ult

2 of the Indictrnent.4 Villagrana argues that there are no allegations or evidence that he agreed

with Gonzalez to engage in a fight and the death of Jeffrey Pettigrew resulted from their previous

agreement to fight, as required lUlder NRS 200.450 and NRS 200.410.5 Villagrana urges the

Court to read NRS 200.410 and NRS 200,450 together. Villagrana asserts that pursuant to the

statutes the person doing the killing must have previously agreed to fight with the deceased in

order to be charged under NRS 200.450.

Villagrana is charged in Count 2 with a challenge to fight resulting in death with the use

ofa deadly weapon, a violation ofNRS 200.450, 200.010, 200.030,193.165,199.480,195.020,

and 193.168. NRS 200.450 is entitled '"[c]hallenges to fight; penalties" and provides, in its

entirety:

1. If a person, upon previous concert and agreement, fights with any other person or
gives, sends or authorizes any other person to give or send a challenge verbally or in
writing to fight any other perso~ the person giving, sending or accepting the
challenge to fight any other person shall be punished:

(a) If the fight does not involve the use of a deadly weapon, for a gross
misdemeanor; or

Count 2 alleges, among other things, that Villagrana and the other named Defendants were responsible
directly for the challenge to fight resulting in death, had the intent 10 commit or accept a challenge 10 fight and
conspired with each olher to commit the offense, or had the intent to commit the crime challenge to fight and
completed the offense by aiding. and abetting each other directly or indirectly. While Villagrana refers to probable
cause, the Court finds that be actually does not challenge the sufficiency of the evidence to support Count 2 under an
agency theory or the other theories presented by the State. Villagrana does not cite to legal authorities or the record
to support his C{Inclusitory statements that there was not probable cause to support Count 2. Further, the Court notes
that Villagrana does not chaUenge the sufficiency of the evidence presented to the Grand Jury on Count2 in Ground
V of his Writ, which is entitled "Sufficiency of the Evidence". Because Villagrana's arguments focus on the
interpretation of NRS 200.450, and because his argument focuses on the statutory basis for charging him under
Count 2, the Court finds that his arguments go to whether the State improperly charged him under the statutory
scheme, not to challenge the Grand Jury's probable cause determination.
~ Villagrana also argues that Count 2 of the Indictment is based on a faulty legal premise because the Grund
Jury was not instructed on vicarious liability or aiding and abetting related to that Count. However, as discussed
above, the State is not required to instruct on anything more than the elements of the offenses, not on theories of
liability. See Schuster, 123 Nev. at 192, 194; NRS 172_095(2); supra pp. 3-5.
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(b) If the fight involves the use of a deadly weapon, for a category B felony
by imprisonment in the state prison for a minimwn term ofnot less than 1
year and a maximum term of not more than 6 years, and may be further
punished by a fme of not more than $5,000.

2. A person who acts for another in giving, sending, or accepting, either verbally or in
writing, a challenge to fight any other person shall be punished:

(a) If the fight does not involve the use of a deadly weapon, for a gross
misdemeanor; or

(b) If the fight involves the use of a deadly weapon, for a category B felony
by imprisonment in the state prison for a minimum term of not less than 1
year and a maximum term of not more than 6 years, and may be further
punished by a fine ofnot more than $5,000.

3. Should death ensue to a person in such a fight, or should a person die from any
injuries received in such a fight, the person causing or having any agency in causing
the death, either by fighting or by giving or sending for himself or herself or for any
other person, or in receiving for himself or herself or for any other person, the
challenge to fight, is guilty of murder in the first degree which is a category A felony
and shall be punished as provided in subsection 4 ofNRS 200.030.

NRS 200.030(4) is the penalty section for a person convicted of murder in the first degree and

provides that it is a category A felony, which shall be punished by death or imprisonment in the

state prison for life with, or without, the possibility of parole, or for a definite term of 50 years.

NRS 200.030(4)(a)-(b).

"Statutes should be given their plain meaning and 'must be construed as a whole and not

be read in a way that would render words or phrases superfluous or make a provision nugatory. '"

Butler v. State, 120 Nev. 879, 892·93 (2004) (quoting Charlie Bro'Wll Constr. Co. v. Boulder

Q!y, 106 Nev. 497, 502 (1990»). It is presumed that every word, phrase, and provision of a

statute has a meaning. Id. at 893 (citation omitted). Only when the plain meaning of a statute is

ambiguous should the court look beyond the language to consider its meaning in light of its

spirit, subject matter, and public policy. Id. (citing Zabeti v. State, 120 Nev. 530, 534 (2004);

21 Moore v. State, 117 Nev. 659, 661 (2001)). "In addition, ambiguities in criminal liability

22 statutes must be liberally construed in favor of the accused." Zabeti, 120 Nev. at 534 (citations

23 omitted). NRS 200.450(3) provides that "the person causing or having any agency in causing

24 the death ... is guilty of murder in the first degree ...." See NRS 200.450(3) (emphasis added).

25 After review ofNRS 200.450, the Court finds that NRS 200.450 is unambiguous.6 Thus,

26

27

28

6 The Court notes that even though Villagrana urges the Court to read NRS 200.450 in a particular way based
on NRS 200.410 and the Nevada Supreme Court's interpretation of the prior challenge to fight statute, Villagrana
never specifically asserts that NRS 200.450 is ambiguous.
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the Court will give NRS 200.450 its plain meaning when addressing Villagrana's argmnents.

Here, Villagrana urges the Court to read NRS 200.450 together with NRS 200.410, a crime not

charged in the Indictment, even though NRS 200.450 provides the elements and penalties of a

challenge to fight and does not internally refer to NRS 200.410. If the Court construes NRS

200.450 in the manner argued by Villagrana., it would render the language in subsection 3,

specifically. that the person having any agency in causing the death is guilty of murder in the

first degree, meaningless. See NRS 200.450(3). Because NRS 200.450 is not ambiguous, and

because NRS 200.450(3) allows a person having any agency in causing the death of another by

way of a challenge to fight to be held accountable for their actions, the Court finds that, contrary

to Villagrana's assertion, he did not have to agree with Gonzalez to engage in a fight resulting in

the death of Jeffrey Pettigrew in order to be charged under NRS 200.450. Therefore, the Court

finds that Villagrana' 5 "probable cause" argument with respect to Count 2 fails to state a basis

for relief. 7

The Court next considers Villagrana's argument that COWlt 1, 2, and 10 illegally charge

conspiracy to conspire. 8 With respect to Count 2, Villagrana argues that a challenge to fight

The Court fmds that to the extent that Villagrana did attempt to challenge the sufficiency of the evidence
for Count 2 he failed to meet his burden. The Court fmds that the evidence presented before the Grand Jury is
sufficient to support a probable cause finding by the Grand Jury. See Sheriff. Washoe County v, Miley, 99 Nev.
377, 379 (1983) (noting that the fmding of probable cause to support an indictment may be based on "slight, even
'marginal' evidence... because it does not involve a detennination of the guilt or intlocence of an accused") (citation
omitted).
~ The Court notes that Villagrana's argument is premised on the assertion that Nevada law does not allow for
a defendant to be charged with a conspiracy to conspire. However, Villagrana does not provide any authority to
support his proposition. The only authority cited by VlIlagrana relates to each charged offense, but the authority
does not support Villagrana's proposition. In opposition, the State responded by assuming that Villagrana was
raising a Warton Rule argument. During oral argument, Villagrana noted that he did not intend to make a Warton
Rule argument.

Even if Villagrana had intended to make a Warton Rule argument, the Court fmds that the charges in this
case do not satisfy the classic requirements ofWmon's Rule offenses as described by the United States Supreme
Court in Iannelli Y. u.s" See 420 U.s. 770, 782·83 (1975) (rwiling that the classic Warton's Rule offenses are
characterized by three factors: (l)"the parties to the agreement are the only persons who participate in the
conunission of the substantive offense, (2) "the immediate consequences of the crime rest on the parties themselves
rather than on society at large". and (3) ''the agreement that attends the substantive offense does not appear likely to
pose the distinct kinds of threats to society that the law of conspiracy seeks to advert"). While Count 1 is the only
count that specifically charges conspiracy, Count 2 alleges a conspiracy as one of the theories of liability. Count 10
relies on an accomplice liability theory and does not deal with conspiracy. Thus, the Court will consider the Warton
Rule only as to Counts 1 and 2. The Court finds that none of the factors of classic Warton Rule offenses are present­
in the charges in this case, but of particular importance to the Court in its consideration are the second and third
factors. See id. The U.S. Supreme Court has explained that in most cases tbere is a separate punisbment for
consplrllC}' to do an act and for the subsequent accomplishment ofthe act because conspiracy poses dlstinct dangers

8



1 requires an agreement between two people to engage in the fight, and there is no allegation that

2 Villagrana did that. With respect to Count 1 Villagrana argues that the language of an affray

3 requires an agreement to fight and that Villagrana is essentially charged with making an

4 agreement to have an agreement to fight. Villagrana argues that Count lOis not valid under

5 Nevada law because the theory that a person can aid and abet someone in reaching an agreement

6 to fight in a public place does not make senSe.

7 As previously noted, Count 1 is the only Count in the Indictment which specifically

8 charges conspiracy pursuant to NRS 199.480. NRS 199.480(3) provides that «whenever two or

9 more persons conspire ... (a) to commit any crime other than those set forth in subsections 1 and

10 2, and no punishment is otherwise prescribed by law.". or (g) to accomplish any criminal or

11 unlawful purpose, or to accomplish a purpose, not in itself criminal or unlawful, by criminal or

12 unlawful means, each person is guilty of a gross misdemeanor." In this case, it is alleged that

13 Villagrana conspired with his respective gang member, Jeffrey Pettigrew, and! or his co-

14 defendant Gonzalez to engage in an affray, and in furtherance of that conspiracy Villagrana shot

15 rivaI gang members. An affray is a crime pursuant to NRS 203.050. NRS 199.4BO(3) provides

16 that conspiracy exists· when two or more persons conspire to commit any crime, which by the

17 plain reading of the statute would include the crime of affiay. See NRS 199.480(3)(a). Because

18 the language of NRS 199.480(3) allows persons to conspire to commit any crime, and because

19 Villagrana has not come forward with any authority to the contrary, the Court finds that Count 1

20 ofthe Indictment is not an invalid or illegal charge under Nevada law.

21 In addition to allegations regarding direct liability, Count 2 also alleges that the

22 Defendants, including Villagrana, are vicariously liable for the crime of challenge to fight under

23 a conspiracy liability theory and! or under an accomplice liability theory. Count 10 alleges that

24 Villagrana, by way of accomplice liability, committed the crime of murder in the second degree

25

26

27

28

from those of the substantive offense. Id at 777-78 (noting that one rational is that "collective criminal agreement­
partnership in crime-presents a greater potential threat to the public than individual delicts"). The facts of the
instant case are a prime example of potential consequences and the types oftmeats to society that conspiracy seeks
to punish because the alleged violations of law were committed in a crowded casino, where many innocent
bystanders were located

9



1 with the use of a deadly weapon. The only authority that Villagrana cites to support his

2 proposition is the conspiracy statute, NRS ]99,480, and the statute for an affray, NRS 203.050.

3 However, neither statute provides, or implies, that Villagrana cannot be charged through theories

4 of vicarious liability "With a challenge to fight or murder in the second degree with the use of a

5 deadly weapon, nor has the Court found any authority to support Villagrana's arguments.

6 Therefore, the Court finds that Count 2 and Count 10 are not invalid under Nevada law.

7 Lastly, the Court considers the argument Villagrana raised in Ground V regarding

8 duplicative counts. Villagrana asserts that Counts 1, 2, and 10 violate the Double Jeopardy

9 Clause of the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution because they constitute

10 duplicative prosecution of a defendant for the same offense. Villagrana argues that the

11 allegations and burden of proof are identical in Counts 1, 2, and 10, "The Double Jeopardy

12 Clause of the United States Constitution protects defendants from multiple punishments for the

13 same offense." Salazar v. State, 119 Nev. 224, 227 (2003) (citations omitted). The Nevada

14 Supreme Court follows the test set forth by the United States Supreme Court in Bloackburger v.

15 United States. 284 U.S. 299 (1932), to detennine whether multiple convictions for the same act

16 or transaction are permissible, Id. (citations omitted). "Under this test, if the elements of one

17 offense are entirely included within the elements of a second offense, the first offense is a lesser

18 included offense and the Double Jeopardy Clause prohibits a conviction for both offenses." Id.

19 (citations and internal quotations omitted).

20 The Court begins by noting that it is not persuaded by Villagrana's argument regarding

21 the burden of proof, because the burden of proof is the same in all criminal prosecutions,9 In

22 addition, while the allegations in the Indictment revolve around the same incident, that fact alone

23 does not preclude the State from bringing multiple charges against a defendant. See id.

24

25

26

27

28

(recognizing that the State may bring multiple charges based on a single incident) (citations

omitted). In this case, the Court finds that the elements of a conspiracy to engage in an affraY,a

9 Villagrana does not cite any authority to support his proposition that the burden of proof connected with
criminal charges violates the Due Process Clause. The Court finds that Vmagrana's argument lacks merit-if
Villagrana's assertion were true, the prosecuting authority would never be able to allege more than one criminal
charge against a defendant in an indictment or infonnation_

10



I challenge to fight resulting in death with the use of a deadly weapon, and murder in the second

2 degree with the use of a deadly weapon are not entirely included in the other offenses so as to

3 violate the Double Jeopardy clause. A conspiracy to engage in an affray is not a lesser included

4 offense of a challenge to fight resulting in death with the use of a deadly weapon or murder in

5 the second degree with the use of a deadly weapon, because a finding of guilt on the conspiracy

6 to engage in an affray would not necessitate a finding of guilt on either of the other charges. See

7 NRS 199.480; NRS 203.050; NRS 200.450; NRS 200.010; NRS 200.030. Similarly, the

8 elements of a challenge to fight resulting in death with the use of a deadly weapon and murder in

9 the second degree with the use of a deadly weapon are different because murder in the second

10 degree does not include the elements of a challenge to fight-namely, that a person, upon

11 previous concert and agreement, fights with another person or gives, sends or authorizes a

12 challenge to fight to another person. See NRS 200.450; NRS 200.010; NRS 200.030. Because

13 the elements of Counts 1, 2, and 10 are not entirely included in each other, and because the

14 Double Jeopardy Clause does not necessarily prohibit multiple charges arising from the same

15 incident, the Court finds that Counts 1, 2, and lOin the Indictment do not violate the Double

16 Jeopardy Clause. See Salazar, 119 Nev. at 227. However, the Court notes that a conviction for

17 both a challenge to fight resulting in death with the use of a deadly weapon and murder in the

18 second degree with the use of a deadly weapon may be considered redundant under Nevada law.

19 Seeid.1O

20 C. The Arguments Contained in Ground IV

21 In Ground N of his Writ, Villagrana asserts that the testimony of Jorge Gil-Blanco was

ID
22

23

24

25

26

27

28

While the Nevada Supreme Court recognizes that the State may bring multiple charges based on a single
incident, it will reverse "redundant convictions that do not comport with the legislative intent." Salazar, 119 Nev. at
227 (citations omitted). "Redundancy does not, of necessity, arise when a defendant is convicted of numerous
charges arising from a single act." Id. (citation omitted). "The question is whether the material or significant part of
each charge is the same even if the offenses are not the same." Id. "[W]here a defendant is convicted of two
offenses that, as charged, punish the exact same illegal act, the convictions are redundant." Id. (citation omitted).
Villagrana does not raise the issue of redundancy of the Counts in his Petition. However, the State did note that if
Villagrana is found guilty of Count 2 lllld Count 10 then the charges should merge at sentencing. Because
Villagrana has not been convicted of both Count 2 and Count 10, and because Villagrana did not raise the issue in
his Petition, the Court fmds that the issue of redundancy is prematurely before the Court and would be more
properly dealt with in a post-verdict motion if Villagrana is convicted of both Count 2 and Count 10.
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1 inadmissible before the Grand Jury and caused prejudice. Villagrana argues that the testimony

2 was highly inflammatory and inadmIssible because it does not state a public offense. Villagrana

3 asserts that since the gang enhancement is not a separate offense it does not need to have a

4 probable cause finding before alleging the enhancement. Additionally, Villagrana argues that the

5 State impermissibly referred to Jorge Gil-Blanco as an expert. Further, Villagrana argues that

6 the testimony went beyond the permissible scope.

7 Villagrana is charged in Counts 2, 3, 4. and 10, with the criminal gang enhancement

8 pursuant to NRS 193.168. The Nevada Supreme Court has not addressed whether there must be

9 a probable cause finding by a grand jury in order for the State to seek the gang enhancement

10 pursuant to NRS 193.168. However, even though NRS 193.168(3) indicates that the section

11 does not create a separate offence. NRS 193.168(4) provides that the indictment or information

12 charging the defendant with the primary offense must allege that the primary offense was

13 "committed knowingly for the benefit of, at the direction of, or in affiliation with, a criminal

14 gang, WIth the specific intent to promote, further or assist the activities of the criminal gang" in

15 order for the trial court to impose the additional penalty under the section. NRS 193.168(4)(a).

16 Further, the Nevada Supreme Court has not found error when evidence of the deadly weapon

17 enhancement has been presented to a grand jury. See e.g. State v. Dunckhurst. 99 Nev. 696, 698

18 (1983) (reversing the district court's order granting a writ of habeas corpus and dismissal of the

19 murder charged based on the use of a deadly weapon. reasoning that the facts were sufficient to

20 establish the use of a knife in the commission of the murder). While NRS 193.168 and the

21 Nevada Statute relating to the use of a deadly weapon, NRS 193.165, are similar in that both

22 provide for additional penalties if certain cirClUllstances are present, the Court notes that NRS

23 193.165 does not require that the indictment specifically allege the deadly weapon enhancement,

24 as required in NRS 193.168(4) in relation to the criminal gang enhancement. See NRS 193.165;

25 193.168(4). Because NRS 193.168(4)(a) provides that the indictment must allege the criminal

26 gang enhancement in order for the trial court to impose the additional penalty, and because the

27 Nevada Supreme Court has not found error when evidence of deadly weapon use was presented

28
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I to a grand jmy, even when the enhancement is not required to appear in the indictment under

2 NRS 193.165, the Court finds that the State's presentation of evidence in support of the criminal

3 gang enhancement was not in error. See NRS 193.168(4); NRS 193.165; Dunckhurst, 99 Nev. at

4 698,

5 With respect to Villagrana's arguments specifically regarding Jorge Gil-Blanco, the

6 Court finds that the State's questions of Jorge Gil-Blanco were not impennissible as Villagrana

7 asserts. Here, Villagrana argues that the following two questions asked by the State, which

8 contained the word expert in them, were inadmissible and prejudicial: (1) "[hJave you testified-

9 in which courts have you testified as an expert in Hells Angels motorcycle gang cases?", and (2)

10 "[11Jave you been recognized by the courts of those jurisdictions as an expert in the fLeld of

II outlaw motorcycle gangs?" The Court disagrees. The State asked two simple questions that are

12 generally asked when a party is attempting to qualify an expert. The Court finds that the

13 questions were not inadmissible or prejudiciaI. l1 A review of the transcript of his testimony

14 indicates that the State did not attempt to bolster Jorge Gil-Blanco's crediblIity by repeatedly

15 referring to him as an expert or by instructing the Grand Jury that he was in fact an expertY

16 Further, after considering the other evidence presented before the Grand Jury in support of the

17 charges, the Court fmds that the evidence to support the criminal gang enhancement was not

18 overly prejudicial to Villagrana. Nor can the Court fInd, even assuming that there was improper

19 evidence presented to the Grand Jury through Jorge Gil-Blanca's testimony, that the outcome

20 would have been different if the evidence was not presented. See Lay, 110 Nev. at 1198-99

21 (finding that the defendant did not show sufficient prejudice to require a dismissal of the

22 indictment because the alleged improper material introduced to the grand jury concerning gang

23 activity would not have changed the outcome when the grand jury heard overwhelming evidence

24 to support a true bill). Therefore, the Court finds that Ground IV ofVilIagrana's Petition fails to

25

26

27

28

1I The Court notes that Villagrana did not provide any relevant authority to support his proposition that the
~uestions from the StlI-te were inadmissible or pn:judicial
I However, without ruling on Jorge Gil.Blanco's qualifications as an expert at this time, the Court notes that
pursuant to NRS 193.168(7) expert testimony is admissible to show particular conduct, status, and customs
indicative of crimmElI gangs in any proceeding to detennine whether the additional penalty may be imposed.

13



1 state a basis for relief. 13

2 D. The Remaining Arguments Contained in Ground V

3 The grand jury's function is to decide whether probable cause supports the indictment,

4 not to determine guilt or innocence. Sheriff, Clark County v. Burcham, 124 Nev. 1247, 1257

5 (2008) (citation omitted). The grand jury has a duty to weigh all evidence submitted to them and

6 must find probable cause to believe that an offense has been committed and that the person

7 charged committed the crime prior to indicting the accused. NRS 172.145(1); NRS 172.155(1).

8 The grand jury's "finding of probable cause may be based on slight, even 'marginal' evidence."

9 Burcham, 124 Nev. at 1258 (citations omitted). Thus, ''the State need not produce the quantum

10 of proof required to establish the guilt of the accused beyond a reasonable doubt" before the

11 grand jury. Sheriff, Washoe County v. Hodes, 96 Nev. 184, 186 (1980) (citations omitted).

12 Villagrana argues that the evidence before the Grand Jury was insufficient to establish the

13 gang enhancement, battery with a deadly weapon against Leonard Ramirez as alleged in Count 4,

14 and discharging a fireann in a structure as alleged in Count 5.14 The Court wiJI address each

15 argument in turn.

16 The Court first considers whether there was sufficient evidence to establish probable

l7 cause for Count 4: battery with a deadly weapon against Leonard Ramirez. Villagrana argues

18 that Ramirez did not testify and therefore there was not sufficient evidence for the Grand Jury to

19 find probable cause. While Ramirez did not testify at the Grand Jury, the Court finds that the

20 video surveillance as well as the testimony of CSll-31 and Officer Yeadon Sturtevant supports a

21 probable cause finding by the Grand Jury. [See Grand Jury Proceedings Trans. of Nov. 9, 2012

22 ("Grand Jury"), filed Nov. 20, 2012, pp. 102-125]. Even though Villagrana was not the only

23

24

25

26

27

28

13 To the extent that Villagrana attempts to chaJlenge Jorge Gil-Blanco's testimony under NRS 172.135(2) in
Ground IV, even though he does not cite that authority, the Court finds that it is better addressed with the allegation
thllt the gang enhancement evidence WlIS insufficient.
14 Villagrana also included a subsection for Count 6 in his briefing Teglll"ding sufficiency of the evidence.
However, the only lIrgument Villagrllllil illllde with respect to Count 6 WllS tllllt the Grand Jury WlIS not instructed as
to the stlltutOry definition of concealed. BecllUse the Court hlls already discussed the State's duty to instruct the
Grand Jury lIlld ruled on Villagrana's argument with respect to Count 6, and beclluse Villagrana does not mise any
other question regarding the sufficiency of the evidence of Count 6, the Court will not address the ffilltter See supra
pp.3-4.
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1 person observed firing a gun, the Court finds that the Grand Jury couIdmake a reasonable

2 inference that Villagrana battered Ramirez with a deadly weapon as charged in Count 4. See

3 Burcham, 124 Nev. at 1258 ("[T]he State is not required to negate all inferences which might

4 explain [the conduct of the accused], but only to present enough evidence to support a reasonable

5 inference that the accused committed the offense") (citation omitted).

6 The Court next considers whether there was sufficient evidence to support Count 5;

7 discharging a firearm in a structure. Specifically, Villagrana asserts that the State did not present

8 any evidence as required for the Grand Jury to find probable cause under this charge to show that

9 the location where the firearm was discharged has been designated by the city or county

10 ordinance as a populated area for the purpose of prohibiting the discharge of a weapon.

11 However, Detective John Patton testified to this element of the charge. [See Grand Jury, at p.

12 265: 18- 266: 2]. Specifically, Patton testified that the Nugget is located in a populated area for

13 the purpose of discharging a firearm in a structure. [See id. at p. 265:18-23]. Without any other

14 challenge on the sufficiency of evidence of Count 5, and because the Court finds that Patton's

15 testimony was at least slight or marginal evidence that the Nugget had been designated as a

16 populated area to prohibit the discharge of a weapon, the Court fmds that there was sufficient

17 evidence for the Grand Jury to find probable cause on Count 5 of the Indictment. See Burcham,

18 124 Nev. at 1258.

19 With respect to the gang enhancement under NRS 193.168, Villagrana argues that the

20 evidence to support the gang enhancement was insufficient because the State failed to show that

21 one of the common activities of the gang is engaging in criminal activity punishable as a felon,

22 other than the conduct which constitutes the primary offense. Villagrana relies on Origel-

23 Candido v. State, to support his argument that there was insufficient evidence before the grand

24 jury to find probable cause on the gang enhancement. See 114 Nev. 378, 382 (1998). However,

25 the Origel-Candido case is distinguishable because it discusses the State's burden at trial to prove

26 beyond a reasonable doubt that the gang, as one of its common activities, engages in felonies.

27 See id. (relying on NRS 193.168(6)(c), which now appears in the statutory scheme under

28
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1 subsection 8). While the definition of a "criminal gang" under NRS 193.168(8) includes that the

2 group, as one of its common activities, engages in felonies, and it is clear from Origel-Candido

3 that State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt at trial that the Hells Angels is a criminal gang

4 within the meaning ofNRS 193.168 in order for the enhancement to apply, the Court finds that

5 the requirements are not the same before a grand jury. See Hodes, 96 Nev. at 186; NRS

6 193.168(4)(a)~(b) (requiring that the indic1ment allege "that the primary offense was committed

7 knowingly for the benefit of, at the direction of, or affiliation with, a criminal gang, with the

8 specific intent to promote, further or assist the activities of the criminal gang" and that "the trier

9 of fact find that allegation to be true beyond a reasonable doubt" before the additional penalty

10 can be imposed). A review of the testimony and evidence presented before the Grand Jury,

11 particularly the video surveillance and eyewitness testimony, indicates that there was sufficient

12 evidence to support the allegations in the indictment that Villagrana committed the underlying

13 offences knowingly for the benefit of, at the direction of, or affiliation with, a criminal gang,

14 with the specific intent to promote, further, or assist the criminal gang. 15 Therefore, the Court

15 finds that Ground V ofVillagrana's Petition fails to state a basis for relief.

16 E. The Arguments Contained in Ground vn16

17 NRS 172,145(2) provides that "[i]f the district attorney is aware of any evidence which

18 will explain away the charge, the district attorney shall submit it to the grand jury." Here,

19 Villagrana argues that the State failed to present exculpatory evidence to the Grand Jury because

20 1t did not provide any evidence that there was a pre-planned attack by members of the Vagos on

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

15 During oral argument, the issue was raised as to whether the State should have instructed on the gang
enhancement NRS 172.095(2) requires the district attorney to instruct on the specific elements of any public
offense; however, NRS 193.168(3) specifically provides that it is only an additional penalty for the primary offense,
not a separate offense. Thus, the Court finds that tb.e State was not required to instruct on the gang enhancement,
even though it was permitted to present evidence on the matter to support the allegation regarding the criminal gang
activity in the Indictment.
l~ The Court notes that Ground VIl appeared in the Supplemental Petilion Villagrana filed on June 7, 2012.
Villagrana did not raise the issue of exculpatory evidence in his Original Petition. In the Supplemental Peti.tion
Villagrana relies on the additional charges filed by the StMe against Gonzalez on May 31, 2012, to support his
argument. While the Supplemental Petition was filed after the period allowed by the Court for filing his pretrial writ
for habeas corpus, the Court fmds tnat it was not a ground that Villagrana could have raised in a previous petition
because it was premised on information gained after his Original Petition was filed. See NRS 34.700(1)(a); NRS
34.710(1)(b); i¢app. 20-22. Therefore, the Court will consider the arguments raised in Villagrana's Supplemental
Petition.
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1 Jeffrey Pettigrew. Villagrana notes that the additional charges against Gonzalez filed by the

2 State on May 31, 2012, allege that Gonzalez and other members of the Vagos premeditated the

3 murder of Jeffrey Pettigrew and Gonzalez laid in wait for the opportunity to kill Jeffrey

4 Pettigrew. Villagrana argues that the infonnation is exculpatory to him and the State's failure to

5 present it to the Grand Jury requires dismissal. The State argues that it did not fail to proVide

6 exculpatory infonnation to the Grand Jury because the infonnation Villagrana relies on,

7 regarding the planned attack on Pettigrew, was not known to the State on November 9, 2011,

8 when the Grand Jury returned the Indictment. The State asserts that the infonnation was

9 provided to the District Attorney's Office on February 15, 2012, which was over three months

10 after the Grand Jury Indictment. The State also argues that the infonnation is not exculpatory

11 anyway because Jeffrey Pettigrew was not attacked before he punched Rudnick and neither

12 Villagrana nor Jeffrey Pettigrew knew about the plan,

13 Villagrana does not indicate what charge, or charges, he believes the infonnation

14 regarding the preplanned attack would be exculpatory evidence for. However, assuming without

IS deciding that the infonnation would be exculpatory, there is no question that the duty imposed by

16 NRS 172.145(2) does not apply to the State if it was not aware of the infonnation at the time of

17 the Grand Jury proceeding. In this case, the State asserts that it did not have the alleged

18 exculpatory infonnation at the time of the Grand Jury proceeding. Villagrana did not file a

19 Reply to support bis Supplemental Petition to respond to, or challenge in any way, the State's

20 assertion that the infonnation was not obtained until February 15, 2012, after the Grand Jury

21 proceeding. Nor did he come forward at oral argument to support his original proposition that

22 the State failed to present evidence that it was aware ofto explain away the charge. A review of

23 the record in the State's case against Gary Rudnick, Case No. CRll-1718C, supports the State's

24 assertion that the infonnation was not obtained until after the Grand Jury proceeding. Therefore,

25 the Court finds that the State did not fail to present exculpatory information before the Grand

26 Jury within the meaning ofNRS 172.145(2).

27 III

28
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1 F. The Arguments Contained in Ground I

2 A person whose indictment the district attorney intends to seek shall receive reasonable

3 notice of the proceedings and may testify before the grand jury, unless the court determines that

4 a<lequate cause exists to withhold notice. NRS L72.241(1)-(2). NRS 172.241(3) provides that

5 the district attorney may seek an exception to the notice requirement if the district attorney

6 determines that the notice may result in the flight of the person whose indictment is being

7 considered, endanger the life or property of other persons, or is unable to notify the person after

8 reasonable dilig'ence. The Court may order that no notice be given upon an application from the

9 district attorney if it conducts a closed hearing and makes a finding that adequate cause exists to

10 withhold the notice. NRS 172.241(4).

1 t Villagrana asserts that the Indictment should be dismissed because the Court erred in

12 granting the State's request to withhold his Marcum Notice. Villagrana argues that the State

13 failed to meet the requirements of NRS 172.241(3) and it violated his due process right to

14 receive notice and a hearing. The Court disagrees. Initially, the Court finds that Villagrana's

15 due process argmnent fails because the Nevada Supreme Court has held that in a grand jury

16 proceeding neither the defendant nor his counsel has the constitutional right to be present

17 Maiden v. State, 84 Nev. 443, 445 (1968); Gier v. Ninth Judicial Dist. Court of State afNev., In

18 and for County of Douglas, 106 Nev. 208, 212-13 (1990) (noting that the notice required byNRS

19 172.095(1)(d) and NRS 172241 is not constitutionally mandated); Gordon v. PonticeJIo, 110

20 Nev. lOIS, 1020 (1994) (noting that "the Nevada legislature has chosen to extend the right to

21 testify to grand jury targets, a grant of grace that it was not constitutionally required to make").

22 Additionally, the NRS 172.241 specifically provides that notice may be withheld if adequate

23 cause exists, thus, in Nevada the right to testify before the grand jury is conditional and limited.

24 See NRS 172.241; Gordon v. Ponticello, 110 Nev. at 1020-21 ("the exceptions to the notice

25 requirement set forth in Nevada's statute and in the ABA Model Grand Jury Act provide strong

26 evidence that the right to testify is a conditional and limited rlghf)

27 With respect whether there was adequate cause to witliliold Villagrana's notice pursuant

28
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1 to NRS 172.241, during the closed hearing the Court found, among other things, that there was a

2 potential danger to the life or property of other persons if Villagrana received notice of the Grand

3 Jury proceeding. At the dosed hearing, Peter Grimm testified that he had difficulty getting

4 witness cooperation in the matter and that on a previous local case he personally observed

5 intimidation from Hells Angel members to witnesses and jurors. [Grand Jury Trans. ("Marcum

6 Trans."), filed November 20, 2011, at pp. 35~36]. In addition to the evidence presented to'the

7 Court at the October 25, 2012 closed hearing, the facts surrounding the incident in question

8 support a finding that there was adequate cause to withhold the Marcum Notice to Villagrana-

9 such as, the fact that hand guns were carried into a crowded casino and discharged, without any

10 regard for the safety of innocent bystanders. While the evidence presented to the Grand Jury

11 seems to support that Villagrana and the other Hells Angel members focused on the Vagos

12 members during the September 23, 2012 incident, the Court finds that given the evidence of the

13 volatile nature of the two groups, how quickly the situation at the Nugget Hotel and Casino

14 escalated, and the general disregard for innocent bystanders, there was adequate cause to

15 withhold notice of the Grand Jury proceedings because it would potentially endanger lives and

16 property. See NRS 172.241(3)-(4). Moreover, the Court finds that even if Villagrana had

17 testified at the Grand Jury, there was still sufficient evidence for the Grand Jury to find probable

18 cause on the charges against him and return a true bill. Therefore, the Court finds that

19 Villagrana's first ground for relief is without merit.

20 G. The Arguments Contained in Ground VI

21 Villagrana argues that the Grand Jury function was irreparably impaired by the State's

22 presentation of inadmissible, secondary and inflammatory evidence, and misinstruction to the

23 Grand Jury on vicarious liability and self-defense,. as well as the lack of sufficient evidence to

24 support certain counts, Villagrana relies on the Nevada Supreme Court's decision in Sheriff,

25 Clark County v. Frank, to support his proposition that the cumulative errors of the State warrant

26 dismissal of the Indictment in this case. See 103 Nev. 160, 164 (1987). Because the Court has

27 not found any error on the other Grounds raised, the Court fmds that this case is distinguishable

28
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1 from Frank. See id. Therefore, the Court finds that there is no cumulative error warranting

2 dismissal ofthe Indictment in this matter. See id.

3 Additionally, "dismissal of an indictment on the basis of governmental misconduct is an

4 extreme sanction which should be infrequently utilized." Sheriff, Clark County v. Keeney, 106

5 Nev. 213, 216 (1990). The Court finds that Villagrana has not demonstrated that he suffered

6 substantial prejudice based on his allegations of impropriety related to the State's presentation

7 before the Grand Jury. See id. (noting that "[i]mplicit in the decisions of most courts

8 considering prosecutorial misconduct or basic unfairness that violates due process within the

9 grand jury proceedings is the concept that substantial prejudice to the defendant must be

10 demonstrated before the province of the independent grand jury is inVaded"), Further, like in

11 Keeney, a review of the Grand Jury record in this case, apart from the alleged prosecutorial

12 misconduct, establishes that there was sufficient evidence for the Grand Jury to find probable

13 cause on the charges against Villagrana. See id. at 220-221 (citing United States v. Riccobene,

14 451 F,2d 586 (3Td Cit. 1971) (where an abundance of competent evidence supported a finding of

15 probable cause, governmental misconduct did not invalidate the indictment because the votes of

16 the grand jurors were not necessarily based on bias resulting from the governmental

17 improprieties».

could have been raised in a prior petition, since the Marcum notice issue was known to Gonzalez

The State argues that joinder is improper because Gonzalez is essentially circumventing

the time requirements for filing his writ. The State asserts if the Court allows Gonzalez to join

Villagrana's Original Petition it would be allowing Gonzalez to raise a ground for relief that

11 As discussed more fully along with the procedural history in this matter, Gonzalez originally sought to join
the Marcum notice argument from pages 4-7 of Villagrana's Original Petition. Subsequently, Gonzalez filed his
motion to join the balance of Villagrana's Originol Petition. The State filed an opposition to Gonzalez's motion 10
join Villagrana's Marcum notice argument, but did not oppose Gonzalez's subsequent motion to join the balance of
Villagrana's Original Petition. Gonzalez did not seek to join Villagrana's Supplemental Petition or his Second
Supplement.

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

n. Gonzalez's Motions to Join Villagrana's Original Petition and Motion to Dismiss or
in the Alternative Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus

A. Gonzalez's Motions to Join Villagrana's Original Petition!?

20



1 smce November. Gonzalez asserts that the State's Opposition was not timely filed.

2 Additionally, Gonzalez argues thai the legal issues are the same between himself and his co-

3 defendant Villagrana, thus, he was already constructively joined in the arguments of Villagrana

4 before filing his fonnal motion. Further, Gonzalez argues that he has not brought a second

5 petition that raises new arguments; instead, he asserts that he is seeking to join an existing

6 petition that articulates relief that would operate as to himself and Villagrana if granted.

7 NRS 34.700(1), in relevant part, provides that a pretrial petition for a writ of habeas

8 corpus may not be considered unless the petition and all supporting documents are filed within

9 21 days after the first appearance of the accused in district court. NRS 34.700(1)(a). The district

10 court may, for good cause, extend the time to file a pretrial petition. NRS 34.700(3). "A district

11 court shall not consider any pretrial petition for habeas corpus... [b]ased on a ground which the

12 petitioner could have included as a ground for relief in any prior petition for habeas corpus or

13 other petition for extraordinary relief:' NRS 34.710(1)(b).

14 In this Case, during the December 9, 2011 Status Conference, the Court found that there

15 was good cause to extend the time for Gonzalez and Villagrana to ftle their pretrial petitions for

16 habeas corpus to 90 days from December 9, 2011. which made the deadline March 8. 2012. The

17 Court also found good cause for allowing the State 60 days to oppose the petitions. Gonzalez

18 filed his petition on February 24, 2012, and Villagrana filed his petition on March 5, 2012.

19 Gonzalez's first motion to join was filed May 29, 2012. Gonzalez's subsequent motion to join

20 was filed on June 11. 2012. If Gonzalez joined Villagrana's petition prior to March 8, 2012,

21 there would be no question regarding the character of his motion because the Court would not

22 consider a motion to join, filed prior to the deadline for filing his Petition, as a supplemental

23 petition, even if it raised new claims. Gonzalez could have joined Villagrana'S petition before

24 the deadline set by the Court; however, Gonzalez waited until over two months later to attempt

25 to join in Villagrana's petition. The Court notes that Gonzalez has not provided any rational or

26 excuse explaining his delay in filing his initial motion to join. Additionally, Gonzalez does not

27 dispute the State's assertlon that the grounds for relief were known to him prior to filing his

28
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Petition; instead, he argues that it would not be prejudicial to the State to allow his joinder. The

Court finds that Gonzalez's joinder is untimely, as it is far outside the time period set by the

Court to file his Petition, and that the joinder seeks to incorporate issues that Gonzalez eouId

have raised in the Petition he filed on February 24,2012. The statutory scheme does not give the

Court discretion to consider untimely petitions and arguments that could have been raised in a

prior petition, the statutory language is clear, the district court "may not" and "shall nof'

consider pret"rial petitions if they ate not timely filed or if they include grounds that could have

been raised in any other petition. See NRS 34.700(1)(.); NRS 34.710(1)(b). Therefore, the

Court finds that Gonzalez's motions to join must be denied. IS

B. Gonzalez's Motion to Dismiss or in the Alternative Petition for Writ of Habeas
Corpus

Gonzalez asserts that the Indictment against him must be dismissed. Gonzalez argues

that it rests on inadmissible evidence. Specifically, Gonzalez argues that the evidence provided

by CSll-67 contains broad generalizations, does not contain Infonnation regarding his

participation with the Vagos, and his association is protected by the First Amendment. Gonzalez

asserts that the infonnation presented to the Grand Jury regarding the Vagos constituted other

acts evidence, and was irrelevant and prejudicial. Gonzalez also argues that the Grand Jury

should have been clearly instructed that the other acts evidence presented by the State could not

be considered as evidence of the elements of the crimes alleged in the Indictment. Gonzalez

asserts that the State did not conform to its obligation to provide a fair and balanced presentation

to the Grand Jury in this case. Additionally, Gonzalez argues that the State did not present

exculpatory evidence to the Grand Jury. Specifically, Gonzalez asserts that the State failed to

properly advise the Grand Jury that CS 11-67 was an accomplice to the criminal activity

The Court notes that during oral argument on the Pretrial Writ's the State did not object when Gonzalez
argued points contained in Villagrana's Original Petition, but not originally contained in Gonzalez's Petition_
Additionally, the State indicated that it was its belief that Gonzalez joined in aJl the arguments of Villagrana.
Despite the apparent change in position of the State regarding Gonzalez's joinder, the Court's fmdings regarding
timeliness and prior grounds for relief does not change. Moreover, even if Gonzalez properly joined in Villagrana's
Original Petition, the Court fInds that the Court's conclusions regarding the frrst six grounds of relief would not
change if Gonzalez had asserted them, even tbough the Court's factual analysis would be slightly different to
address Gonzalez's particular circumstances. See supra pp. 2-16, 17-20.
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1 described occurring before September 2011. Gonzalez argues that the State should have advised

2 the Grand Jury that he had no criminal history with respect to any offense allegedly tied to the

3 Vagos. Further, Gonzalez argues that the presentation of the irrelevant and inadmissible

4 evidence, as well as the State's faillll'e to present exculpatory evidence to the Grand Jury, was

5 compound error warranting dismissal of the Indictment against him.19

6 The State asserts that Gonzalez's Motion to Dismiss or Writ should be denied. The State

7 argues that it properly presented evidence to the Grand Jury to support the gang enhancement as

8 it relates to Gonzalez and the Vagos. The State asserts that the evidence presented concerning

9 the Vagos is admissible under NRS 193.168 and is not other bad act evidence. The State argues

10 that evidence of the past criminal activity under NRS 193.168 must be shown as to the gang, not

11 Gonzalez. Additionally, the State asserts that Gonzalez's claims regarding exculpatory evidence

12 are vague. The State asserts that there is no requirement that the State present criminal history of

13 the grand jury target, or lack there of, or the criminal history of a grand jury witness. The State

14 also asserts that the video surveiUance video shows that Pettigrew pistol-whipped an older man

15 before Gonzalez shot him. Further, the State argues that CSIl-67's testimony does not require

16 corroboration because he never claimed to playa role in the prior crimes discussed and he was

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

In his Reply, Gonzalez raises additional arguments for the first time to support the dismissal of the
Indictment againm him, specifically, that the indictment is not plain, concise and defmite. Additionally, Gonzalez
argues that the Grand Jury were not provided appropriate instructions regarding the intent necessary to support
Count II, or on the theory of aiding and abetting, and the State did not present evidence of self·defeme. Further,
Gonzalez joins and incorporates by reference the arguments made by Villagtana in pages l7~23 of his Writ filed on
March 5, 2012, entitled "[t[here is no probable cause for Count 2 (challenge to fight) which is part ofan anti-dueling
statute". The Court initially notes that it generally does not consider arguments only raised in a reply brief. In this
case, the Court finds that NRS 34.700(1)(3) and NRS 34.710(1)(b) preclude the Court from considering Gonzalez's
arguments raised in his reply brief because they are Dew issues raised after the deadline to file his petition had
passed and they could have been rnised in his original pleading. See supra pp. 20w22.

Moreover, even if Gonzalez had properly raised the issues the Court fmds that his arguments would fail.
With respect to Gonzalez's arguments regarding the Grand Jury instructions, the Court hereby incorporates the
authority and analysis from Section I of this Order regarding the State's duty to instruct the Grand Jury. ~ supra
pp. 3~5. Additionally, the Court hereby incorporates its analysis from Section I of this Order, with respect to
whether the charging document complies with NRS 173075(1) and with respect to whether there was probable
cause to support Count 2 of the Indictment. See supra pp. 6w8. The Court finds that the State complied with the
requirements ofNRS 172.095(2) when instructing the Grund Jnry in this ease. See NRS 172.095(2); Schuster, 123
Nev, at 193-94. Additionally, the Court finds that the allegations in Counts 1,2,7,8,9, and 10 are sufficient to
apprise Gonzalez of the charges against him because they contain the date and location that the alleged actions took
place, as well as the facts and elements of the offenses charged. See Hancock, 114 Nev. at 164; NRS 173.075(1)
Further, the Cowt finds that there is at least slight or marginal evidence to support the Grand Jury's probable cause
finding with respect to Gonzalez on Count 2. See Miley, 99 Nev. at 379.

23



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

presenting expert testimony pursuant to NRS 193.] 68. The State also argues that CS11-67 is not

an accomplice within the meaning of NRS 175.291 and his own testimony shows he acted as a

peacekeeper during the incident in question.

The Court will first consider Gonzalez's argmnents relating to the gang enhancement.

The Court begins by incorporating its finding in Section I of this Order that the State properly

presented eVidence of the gang enhancement before the Grand Jury. See supra pp. 12-13.

Further, NRS 193,168(7) provides that:
In any proceeding to determine whether an additional penalty may be imposed pursuant
to this section, expert testimony is admissible to show particular conduct, status and
customs indicative ofcriminal gangs, including, but not limited to:

(a) Characteristics of person who are members of criminal gangs;
(b) Specific rivalries between criminal gangs;
(c) Common practices and operations of criminal gangs and the members ofthose

gangs;
(d) Social customs and behavior or members of criminal gangs;
(e) Terminology used by members of criminal gangs;
(f) Codes of conduct, including criminal conduct, or particular criminal gangs;

and
(g) The types of crimes that are likely to be committed by a particular criminal

gang or by criminal gangs in general.
(emphasis added)

Contrary to Gonzalez's assertions, the Court finds that the type of testimony elicited

regarding the Vagos in the Grand Jury proceeding was consistent with the type of testimony

permitted by NRS 193.168(7). To the extent that some of the gang enhancement evidence was

inadmissible before the Grand Jury, the Court finds that there was sufficient legal evidence to

support allegations in the indictment that Gonzalez committed Count 2, Count 9, and Count 10

"knowingly for the benefit of, at the direction of, or in affiliation with, a criminal gang, with the

specific mtent to promote, further or assist the activities of the criminal gang." See NRS

193.168(4)(a); Collins v, State, 113 Nev. 1177, 1182 (1997) ("regardless of the presenlatioo of

inadmissible evidence, the indictment will be sustained if there is the slightest sufficient legal

evidence") (citation omitted). Further, after considering the other eVidence presented before the

Grand Jury in support of the charges, the Court finds that the evidence to support the criminal

26 gang enhancement was not overly prejudicial to Gonzalez. The Court finds that, even if

27 inadmissible evidence was presented related to the gang enhancement, the outcome would not

28
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1 have been different without the evidence. See Lay, 110 Nev. at 1198-99. Therefore, the Court

2 finds that Gonzalez has failed to show prejudice warranting the dismissal of the indictment

3 against mm. See id.

4 With respect to Gonzalez's assertion that the State failed to present exculpatory evidence

5 related to him acting in self-defense, the Court finds that Gonzalez's argument fails. The Court

6 finds the State did not have a duty to inform the Grand Jury that Gonzalez had never been

7 convicted of any crimes because Gonzalez's previous criminal history, or lack there of, does not

8 explain away the charges before the Grand Jury within the meaning of NRS 172.145. The

9 charges in the Indictment relate to Gonzalez's conduct on September 23, 2011, at the Nugget,

10 which was observed by eyewitnesses and caught on video surveiJIance.20 Similarly, the Court

II finds that the criminal history of CS11-67 would not explain away the charges against Gonzalez.

12 The Nevada Supreme Court has previously held that prior inconsistent statements of Grand Jury

13 witnesses are not exculpatory evidence within the meaning ofNRS 172.145, See Lay v. State,

14 110 Nev. 1189, 1197·98 (1994) (reasoning that while a criminal defendant is entitled to impeach

15 a witness' credibility and testimony at trial, the fact that the witness previously contradicted

16 himself does not tend to explain away the charge, and therefore it does not make the witness'

17 first statement exculpatory within the meaning ofNRS 172.145). A similar analysis applies to

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

Gonzalez's argument regarding prior convictions ofCS11-67 because that evidence would only

be admissible to impeach CSll-67's credibility. Even assuming that CSllw67 has a criminal

conviction that would be admissible at trial, the conviction would not have any bearing on

Gonzalez's actions on the night in question or explain away the charges against rum. See id.

Because evidence regarding Gonzalez's prior criminal history and CSll-67's criminal history,

does not explain away the current charges against Gonzalez, the Court finds that the State did not

fail to present exculpatory evidence within the meaning ofNRS 172.145.

Lastly. the Court considers Gonzalez's argument that the State destroyed the

20 Gonzalez contends that the Grand Jury was not told that he shot Jeffrey Pettigrew after Jeffrey Pettigrew
pistol-whipped an older man, The Court notes that there is no requirement that the Stale present exculpatory
evidence through testimonial evidence. The Court finds that the Sfale's presentation of the video surveillance was
sufficient to meet the requirement ofNRS 172.145 with respect to Jeffrey Pettigrew's actions.

25



independence of the Orand Jury. "[D]ismissal of an indictment on the basis of governmental

2 misconduct is an extreme sanction which should be infrequently utilized." Sheriff, Clark County

3 v, Keeney, 106 Nev, 213, 216 (1990)(citation omitted), "Implicit in the decisions ofmost courts

4 addressing the prosecutorial misconduct or basic Wlfairness that violates due process within the

5 grand jury proceedings is the concept that substantial prejudice to the defendant must be

6 demonstrated before the province of the independent grand jury is invaded," Id, (citations and

7 internal quotations omitted). Because the Court has not found any errors committed by the State

8 at the Grand Jury proceeding, the Court finds that Gonzalez's argument fails, Further, even if

9 the State committed some type of error with respect to exculpatory evidence or presentation of

10 gang enhancement evidence, the Court finds that Gonzalez has not demonsttated that he suffered

11 substantial prejudice as a result. ~ iel. Further, a review of the Grand Jury record establishes

12 that. apart from the aUegations of prosecutorial error, there was substantial competent evidence

13 to establish probable cauSe to Indict Gonzalez under each Count. Id, at 220-21. Therefore, the

14 Court finds that Gonzalez's motion to dismiss or in the alternative pretrial writ must be denied.

15 Based on the forgoing, and good cause appearing,

16 IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Defendant Cesar Villagrana's Petition for Writ of

17 Habeas Corpus is DENIED,

18 IT IS HEREBY FURTHER ORDERED that Defendant Ernesto Manuel Gonzalez's

19 Motion to Partialiy JoIn in Co-Defendant Ceasar Villagrana's Writ of Habeas Corpus and

20 Motion to Compel is DENIED,"

21 IT IS HEREBY FURTHER ORDERED that Defendant Emesto Manuel Gonzalez's

22 Motion to Join the Balance of Co-Defendant Cesar Villagrana's Petition for Writ of Habeas

23 Corpus is DENIED,

24 III

25 III

26

27

28

11 .The Court's d.enial is only with respect to the portion of the Motion to Join Villagrana'S Petition for Writ of
Habeas Corpus. The Court Dotes that the Motion to Compel issue has prevIously been resolved by stipulation of the
parties at the July 3. 2012 Hearing.

26
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1 IT IS HEREBY FURmER ORDERED that Defendant Emesto Manuel GoIl71l1ez's

2 Motion to Dismiss Indictment or in the Alternative Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus is

3 DENIED.

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19
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25

26

27

28

DATED this _1"'91-'----_ day of~mtte ,2012.

(1\\rub .j~~b8~
DISTRICT JUDGE
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IN TIlE SECOND nJDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF TIlE STATE OF NEVADA IN AND

FOR THE COUNTY OF WASHOE

THE STATE OF NEVADA,
10

11

12

13

Plaintiff,

v,

ERNESTO MANUEL GONZALEZ,

CASE NO: CRll-1718B

DEPT,NO:4

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

Defendant

-----------_/

SECOND MOTION TO DISMISS

COMES NOW, the Defendant, ERNESTO MANUEL GONZALEZ, by and throngh his

attorney of record, Jeremy T. Bosler, Washoe County Public Defender, Maize Pusich, Chief

Depnty Pnblic Defender, and Biray Dogan and Christopher Frey, Depnty Public Defenders, and

hereby moves to dismiss the indictment. This motion is based upon the attached points and

authorities and any evidence and argument as may be presented at the hearing on this matter.

PROCEDURAL mSTORY AND FACTS

On September 13,2012, this court denied Mr. Gonzalez's motion to dismiss/writ

petition. The court further denied Mr. Gonzalez's motions to join the legal arguments of his co-

defendant. Order at 20-22. The denial ofMr. Gonzalez's requested joinder resulted in partial

review of Mr. Gonzalez's various challenges to the indictment.

1
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1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

Mr. Gonzalez has already moved to stay trial pending writ review in the Nevada

Supreme Court of this court's September 13, 2012, order. In his petition for extraordinary relief

in the Nevada Supreme Court, :Mr. Gonzalez expects to seek review of (1) this court's rulings

disposing of the merit'> of his contentions, (2) the denial ofjoinder, and (3) this court's

resolution afills co-defendant's legal contentions that were not reviewed as to him but which

Mr. Gonzalez should have been allowed to join.

In addition to the present Second Motion to Dismiss, Me, Gonzalez has filed a Request

for Clarification or Supplemental Order seeking a ruling on whether joinder is permitted in

support of Me. Gonzalez's original motion to dismiss. As discussed below, the court did not

rule on this issue in its September 13,2012, order.

Should the court decline to clarify or supplement its September 13,2012, order with this

ruling, and in turn decline to resolve the merits of the arguments Mr. Gonzalez sought to join,

then Me. Gonzalez would respectfully request a ruling disposing of the merits of the

contentions incorporated by reference in the present motion.

ARGUMENT

Mr. Gonzalez requests dismissal of the indictment for the legal reasons contained in his

co·defendant's Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus, which he should have been allowed to join

as requested, and which are incorporated fully herein by reference. The petition ofMr.

Gonzalez's co-defendant is attached hereto as Exhibit 1.

In its order, the court reached Mr. Gonzalez's gang enhancement, exculpatory evidence,

and cwnulative error arguments. See Order at 24-26. However, it denied Mr. Gonzalez's

motions to join his co-defendant's legal contentions on grounds that a joinder of arguments of

this nature was procedurally-barred under NRS 34.700 and NRS 34.710, which apply to pretrial

2
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23

24

25

26

writ practice, but not to motions to dismiss. See id. at 20-21; 23 n.19. The court has yet to rule

on Mr. Gonzalez's requested joinder as it relates to Mr. Gonzalez's motion to dismiss.

Even assuming the procedural bars ofNRS 34.700 and NRS 34.710 were properly

applied as to Mr. Gonzalez's writ petition, there was no similar legal prohibition or any

compelling reason to deny Mr. Gonzalez from joining his co-defendant's legal argwnents in

support afhis original motion to dismiss. Accordingly, Mr. Gonzalez has filed a Request for

Clarification or Supplemental Order seeking a ruling on whether he can join the legal

arguments ofllis co-defendant in support afhis original motion to dismiss.

Should the court clarify that joinder is pennitted in support afMr. Gonzalez's original

motion to dismiss, then Mr. Gonzalez would request that the court dispose of the merits of the

joined arguments as they relate to him. Alternatively, should the court decline to clarify or

supplement its September 13, 2012, order, or were the court to deny joinder as to his original

motion to dismiss, then Mr. Gonzalez would request that the court rule on the merits of the

contentions incorporated by reference in the present motion. I

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, Mr. Gonzalez respectfully requests that the court determine the

merits of the contentions raised by reference in his Second Motion to Dismiss in the event the

III

III

III

III

'Although the court declined to perfonn direct review of these arguments in its September 13,
2012, order as they related to Mr. Gonzalez, it nevertheless ruled alternatively on their merits.
See Order at 22 n.18, 23 n.19.
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25

26

court declines to clarify or supplement its September 13,2012, order.

AFFIRMATION PURSUANT TO NRS 239B.030

The undersigned does hereby affmn that the preceding document does not contain the

social security nwnber of any person.

DATED this 8th Day of October, 2012.

JEREMY T. BOSLER
Washoe County Public Defender

By /s/ Christopher Frey
CHRISTOPHER FREY
Deputy Public Defender

By lsi Biray Dogan
BIRAY DOGAN
Deputy Public Defender

By Is! Maizie Pusich
MAIZIE PUSICH
Chief Deputy Public Defender

4



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I, LESLIE TIBBALS, hereby certify that I am an employee of the Washoe County

Public Defender's Office, Reno, Washoe County, Nevada, and that on this date I forwarded a

true copy of the foregoing document through inter-office mail to:

Karl Hall, Deputy District Attorney
District Attorney's Office

Amos Stege, Deputy District Attorney
District Attorney's Office

9 DATED this 8th Day of October, 2012.
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26

lsi Leslie Tibbals
LESLIE TIBBALS
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INDEX TO EXHIBIT

1. Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus filed by David Z. Chesnoff, Esq.
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SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF NEVADA

2. Thot Petltione" make opplication for a Wril of HobCll!l Corpus;

Schonfeld, and pursuant to NRS 34.360 to NRS 34.710, inclu.lve "oles:

practice in Reno. Nevada;

F I LED
Elaclronlcally

03-05-2012:11 :43:40 AM
Joey Orduna Hasting,

Clerk of the Court
Transacllon # 2803025- -" ....•~-- " ... _---,

•

Plaintiff

Oefendon!.

I. Tha.t attorneys for Petitioner urt duly qWlllfied and licensed attorneys permitted to

3. Thot the legol evidence presentod ot Ihe Orand Jury was Insufllcient 10 establlsb

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

DAVID Z. CHESNOFF. ESQ.
Nev~d~ Bar No. 2292
RICHARD A. SCHONFELD. ESQ.
NeVQd~ llar No. 681 j

CHESNOFP 3< SCIIONFELD
520 South I'ounh Streel
L.. Veg••• Nev~d~ 89101
Attorneys for Petitioner
CESAR VlLLAORANA

•

COMES NOW, the Petitioner Cesar Villograna, by and through his anomey. DAVID Z.

CESAR VILLAGRANA,

v.

TO: THE HONORABLE CONNIE J. STEINHEIMER, JUDGE Of THE SECOND JtIDICIAL
DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA. IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF WASHOE;

TO: SHERIFF OF WASHOE COUNTY. MIKE HALEY AND HIS COUNSEL, DISTRICT
ATTORNEY RICHARD A, OAMMICK:

CHESNOI'F. ESQ., and RICHARD A. SCHONfELD, ESQ., of the law offico. of Cha.noff /I<

WASHOE COUNTY, NEVADA

) C..eNo. CR·II-1718· A
) Depl,4
)
)
) PETITION FOR WRIT Of HABEAS CORPUS
)
)
)
)

-----------)
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pp.,1 is

Corpus has heretofo... becn flied on \>eh,lf

notice of Ihe Orand Jury procoLodins:

n is nol decided within IS d,r.- before th.

•

N
292

. SCHONFELD, ESQ.
Neva ,Our No. 6815
520 S. Founh St.

. Las Vcgos, NV 89101
, A.ttomeY Jor Pctllio,,~r

inca the oJTcnses with which :Pe'fidorycr ($ C

senled 10 lhe Orond Jury which caused unlillr prejudice

notice or hendng. continue the t.ri~l .to such dl\tc as it

tition for Writ (I

uhmitted this 2 'JIdoy of March, 2012.

Clll!SNOFF'" SCHONFf.l,D

; ~~---

1.; Th.

det-ermine~c~[ore the date Sdllb~ trinli'Jlie

>-Coul1 othe~ise oruer'S.

}.-nilli~t Petitioners' triill is scheduled for OClob~r 'Z9. 2012 , '.in Oep'artment IV of rhe

t

•



"

,

• •
1

2

3 STATEOFNEYADA

4 COUNTY OF CLARK

AFFJPAYII <IF RICHARD A, S(;:1I0NFIlLD

)
) so:
)

5

6

7

RICHARD A. SCHONFELD. being first duly ,worn, hereby depo,e. end says:

I. Thllt Affiant is a Partner ul the Law Firm ofChesnoff &: Schonfeld and repres.ems

Cesar Villagrana. Petitioner in the Ilbove·entitled malter; thai Affiant has read the roregolns
a
9 Pl:lilion and knows the CCJnlt:nts thereof; Ihallhc same is truo ot'his own knowledge. C)(cept as. to

10 those ma1tcrs therein staled on intonTIll,lion and bc:liet~ and as 10 those matters. he helieves them to

LIC
18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

,
•

11 be: true. Further, that Petitioner hns Iluthorizcd him to make the foregoing appllcntion for relief,

~ 1291 : Further Afliant Sayelh Naught.
~ 8!; 13
r~ o •.

hiiH~:: ~~~&~~;:~~:
~ 1.1. :r z '"
~ ~ l!I §~ 116 Subscribed and Sworn La before me
~ '0 .l Ihl, W doy of March, 2012.
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M~;MORANDUM OF POINTS AND AIITHORITIES
SUPPORTING PETITION FQR WRIT OF I;IAIlEAS CORPUS

L

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On November 9, 20ll,the State prescnlcd itsc~5e to lhe Gfllnd Jury without nolice to

CC.!IUf Villugrunu~ and obtained an Indictment charging him with; I) Conspiracy to Rngage in

Affray,:n Challenge 10 Fight Resulting in Dealh with the Usc ofa Deadly Weapon. 3) Battery with

a Deadly Weapon, 4) Discharging 11 Firenrm in a Slructur"'l 5) Carrying 0 Concealed Weupon l and

6) Munier in the Second Degree. Thl;} Challenge to Iljght. Baltery llIld Second Degree Murder

charges a.lso allege a gang enhancement.

IL

t1R<lIJMENT

GlWUND I· GRAND JURY NOTICE

MARCUM NOTICE,

Mr. Villagrana was initially arre~tcd on Scplember 23, 2011, iU\d oharged by way of

Criminal Complaint in the Spark~ Justice Court. Mr, Villagrona appeared in custody with his

counsel and requcslc:d thai a n~asona.blc ball he ~et. The Court requested a wrilten Motion and Mr.

Villagrana tiled the written Motion. (n the meantime Mr. Vilhtgnulil's counsel reached B

Slipulation wilh 'he State whereby bail wa' 'el at SI50,OOO. Mr. Villagrana posted the bail and a

Preliminary Henring dole W81' sct,

There 15 no alle~alion that Mr. Villagrana violated any condition of his bail. Mr.

VlIlagmna had uppeared in Court, had an llrroignm~nl. nnd had a prclhninary hearing scheduled.

Thereafter, without nn)' notice whatsoever, Mr. Villagrana was Indicted on November 9, 20 II, and



­,
•

1

• •
a wnrrnnt Wi1~ is:;ucd. Mr. Villagrana Wll~ (l,rr~stt=d in Californill, n stipulation wallo rCll.cned

2

3 regartlioQ bllil. Mr, Villasrllna posted ball Bnd voluntarily appeured in this Honorable Court for

4 urruignm~nt,

5 Mr, Villagrnnn was entitled to notice of the ~rand jury proceedIngs pursuant to

6
MaI'cum, infra, and the denial ofthut nOlice require~ dismissal oFthe Indictment hereIn.

7

8
9 Coun hold:

In Sheriff. HlImhllldl COl/nty v, Morellm, 105 Nov, 824 (1989) the Novodo Supreme

10

11
••,

12,
:JI"~~ 13. ~"... Zf- Q ":'\110 Ill;'''

14u:t ~IJI::

~ :iih 15
~l::f;~~
j ~,~ P 16

m! ~ ~ ~x - .. III j,- 17
u~ ~

18I

19

NRS 1n095( I)(d) ond NRS I72,241(1)(d) clcIl11y give. delendonllhe right to
tcsli ry in front of u grElnd jul)' hefore he is indicted. This right would he mcanlnghl58
if 11 del'cndanl is not given nOlice thDl1I grand jury will meet and consider returning an
indictment ugnlnst him. Without Ihe righL to nOlil;c. il defendant has only two ways of
finding aul Rn indictment against him IS hcing considered. The tlrst is by accident. A
defendant's right to leshtY should not depend on luck. The second way a defendant
might I.arn of 0 grandjary proceeding ogain't him i' from the dillirietoltomey. Thi.
would givo the di:lltrict attorney tho power to infonn or not inform Ilny torget
defenaant againsl whom an indIctmont is requested. To give the district attorney :Iuch
discretion is unreasonable.

finnlly, we conclude thot gIvinG' defendant nnliee thot he is 0 tll1gel of 0 grand jwy
investigation is consistent with the policy or avoiding unnecessary tnClI,. A defendant
who has notice lhat he is the subject of Q, possible Indictment may prl:Hnt the grand
jury with evidence which exonerates him. Hence. in some- instance."1 notice to the
target defendant will eliminate lhe need for a !tiut

20
NRS t72,241 provides;

21

22

23

24

25

26

27
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RIghi of certain persons to appear berOl'tl grand juryj notice of consideralian of
indictmenti withholding af notice.

1. A pe!'S()n whose indictment tho district attorney Intend! to seek or the grnnd jury on
its own motiun InlemJ.!!. to relurn, but who has not been subpoenaed to appear beforo
the grunet jury, may testify befotD the grand Jury ifthc person requoltls (0 do so and
exeCll!cs a valid waiver in writing of the person's con~litulional privilege agHin~t self..
incrimimlLion.

2. A dlsU'ic.t attorney or a p~l1ce officer shall serve: reasonable notice upon a pctson
whose indictment is being considered by fI grand jury unle~~ the court determines that
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adcq\latc cause exists 10 withhold notice. "he- notice is udcqul:\lC ifit:

(a) Is given to the penian, the person's altomc~ of record or an altorney who clarms to
represent the person and gives the person not less than 5 judicia.l days to submit a
re4Utllil to testilY to the district attorney; and

(I» Advis<. lh< person tha' the person may losti IY before 'he grand j ul')' only If Ihe
person submits R written request to the district attomey and includes Iln address where
the di!llric-l11ttomey may send a nOli co of the dl\tel, lime and place of the ~cheduled

proceeding of the grnnd Jury.

3. The district a.ltomey mllY apply to the court lor a dctennination that adequalc cause
exi!lts 10 withhuld notice if the district aUnmcy:

(~) DClcrmincli that the nOllce may result in lhe l1ight of the person whosli: inJicmlent
iR being considered. on rhc ha5i~ of:

(1) 1\ previous failure. of the person lo appear in milltcrs arising out of the subject
mutter of the proposed Indictment;

(2) The ract that the persoll is a fugitive frollljustict:: arising from charges in another
jurisdiction;

(3) OUlstnndlng local warmnts pending against the perllon; or

(4) Any other objectiv~ fll.clor;

(b) Determines that the notice may endanger the: life or property of other persons; or

(c) f~ unuble. after reasonable diligence, to notifY the person.

4, If a district attomey applies to the court for a determlnalion thltL adequate couse
eXisis to withhold nOlice, the: court shall hold D. closed hellring on the matter. Upon a
finding of udcquQte cause, thl) court may order that no notice be given.

Accordingly, it can only be assumed thtlt tbe Stote sought on Order from tho Court

pu"u.nt to NRS 172.241 (4) and tha, 'he Court held a h.arin~ In order 10 make a detenninaUnn as

tu whether or nol cuuse c:xlsted to wilhhold Iloticc 10 c'cS£lr Vill$grana.

Defendant ViIlngl'ana has flied Q MOlioo to Unseal that hew-ing so he can llddress. Ihe!

evidence/argument presemed 10 lhe Court. Considering !hat Mr. Villagrana had nlrc:ndy appemd

in Juslict: Court. posted the agreed ligon bail, rcralned CQunsel. nnd had a preHminory h"aring doto

6



• •
1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11,,
12..01 .

~ i~~ 13
z 1,1 .. 0 "

'ol'"l"':t ,;t: 14
u ~ "c e~ ~ .
~ .., ~ e ~ 15
I~f~zi

19~~~! 16.1 ,
~I~,r 17u I

I 18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

,etthe Slate could not have legitimately argued thut Mr. Villagrana WllS' Oight ri.k, Additionally,

there is no evidence that Mr. Vlliagranu engaged in any conduct tbac would suggest that he WIlS

endangering the life or propert)' of any other person, Furthermore_ Mr. Villagrana had counsell1nd

could hove eusily been notified of the grand jury proceedings.

Accordingly, counsel Wld Mr, Villagrana Ilrc conct::mcd thl;lt lh~ notic~ was Wilhhcld

ba5ed upon rcpre~ntntions mnde by the SLate related to Mr. VillagrlUlQ's co-defendantR and not

Mr. Villugra"a. Clearly, NRS 172.241 (4) only ollow, the potenliolto withhold notice based upon

factors that are unique 10 the Defendant thut i~ being denied nollco.

Mr, Villagrana reserves lht: right to supplcmentlhis portion of his Petition for Writ of

Hllbe:48 Corp UN lift"r ~cciviJ1S a ruling on his Molion to Compel Discovery of Tronscrlpt of

H~arillg \0 Withhold Marcum Notice.

GROUND II

THE QRANQ JURY INSTRUCTIONS FAILED TO AQDRESS SELF·QEFENSr.;

The evidence presented to the 8lond jury shows that Defendant Gary uJabbers't

Rudnick, a mcmhers of the V.go, Motorcyole Club. provoked a fighl with Hell. Angels mcmbo<

JelTrey Pc-Uigrcw inside the John AscultUo'S Nugget in Sparks, Nevada. Although it appeared 10

some: Ihnl Mr. Rudnick: was initil1l1y unllcking and provoking Mr. Peuigrew, the ensuing altercBtion

erupted into what was Acluully a large-scale pRNnoditated attack by VUr&09 membel1l on Hells

Angels members. At the end of the night Mr. Pettigrew was dead.

The State', theory that the Hell!! Angels nnd the Vo.gos somehow conspired together or

aided and ubeued each olher in the commission of the fight makes no sense. The- ovidence

prC.!lcntect III the grand jury shows thUllhc Hells Angels were largely outnumbered by members of

the Vn80s club and, in any event, were friendly and congeniu.1 with Vagos mcmbcn prior to the

11Ilerellli()O. According to the Director of Security at Jolm i\SCUllgO'S Nuggel ("'Confidential SOUl'ce
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1

2
11·54"), around 10: lOin the evening, "lhere were ten to twelvQ Hells Angel~. and there were

3 maybe twenty Vagus at that point. As we were slanding there watching the groups, we h~

4 mltncrowr tHhcr Vagos wulk up to the Oysler Bar which raised tJ concern to nil OrU5.'~ OJ TS p. 55.

5 .....with Ihe number of Vagos thilt were coming to the Oyster BM, [ felt that something was oboUllO

6
transpire there, ,I OJ TS p, 57. According to one VAUgs member who was pregent durina the entlro

7
confrontation by Rudnick, other Vagos mcmhcrs attempted to control Mr. Rudnick bUI he

8

9 continued to L"Um Mr. Pettigrew throughout the night. He ICM~in('d in fronl or the grand jury as

10 tollows:

U
i 1201 •
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21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

Well, when 1walked up there wa. alol of Vago. that we... llround. And [,ook Blook
over there. and fhey both come out, and UJabbcrs" was very upset. And just kept on
tBlking, kep, on talking, kept on ,"Iking, And he kept 'aunting Palligrew,

. , , '

Pettigrew's response back 10 him was. "Hey mon, you know, J wtlS jWll having 11 good
time. I just want to have a beer," basically. He wasnll in no shape or fonn UpStl at lhe
time.

What had happen~d is that we were tlilking to reltisrew. He was cool. lIe W8!l just
saying, "Hey man, everything is good. I hove no problem." "Jabbers" comes up and
"Jabbers" then starts taunling him, You know, "You had nol right to\lchins me,"
What he mount by "touching," he just tapped him on the back, basically. You know
whD.t my insinuation WQS, he tapped him on the back. He sa.id, .IHcy. do you want to
have II beer?" "Jabbers" took it il.S an offensive thing, pu~hed oUt his chcst be-cDuse, of
COUfliC, there WlU a J(ll mare Vogos lhan there wer~ HI:lIs Angels. So he kept on
taunring. He wouldn't stop.

So I told bim, 1said, "Listen, ~hut the fuck up," Excu,!I.e my French, hut I have to lell
you the wny it went. I said, "ShUl the fuck up, Oet the fuck Qut of here." He bl\cked up
for a minute, the he cOlTle back again. I said, "1 told you to leave." Ho say~, "Hey, hey,
dun't WOrtj'. I sllid, "I told you 10 loave.1l Nuw me, in my pO::lition, he has to listen to
me. So what haplXlos is lhut Pelligrew looks al him. I am going to call him Jethro.
Jethro looks at hIm and he soys to Jethro, 'ly()U know I don't know why you had to
to\lch me. II He says, you know, "Just talk to me:' He said, "T don't need to talk to
you," this and this, whatever. Jelhro lost h. HI: got pissed off,

a
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1

2
, .. ,

For taunting him, taunting him, taunting him. He finally just said. IlListcn.1 don't
need to fucking talk to you no more," [Jethro Pettigrew} turned lU'Ound nnd walked
away.

3

4

5

6
OJTS p. 193-94.

7

B
Thi~ :iRma witness IUlcr explained that "Jabbers" Rudnick continued to taunt Mr.

9 Pcnigrew and thElt he [the witness] knew I'olle hundred percent11 that the Vngas were going to fight

10 the H.J1. Angels if the sltualion was nol diffused. GJ TS p. 200. This wilness also telilificd thai

Defendant Emesto Manucl Oonl.&lez wos present as "back up to Mr. Rudnick." OJ TS p. 195.

Dc~pi1c the cominued taunting. when members uflhe V~gu.$leadc:r:lhlp approached Mr. Pc.rugrc:w,

he c:<plained that he t.lid nol want l:my issues. OJ TS p. 20J, The taunting continued. however, and

at one polnt during the interaction, Mr, Hudnick stlll1ed putting hIs gloves on and, aa the: witness

explained, thi~ menns uthis thins is going to go off," Wld h is il "premc:di1a1ed thins." OJ TS p.

210, 213. He laler e.plains thai anolher Vagos member can be seen on the video putting his drink

down "which means he's getting prepared (to fight)." Then, the witness explains, you can see

19
tlpettisrcw and Bobhy V getting attacked &om the rear." 01 15 p. 214. AL;cording, to this witness

20
(a Vllgoli club member on the night ofthc: attack), Mr. Pettigrew then got shot four times in the

21
22 back. OJ TS p. 220. Chief Medical Examiner Ellen Clark cnnfirmed lhal Mr. Pettigrew was sholln

23 the hack. sta~ing:

24

25

26

27

So, in a~gregRtc, Ihe9c photos have shown a ((}tal of S gunshot wounds 10
Mr. Pettigrew's b0dy c:nlcring. I:lIUlc back or ~he back right side of (he
body, passing from the back oflbe body (0 tho front and exiting and/or
leaving bullel. ludged at the front of <he body.

OJ TS p. 168.
28

,
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The same Vogas club member C'Contidentiul Sour<:e 11-67") ulso testified that the

wives of Vagos members were standing off to the side during the altercation because "the husbands

lold th~m 10 move over here because :Hlm~thin8 wus going to wke place.n OJ TS p, 217, The

witness "Iso dehlill.'ld a previous violent incident between lhe: Hcll~ Angels and the VaSos,ooling

that the Vl:IBOS "provoked that one. too," OJ TS p. 224.

There WD811lso additional grand jury testimony that Vuges members were clearly

Qrchestrating ~he meh:e. even gaing so far as to encourage; luw enfor~mc"t to begin killing Hells

Angels inside rhe casino. According to Sergeant Jonn Mllrie Walsh of the Sparks Police

Department, when she entered the cLlSino durln3 the melee, Iihe went 10 an area near Trader Dicks.

She nOled that tine of the people im~iue the ,"l1sino began 1i~retuning at her about Dofcndant

Villugmna, She slall;d tha.t "[w]hcn he saw me !lce VilIagnmi:L with the gun in his hand, he Wll!!.

yelling at me, 'Kill him. Kill him. Kill him. He', rig/lllhcr'. Kill him,'" OJ TS p. 14Z. The

witn08S tcstific;:d that at that time, l<~herc was fifty Vagos in Rosie's cofc" and "there was 11 boatload

ofVilg,,~·lthcre. OJ 1'8 p, 143, She later noted that there were "hundrcdH" ofVosos in the gencml

area of the shooting. At the time they Were nil detalned,lhis same witness noted that the Hells

An8cl~ wen: "cooperatlve," and thlll it was the Vagas members who wero "physic-ally really
20

confronting" III' pollee, OJ TS p. 144.
21

n
23

Most signHicant as it relates to the sclf.defcnse Instruction is that testimony from CS

II ~3 ,. This witness tesLitied that he saw Mr. VillAgrana I:Ihooting In response 10 somebody

Okay, did ),ou see somebody shooting at him?

Yes, ~lr. I did. I cuuld no~ idenlify him, because they shot and he

turned. I am gol11g to soy he rnn, but he disnppeurcd from my view, but

10

5'J--6
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2

3

4 A.

• •
I definilely saw thal m[ln.

What color ofclolhing was lhe fellow who was shooting wearinQ'l

I remember the green Vogos patch.

5 Not only is Ihi5 .!IIgnificant for the gener,,1 self·d.efense aspccl of the case, but It

6
becomes even morc: significElnt as" result ufMr, VillagrBna heing charged in Count 3 and 4 with

7
llnllery orlwo dlrFerent alleged vietimsth.1 did nOllestify 'llhe grand jury. Accordingly. it could

8
9 very well havl3 been those two individuals shooting at Mr. ViJlgrWla when Mr, Villagrana acted In

10 sl:l rdefeme,

A review oflhe vidcCl evidence in this CU8l: clearly demonstrates that ttt the vt:ry

momefiltho! Jerrrow Pelilgrow and Mr. Rudnick began tu nSI light, several members o!'the Vogo,

started smashing bet:r houll;s over the heads of Hells Angels members that were in no way engaged

in auy sort of violent or offensive conduct l
, II WI1)J not until ofter the Vasos members u!lcd beer

O<ll1le' (doodly weopon' uoder Neveda law) to slrike defen'ole.. members of the Hell' Angle, that

Cesar VlllagflUlB is accused ol'ulilizing a firearm. Moreover, the testJmony made it clear that Mr,

Villagrana was being shot at by olleasl one Vagos member.

The tC~llmony established thul Jeffrey Pettigrow had "many lnjurle.'i that wero

distributed Iherally from his head 10 his pelvis or buttoc~ region, In parlicular. visible at the
21
22 utll:$el of lhe nutop!iy were injuries that were on the- face:, in [he area of the nose and the eya and at

23 the bridge of the nose." OJ TS p. 163. ··There Wus nn injury over the eye, injury nClI'U the nose.

24 then sllfticient injury It, the c~nter or thl:' nosc, .. thcre were injuries to the fnce that had primoril)'

25 reatur~ of sharp force trauma. There Is a possibility there rony have bl;:cn blunt trauma. also

2611--------
27 Mr', VI llugrana hereby incorporates t;he vidoo by r-oftrcnce

illld wUl pldy the viuuo for this llor'l()rabl fl Court lit th(J
28 hoarin"l on th!1,l matter.

\\
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5

6

C"ommingling. mi;ll:ed or mingled with, but lh~ majority of the wound tindinglt ilnd marsins of the

examination suggested the facinl injuries were prlmluily shorp toree... consistent with a knife" OJ

p. l64. Mr, Pettigrew's I>tlp of his nUlle. right nostril aroa (was}",almosl completely detDched from

the no,e. It was hanging by a strip ofskin on the .ide" OJ p, 165. Mr. Pelligrew had also been

shot flve limes. OJ, P. 168.

Our Supreme Court ha! held that on appropriate self·defense instruction should read:

Notwithslonding lhe ahove cvidcllcr: presented to Ihc grand jury, rhe State failed 10

udvise the grandju'1' ofself defense and the elements thereto,

27,29 (1993) (holding that in proving a aos. orbaUery. the State has the burdan ofproviog the

"['1elf-<1.1"",0 may ju.tify a homicldolfa person rea.onably helleva.that he I. In danger of being

bodily inJury is about to be inflicted upon him." See Bamne v. Slate, 109 Nev. 778. 780,858 P.2d

7

8

9

10

11

, 12
dI~ ~ ~ 13 seriously injured or killed by hi.!! RS!lnUant.'· Culvt!r.wlJ v State, 106 Nev. 487~488 (Nev. 1990).
~ iIl':'l/I
Z "Olt!

~ 0 I~ ;;; 14 Our Supreme Court has further held uri is lawful for a per~on who is being usaultod 10 defend
u:r ~ 'tl 'i'l

,~ .~ ,
~ ~ i!~; 15 himself from uttack if. as a reasonable person, he has grounds for be/lClVing and do,! beJilvt that

l~'~~!16
~ ~., l
~I'l' 17

I 18
defeodllnl did not acl in self~dercnsc).

19

20

21

The Nevada Supreme Coun hilS also ~eld thai evidence of speclnc acts showing that the

victim is Il violenl persoll are admissible for r"urposos of self-dcfcnso when the person was aware or

22 thoge acts. DOrr/el v, Stu/a 78 P.2d 890. 902 (2003). This evidence Is relevant to (he defendant's "1010'

23

24

25

26

ormfnd. I.e" whethc:r lhe derendanl's belIef 111 the need to usc force in self-d~rt:mll: wi! reasonable,

There was testimony from the Slate's WilncS:I, a high ranking nl.~mber of the Veges that

27 they had previplisly instigated violent contact wllh Ihe Hells Angels. GJ TS p. 224,

28

12
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1

2
The StDle Wl.\S required to II1~truct the grundjury nn self defense nnd failed 10 do so. The

3 need for Ihe selfdefense inslnu::liun was increased as n result of the Slate's e1eclion to withhold

4 notlee to Defendant VilleHrnna of the grand jury proceedinH'. Hod Mr. VilieHreno known of the

5 pending grand jury proceeding he would have insi:'ltcd that the presentQtion include exculpatory

6
evidence regarding self defemiC.

7

8
GROUND III.

NilS 172.095 prOVides:

Charges to be given to gmnd jury by court; district artomey 10 Inform grand jury of speciOc
~Iements of public oITcnse considered as basis ofindiclment.

9 TUE STRUCTURE OF TIlE INDllTMENT AS TO MR. ViLLAGRANA - THE LACK
QF PROIlADLE CAUSE AND INSTRUCTIQNAI, ERRORS THAT VIOLATE NBS §

10 m,09~m,

11

I. The gro.ndjury beIng impaneled and sworn, must be charged by the court. In doing .90, the coun
lihull:

(3) Give the grand jUrorH such information as is I'equired by low and any other information it deems
proper regarding thdr dude:'! Md flny charges fOT public offenses returned to tho court Qr likely to
come before the gTand jury.

(b) Inform the grandjW1lro of the provision. of~RS 172,245 and tho penoltie. for its violotion,

(c) Give (,ilch regulnr and nlte-mate grand juror a copy of the charges.
19

(d) Inform the l:I'rond juror~ that the failure of a person to exerdse the right to testifY u provided in
20 NBS 172,241 must not be considered in lheir decision of whether or not to return an indictment.

21 2. BeflJfc seeking an indictment. or a series of similar indictments. the district attornoy shall inform
22 the grand jurors of the specific elements or any public ofi'ense which they may consider Il5 the basi~

orthc Indtctmcm or incliclment.s,

23

24

25

26

27

28
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1

2

3

Ih~ Pub!!' lltI,n... ChgrKed A••;n,1 Mr. Vill.Kron. In egynt. I. 2. Dnd 10
FolllntQ Two Catel:Qrlcft, CODMplusa ynd various 'I'beode, of Ylcgrioul
LI.billIX

where Mr. Villagrann i~ charged widt murdering hili friend ns l] result of lh" Vago Defendants'

Discharging 11 firearm in II Structure. The rcmlllnlng counts (which amount 10 murder cha.rg,es

conduct) are alleged as a re!lult of 11 convolutecJ theory ()fvicuriou$lIahllity against Mr, Villagrana ..

n~H1cry wiLh!"1 Deadly Weapon, I count nfCllrrying a Conceulcd Weapon, und I ellunl of

Count!:Z MDd IQ Chgrgcd Agld",. Mr. Yill8&rR0a ars" relyll pewh,t I.
OIl.!U'd Ig b. xl••rlo., 1I11b1lllX

L

The indictmont alleges four counts of conduct directly against Mr. Villogruna: 2 counts or

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11
g 12 a~ 1\.11 aiJer and a.bc::ttor or conspinuor except in CO\lllt I (conspirocy~ Groll:! Misdemeanor).

cl "
~ Ii ~; 13 Count 2 alleges vicarious liability us it relates 10 Cesar Villagmnll as it is not allescd lhat he
z ~C1\t1

\II 0 illl ~ ;
~ 1: ~ :r : I'l 14 dirccily caused the death of his friend Jeffrey Penigrew, The Slate's theory is that Mr. Villagrana
,~~!l,;
~oi:I5l~!,e 15
lit l ~ 7.. ~ "huvJng the intenllo commit tt challenge to tlghl or to accepl a challenge 10 flght, conspiring with
l~~~~ 116

IJl a ~ ~ cllch olh!::r to commit Ihe otTemle of chnllenge to tiijht or 10 accept Iiuch a challenge to t1ghl whereby
~~~~~ 17u. "

; 18 each co-conspirator j,q vicariously liable for the ncts of the! olher to-conspinttor" and by "aiding ArId
•

19 ubctlins e~ch (sic) either directly or indirr:cLly whether present or not.>I

20

21

22

23

Cmml 10 alleges vicarialls liability 1111 it relales 10 Cesar VllIagrana as it ollegclt thothe aided

and abcltcd "Gary Stuart R\ldnick, also known os Jabbers a Vogos gllne: momber and Jeffrc;y

Pelligrew a I-Ieii'. (,ie) Angel gang member in the commis'ion of iltl affray with th. y,. of. d••dly

weapon, that during the course ofthc affray the silid dl:fcndanlli did maliciously fire deadly weapons
24

25 IMide of John AsclIa8o'" casino. localed in a congesled arca.ln Spark.s, Washoe County, Nevada.

26 That the said discharging of handguns during the affray was In general milligmmt recklessne.'f8 of

27 others' lives and safety orother people or In disregard ofsoclol dUly nnd as a foreseeable

28
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21

22

consequence oflhc shooting, Jetl're:y Pettigrew, a human beins. was killed amI murdered..." This

chllrge does not ollcge that Mr. Villugrana shOI or otherwise injured Mr. PeUigrew; rather, it asserts

,hal Mr. Villasruna "aided and abelled" Gary Rudnick in his reckles,ness nfothers Hve, and ,.f.ty

whIch resulted In the death ol'Ccsar Villagranu's Friend JctTrcy Pettigrew.

The ractualllHegations in each count are generic Md do not sp~citY which of the: multiple

t'actuul Dcts upon which aiding and abetting Is premised were commil1ed by which defendants and

therefore these nllegalions nrc defective. Sec, Stale v, lJancock, 955 P,2d 183, 185 (Nev.

I998)(indietmont th.tlump. mulliplc defendant,log.ther with multiple .01' i, "very difficult 10

decipher who is alleged (0 have done what" and is defective). None of the allogations apply to Mr,

Yill~grQJla and therefore fail to !lIMe a ba.si$ t~lr liobiJily.

1\ further. nnd glnring problem, arises in Ihm the District Attorney did not correctly Instruct

Ihe Grand Jury on the nece~sity of detennining probable cause oxisted for the faclual components of

aiding and abetting. Nor did the proscculion instruct the gnmdjury that as to Count 2 the Defendant

must have aided and abetted with the Intention fh.t Cbl erlme be committed. Sec1 Bolden v, S(a/~,

124 P.3d 191 (Nev. 2005). The pro,ccut;on provided n 'et of written lostruelioo, to the gruod Jury,

See Ilxhibi'« allached hereto, and providad no further diraet!oo to the Grand Jury.

The Nevada Supreme Court in discussing lhe need to lipecitically allege lhc manner or

means hy which fl. defendanl is alle~ed 10 have committad 11 crime is morc than 8 mere notice

23 requirement The High Coun held;

24

25

26

27

28

'To nllow the prosecutor, or the: CQurt, to make a ~ubsequent guess 61:1 to what
was in the minds of the grand JUry 81 the time they returned the indictment would
deprive the defendant ora basic protection which the gunranty of the intervcnllon or
!l grund jury WIlS de:iigned 10 ~ecurc. For a derendant could thlD be convh:fod 011
the boals of/acts IIotfCJund by, ltnd prrhnpli not even presented to, tho grand
Jury which Indicted him.'

lS

53(



1

• •
Slml'''on P. Hlghlll Judicial DI.\·I. Caliri, 503 P,2d 1225, 1229 (Nev, 1973)(quuling Rus...Uv. United

2

J Simes, 369 U.S. 749, 770 (1962)(emphllSi, added)), Simpson is the b••is ror the 'eminBl Nevada

4 Cll."lC requiring un lndictmenllO specify the (acts upon which aiding and abctling liability Is bo...'itd.

5 Bamn v. Siale, 669 P.2d 725, 729 (Nev. 19S3), (n'troctins 'he Grnnd Jury It could return a Irue

6
bill without finding probable cause lhat the facts that give rise to accomplice liability ex.ist is the:

7
same u:; instructing the Grond Jury to return a defective indictment. Simpson, supra.

8

9

10

11

21

The StDte Instructed the grand jury a:i follows;

Principal LlabllUy A. an Alder and Abetter:

Every person concerned in the cnmmiss-ion Ofll felony, gross misdemeanor or
mi~delT1eanor. whether Ihe per;son directly c(lmmits the act conllthutlns the offense,
\1r nidi!! or abets in its cummission, and wh~lht:"r pf(lsenL or abscnti fUld every person
who, directly or indirectly, counscls. eJ1COUTD.8e~, h{res. commHnds, inducc!l or
otherwise procures another to commit a felony, groSI!I misdemeanor or mlsdemcanor
is 0 principal, and shall be proceeded against unel punished ns liuch. The foct thar me
person aided. abeucd, counseled, cncnuraged, hired, commlUlded, induced or
procured. coull! not or did Dot entertain !I sdminallntent ahall not be a dSraDlll to
nny person aiding, abetting, counseling. encouraging, hiring. commanding, inducing
or prncurins him or hl:f.

(Emph..,i, odded).

The1nstructjon is a. complete misstatement of the law.

In holh Bald." v. Siale, 124 PJd 191 and Sharma v. State, lIS Nev. 648 (2002) th. Nevada

22 Supreme Court made it clear thlll "10 ordc:r for a person to be held accountahle Cor the specific

23 intent crime of another under an aiding and abetting theory of principalliabilll)', the a.ider or

24 abettor mU51 have k.nowlngly aided the other pel"5on with Ihe intent that the other pernon commit

25 the charsed crhlle'."
26

27
Count 2 is u specific intent crime and rises 10 the level of a first dey.ret' murder. The Brand

jury was improperly inslTuctcd that Cesar Villagrana could aid In Ihis crime without Ihc nccc!~ry
28
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1

• •
criminal intent.

2

3 COLlnt lOis a general intent crime; howcver, the Gnmd Jury was improperly instructed on

4 vica.rlous liability as nn aider and abeuer. us thoy were nol instrucLed thar they must tind that Q

5 onlural and probable c()Usequcnce of Mr. VillagranB's (lilaged aiding and nhenlng WRS !he death of

6

7
his fricnd Mr. rettigrew, 1110 Nevada Supreme Court has held that when 8 person enters into a

common plan or scheme but does not inlend uparticular crime commincd by the principal, lhe
8

9 person is liable for the crime if"in the ordinary course of things rthe crime} wa,'! the nntul11l or

10 probnble consequence of such common pilln or scheme," Sae Stare v. Cushing. 61 Nev. 132, 148,

11 120 P.2d 208,216 (1941). This rule does not constituttl a pur SI1 basis for holding un accomplice to

~ 12gil- ~ one crime liable for a relnted crime by the principal simply because the rcl"tcd crime was
IIJ .. '" oj) = 13
lj. Q '" .:. il

• z 1~ 0 • lure.eeoble. See V.lled Stales v. Greer, 467 F.2d 1064. )068-69 (7th Cir.1972). To do '0 would be
~5~~:~ 14
~ ~ 1~ ~ ~ ~ 15 "to base criminal liability only on a showing ofnegLisenee ruther than criminal intc::nl.'· Id. at 1069.
3l It :I:.r 01

oj a ~ S iii f 16 Where the relationship belween the defendanfs oclS and the charged crime IS too attenuated, the
oJ ~~~~ ~

ai~;~ 17 Siole musl provide "'orne showing of .pecific iotenllo old In. or specific knowledge of, lhe crime

~ 18 charged:' id

19

20
Accordingly, the SUIte's instruction that somebody could aid and nbet without a criminal

21 intent, is completeJy erroneolls.

22

23 2.

24

25

There r. No Prohable Cou.e for Counl2 (Chanengelo Fight) Which r. PorI or on
Anti~ducUng Starute:

There arc tWO int~r-I'clatcd i~sue, concernIng the Challenge 10 Fight allegtnion in Count 2 ~

26 (f, \llolation ofNRS § 200.450, First in light oflhc fact that this stalute is designed 10 punish those

27 that act ~s second1i in connection with Ihc prohibition RiftinSl dueling proscribed hy NRS § 200.410

28

17
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1

is there probable cause to believe:
2

•
3 I, Thallherc was nny pfl:vlous agreemcnl hetwcen lhe deceased Hells Any,els member

or,

4 Jeflrey Pelligrew and the Vago member Stu"" Gary Rudnick 10 ngh! a duel with deadly weapon';

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

I 12

eIs I: 13
z u ~ 2) ~

~Oi'll;~
uJ: 119rt14
- u ; a .
~:i~!g 15
J:~ILIZ!.

jO'&i 16
51 1'1 j
III ~ ...
:r. WI ill'" 17
u 1

•I 18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

2, Cesar Villagrana delivered a challenge to Rudnick on hehalfof Jeffrey Peiligrew. or

3. Cesar Villagranil ret:eil/cd a challenge on behalf Jt:lTrey PoUlgrew?

The .... ideo evidence in this case shows thal Cesar Villognma did nothing until Jeffrey

Pettigrew and Detendl\J1l RucJnil.:k were already fighting and Vugos members were smnshing heer

boull::S und shooting gun$ lit Hells An8el~ members.

The !ltalucs III iSliut: provide [IS follows:

NRS 200,410 Oeath re.uhing lh,m duel: penalty, If a person nghts, by previous appointment or
agreement, a duel with II. rine, shotgun, pistol, bowie knife, dirk, smallsword. backsword or other
dang.erous weapon, IUld in 50 doing kills his or her antagonist, or any person. or inflicts such a
wound that lho' party or parties Injured die th~nwr. each such ollcnder is guilty ofmurd~r in lhe
first degree. which is a calegory I\. felony. nnd upon conviction thereof shall be punished as
provided in ,ub••"tion 4 orNBS 2Q9,030,

NRS 200.450 Ch.llenge. to ngh!: penaltie.,

I. lfu person. upon previou!! concert and ugreement, lights with an)' other pcr30n or gives, send~ or
authorizes any other person to give or send 11 ohalJenge verbally or in writing to fight any other
person, the person givlng1 sending or accepting the challenge 10 fight any other person lIhnll be
punished:

(11) (f the fight does not involve: lhe usc of a deadly weopon, for a gross misdemeanor; or

(b) rf lhe fight invol\lce the usa of a deadly weapon, for (I category B felony hy imprisonment In the
stple pn:mn fon, minimum term ofnot ItlS9 than I year ami p, moodrnum lerm of not marc than 6
years, and may be further punished by 11 Jine arnot mo~ than $5,000.

2, A person who octs for another in giving, sendillg. or accepting. either verbally or in writing, D

chnllcnge to light o/1y other person shall be punished:

(1\) If the fiGht docs nol involve lhe usc ofa deadly weapon. for a gross misdemeanor; or

(b) If the flght involves the usc of 11 deadly weapon, for 6 cBlegory R felony by imprisonment in the
state prison for a minimum term ofnul less thtm 1 yenr and a maximum term of not more than 6
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• •
I

4

years, and may be further punished by 8 tIne of not more lhan $5.000.
2

3. Should death ensue 10 a person in such Q fight, or should 11 person die from any injuries rcctlivcd
3 in s\lch n fight. the pcr~on causing or having any agency in causinglhe dell.th, either by fighting or

by ijiving. Dr sending for himself or hCl'!\e1r or Jor nny other pcr~onl or in recl;;Iiving for himself or
hcrselror fOT!lJ1Y other person. the ch~llt.mge to tight, is guilty of murder In the first degree which

5 is a calcgory A fclony and shall bc puni,hcd as provided in subsection 4 ofNES 2QQ,03Q,

1;1 These statutes concern the same subject maU~r (pttlvention of dueling) elnd lhu, are in p(1rl

7
materia and mu,t be read together, English v. Stale, 116 Nev. 828, 834, 9 P.3d 60. 63 (2QQOXeiting

6

Currently there arc four slatuttls that C~lrlcem the prohibition against du~liny,. NRS §§

157· 161; Nevada Revised Low, (RT.)§§ 6422·6426; Nevuda Complied taws (NCL)§§ 10104 -

I (J I08. The text of the urlginaJ anti-dueling stalules have relTluintld virtually unchansed except for

14
200.41 0 ~ 450, J These slutules have exist~lI in Nevada law from its inceplion os a State and arc set

•

Stale "'arm MOl. v, Camm'r oj Ins., 114 Nev. 535, 541,958 P.2d 733. 737 (1998) for lhe
9

10 proposition lhot the l'meaning of t\ statute may bo determined by referring 10 laws which arc 'in

11 pari mnleria' Le.,"when they relale to the same person or things, 10 the same class of persons. or

ic i '" 12 things, or have the same purpose or {Ibjcct"),l

~!8~~ 13z ... Il: ;; WI

~ 0 ~ \ft ;;; i
OJ :r: ~;: W III

:~l~~',",,,>1:: 15
:«:t ~~ ..!l 0 ~ ~ ~ 16 Oul in Ihe Orsl compilation ufcrime, and punishment. See 1911 Crimes and Punishment (C&P) §§

~!!.~l
5 .~" 17

I 16

19 the punishment provisions and must be construed with Ihol purpose or object in mind. English v.

20

21

22 Thill cunllQn OfC(\IlSlruction nil!! panleular fol'Cc In Nevada 1I1nCll1lC!:I of tho IcgblollfN m"'SI con,tltutloQolly cncompiln
o Single subjl:ct matttr lind the-litle lTIoybc conaidored in construing lhlllltoUlle. Nov. Conlf. Ar1-4, § 17: J(l4 a/Jo Minw

23 Cilrl v, Clark Coumy JIIV6nllll Court,S7 NiJv. 544, '48, 490 P.2d 124S,12~O (1971)("1ho 1IIIe or tho ,tnlutt may !xi
cOllshfQfQ!,\ In construing tht.'l sllltulo...lhe !lct must olso be re:!otrlcled to Illal sUbJec~ expressod tn tho tlll,,")(cllallQlli

2 4 omilled).

25
NRS 200,410 (compare 1\1. § 6422) setl rorth the element, ofl1<1uol fllld the agreement nec~:'i!llr)' and Illtl

26 Ihe pUlll~hmcnl when dealh rellull.!l from the dUlllll~ lhc some nll murder "' proscrihed In NRS 200.030(4),),
NRS 200.4JO (campllnl RL ~ 6424) mllkllS an)' porson presont at a duel with dtllol)' wlnlponslncludlna I

27 sllCl,lno Il.lho dl.lcJlSl, lin aid, n ,ufs(!on or ndvl~or a comptlcllt witnon and providlil' ror immunity From
2 8 pro!~l<ulion. NRS 200,440 (COlflpIllC RL § 6425) prohIbits' p08dng' Of publlcl)" nOlltYlng olhorl Ihlll lin

Individual refu~ed 10 Ol&hl a ouel or reftl~fJ! 10 send or llli:c;~pl a cllallenso to a du~l. RL I 6423 b not
M:rllrBtely represented In the Cutl'Cnl /I101U1~' but is in otsencc 1I.1111flcmpl.
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1

Stare..<;11/"(/. The ~ubtitlc: of the challenge to tigh[ section in the orlginlll wus "Penalty for dueling.
2
3 - Actiog as ,ceood - Deemed maoslough,.r". Se. lIL § 6426 ood rompare NRS § 200.450, lis

4 intent was to plil1i~h those that aided the antagonists in arruoging a duel (seconds).~ The State has

5 charged [hilt the death of the Helh~ Angel member JetTrey Pettigrew al the hands of the Yoga

6
m~mher TImcsto Gonzale;l. is atlributable to a violfltion ofNRS 200.450, Analysis orlhe structure

7
of the s.latutc leads to the conclusion that NRS 200.450 is a special statute which contains nol only

B
9 i!5- own punj~hmcnt provision for Q death as a. res.ult ur a violufiun of the statute bUl also conlains a

10 Ilmilalion on what acts give riRe to vicarious liability.

17 then" the person causing or having uny agency in cllusingthe death. either by fighting or by giving

16 or dgrccment, fights wilh any other person" and "should death ensue to a person in such a liQht"

18 Of sending, , . or by rccl:iving the challenge to fight .. , is guilty of murder, .. Md shall be

Thl:r~ is no evidence to suppor1 the requiremenl:'\ of the statute in this Cl.1Se und Cesar

Tho languag. ofNRS § 200.450 as. whole state'thot "[iJfa porsoo. upoo provioes oooce~

Vill~gr~na a Hells Angel defendant cannal be charged with Ihe del1lh orHells Anlle)s member

J.ffrey Pettigrew uoder NRS 200.450.

11

19
punished U~ provided in subsection 4 ofNRS 200,030:' This Illngu6g.c is mirrored in lhe primary

20
duoling ,talute NRS § 200,410. Both ,Ialulos deem the violatioo puoi,hable io Ihe same moooer ..

21
22 murder and incorporate the punishment under NRS 200.030(4) but not lhc elements of murder,

23 Under lho Slstute charged here, the person doing the killing must have previously agreed

24 with the deceased to fiShl against each other. This l~ the cxacl inrcrpretlt1ion placed on the

25

26
27 for II brh:fhtstory ofdllc(illg and Ihe role M seconds see rhll AttOfney as DUdJl.v,'S Friend: !.IJS$om!rolll

Ilrl! I.lIlla 0,111110. SI eliSe W. Rei, L. Rll'v, '69, 8$" 88 (Fa112000);1>Ce also Pay", II, State, 39\ So,2d 140
28 (Aln, App, 1980)(dennltion ofduel}; S"l>I u/,wSlute II Rom"to, 80 I r.2d 681 (N.M.1990)(historlclil meaning.

of dueling),

20

536
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1

2

3

4

5

6

7

B

9

10

11

! " 12
9f~~"
~S~!:ll13

"l~~:n~~
~:I~:dl~ 14
'~a~a'
:·d!~ 15
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Ul~g, ~
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1
l 18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

predecessor challenge tu llght ,tatute by the Nevada Supreme Court. In I'e Fin/en, 20 Nev. 141,

18 P. 827, 834 (1888) ("there was a previou, agreement b.tween him,elf [defendantI and the

d••••'ed to llght")(bf1lekets added).' In the stru.ture of th. 'lolUle ,h. agreemenlto flght each

other between the deceased and the defendant rnust exist b~/'o,.e the fight ensues.~

In Ihis case, the is no I:vldence in the record that the Yoga member Brncsto Manuel

Oonzal~z previously agreed with the dceeused Hells Angel member Jeffrey flelti~rI:w 10 Iighl with

dendly wcupons or un)' other perllon for (hal nlatter,7 E.'( P",tQ Fin/en, sl/pra, While Stuort Gill')'

Rudnick atlcmpted to instigate a ligh' and taunted Mr. Pettigrew, Mr. Pettigrew refused to light

and insleatJ urged the leuders ot' the Vagos to take control of their member Stuart Gary Rudnick.

Well. when rwalked up Ihen: wus u IOl of Vagos thut were uruunt.l. And (tl.lok ulook over
lht.1rc1 alid thi:lY both came out, and "Jab~rs" was vcry upset Andjusl kept on lalkins. kept
on talking. kept on talking. And h. kopllannting Petligrew.

... ,

Pettigrew's rC:!ipon:Jo back to him was, 'IHey man. you know, I Was j\lst haviny; a a:ood lime.
1Just want to have a beer," bas.ically. He wasn't in no ~hupe tlf form upset at the time.

The f'(rlll1~ ..oul'\. quoted Iho then eKlstQnt llll\tulc which is \lirtllllllylhil some olu.:ept thillihu pllnhhmcnt
WIIS Itt the lime- mlin~lauihler. The coun ql,lolcd Oen. 51. § 4602 ." raIding 'ifRny person or perlcnl, wllh
or Wilhuul d\ludly weupona, upun provloUJ.conc'rt and u!Vce:mcnl. ORb! ODC' with the oahu. orslvo or Jlmd.
or authorize nllY Olher pCf"IItln 10 give or S«Hld l II chllllCflgt'. verbully or In wrillna, 10 fllht \'loy alhor p.unon,
th~ pcnon or pof'!jons giving, sl:ndln~, or aCCCpllog a chldlenJil,c TO fllUlllln)' othor pcrwn. wllh or wlmout
wl:l\ponJl. uron ctlnvh.:lion thlflCmt~ shIll be pI.mI.med by imprillnnmcnl in thu stOta j:lrl!on not less thun two
or man:! Ihllll five ,YClltS.••• Should dllllth ensuu to any person In auch Own, or Ihould IIny penon dil from
llny injuries rCl,':olvcd In such tlght wIthin ona YOM lll1d ono dllY, tho panon or pennna cl1uslni- or haYlnl"ny
Iliont:y In cl\u51111&. '\Ich denLh. either b~ nghllnl. orb)' &ivins or acndlnll for hlmJelf, or for any othor porIOn,
or in rc(;lI'lvina for himself. or for any olh.r porson, such chBlIeng", 10 tlghl, shpll b" dltOm¢d Rullty of
InM5clllualJler. and punl«hed lIl,':cordingl)'. "'In r, Pin/tlff, 18- It. at 828.

This 'Nil.' the cOInnmnly ulldcr.;lood prOlocol (or duollni ut tho time tho or1a(nal slDlule Will- passed. s«.
!l010 J, .Y/fp,.a,

The only Vaso mllll1ny I'lolls Anlol spokll to WIIJI Jdendt1ed !IS SIUart OIltY Rudnick. Tho 1Il$llmony
demonstrnrcd thar Helll Angel mcmb«.... JuJTrcy POlllgrcw hlld no inlcrc~t In lighting, "Wha1 had. happcocd
is: thl11 we were lAlking,lo 11eU1arcw, He wMcool. He Wl,l:ijU5t saying, Hey man, t:vo:rythln; ia lood. Ihave
no problt:ln, 11/9/11 Tnms. at 193..94.

21
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18 decided under this statute with the: allegations in Count 2. Wilmeth v. Slate, 96 Nev. 403. 404, 610

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

What had happened is that we were to.lking to Pettigrew. 1re WIl.'i cool. He was just saying.
"Hey man, everything is good. I have no problem.1I "Jabbers" comes lip and "Jabbonr
then $tnrts taunling hJm. You know, "Yau had not riBht touching me." What he mcnnt by
"louching," he: just tapped him on the hack, bnsically. You know what my insinuation was,
he lopped him on the bock. H. soid, "Hey, do you wont to hove 0 beer?" "Jobb."," took it
/\Son offenflivc thing, pllAhed nut his Qhest becQuse.ufcourse, there WtUI a lot morc Vagos
then the.. were Hells Angels. So he kept on launting. lie wouldn't stop.

So Ilold him, ( said, lIL111tcn, shut the fuck up." Excuse my French, but I havo 10 teU you
the wa.y it went. I said, UShut 1he fuck up. Get the fuck out of hOTC." He backed up for a
minute. thlt he come back again. I said, "I told you to leave," Ho says, "I ley, hey, don't
worry. I said, "llold you to leave." Nnw me, in my positio~ he has to Ii~lf;m to me. So
whal hoppens is lhot Pettigrew looks at him. I am going 10 cell him Jethro. Jethro look. at
him and he ~ByS to Jethro, ~IYou know I don't know why )'ou had to touch me." He says,
you. know, "Just talk to me." He said, I.{ don't need to tolk to you," this and thil!l. whatc:ver.
Jethro lost it. He gal pissed ofT.

ror tDunting him, taunling him. luuntinQ him. He finally ju~t !ald. "Listen, J don't need to
rucking laB< to you no more," [Jethro Pettigrewltumed lU'ouncl and walked away,

GJ TS p. 193-94.

CompiU'C the pleading under the ljtuT1e statute in Wi/m.,," v. Stale the only other case

19
P.2d 735. 736 (1980)(Thc defendanl [Wilmelhj"dld, upon previous concert nod ogreemenl, for the

20
purpose of accepting lU1d complying wilh a verbal challenge to fiBht, did theretbre meet wllh one

2l

22 Grover Muck Hicks and did enguge in that fight. after which the death of the said Grover Mllck

23 I-licks, a human being, did ensue within 11 year nod a day f\S a re.sult of the use of deadly weapons,

24 to-wit: fircnm't.'t, during said fight.").

25

26

27

There is no ollegallon in Count 2 thai Jeffrey Pettigrew died as a result of the giving or

receiving any challenge or it previously EUTl1nged or Dgreed upon fight or duel. S" Payne v, SrUlf.

28 39 t So, 2d 140 (Ala. App.I 980)(definition ufduel); '''' also Slate v. Rom..'., 801 P.2d 681 {N.M.

22
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1

2
App. 1990). Thus there is no evidence with respect to JetTrey Pettigrew's dc:nlh thol satistlcs the

3 stulutc.

4 The Shd\ltc ::;pecifically restricts other persons nol direct actors in the death who can bo

5 chnrgc:d in ndeath thal is lhe result OrR violation of this provision to Ihose that hflvc engaged in

6 .pecllic conduct - that i. by giving or receiving a challenge, NRS 200.4S0(3)("should death ensue
7

to a person in such a tighl" Ihen .~ lhe person cuusing or having any agency in causing thl;! death.
a
9 cithQr hy fighting Or by giving or sending, , . or by receiving the challenge to tight. ,. is guil~y of

10 murder,., and shllll be punished a.1iJ provided in suh'icction 4 ofNRS 200.030, II). Thlli language

11 regarding death and agency (or vicarious liability) quail lies as a speeilie statute with regard to

! 12
9! .. hnmieide and to vicarious liability for deaths that result from a challenge lU light a. opp0,",d to the
Iol ~~;
4- u ii.'" 13

'" ~ ~ tii 2 ~ Hcneral murder stl1tute or the general aiding, and Ilbctling statutes lUld thus it controls, Sec. Lad,r v,
1Il:t1i~:a1 14
~ rJ :i t- ~
~ ~ ~I ~ ~ g 15 W,,,,/i'n. _ Nev. _, '20 P.3d 1164. 1167 (2005W'Whcn the scope of Q. criminl11 fltalu\c is at

,'" '"~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ 16 i!l.!llle, ambig\lily should be I'Csnlvcd in favor of the defendant. And when (I spceitlc 5lUIute Is in
IJI ~ 11I..1

~v~·.~ 17... ';I " ~ conniet with D general one, \hI; specific statute will take precedencl:.")(footnotes omil1l:d). ThUB
~

5 1B the gCllerh:: aiding and abt=uing uHegQtions in Count 2 do not constitute probable CBU$C and do n(lt

19
give rise to ViIWPriO\.l3 lil1bility under this statute. Tho grand jury was not inlllructed that vicDrlous

20

21
linbility or aiding and nbctting under this stalute wus so llmited and therefore the Indictment on thi:s

22 cuunt is based on a faulty IcS"1 premise.

23 In the absence of any allegation in Count 2 thot Hells Angel member CO!loar VlI1agrl1na

24 agreed with Vago member Emesto Manuel Oon'lUlez to engage in ~ tlght and the dealh of Jeffrey

25 Pettigrew resulted from this previous agreement to fiShl there Is no probable cause to support this

26

27

28

count

23
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R. CONSPIRACY TO CONSPIRE,

1

2

3 1. Count Z and 10 cb.rRl!' II conspiracy to conspire which ilJ nol valid under Nevada law:

4 Even more lrouble:iOme is the fact that the State has el'lsentially alleged a conspira,c)' 10

5 commit D ctlnl:lpiracy. The statute requires nn "ugrecment" to light. The Slalc hS!l alleged thai

6
Cesar Villagrana conspired to commit the offense of Challenge to FiGht. A conspiracy to commit Ii

7
cunspiracy. '('he StElle: hus alternatively alleged thnt Cesar Villagrana aided Q.nd a~lled the other

8

9
DelCmda.nts in their conspinlc)' to fight. The stretched theories ortiability against Cesuf Villagrana

10 t\.1rn lhl: stAtute on il~ head.

NRS 199.480 provides that when two people conspire to commiL uoy crime other than those

NcvudB law does not allow for II Defend""! to be charged with a conspiracy 10 conspi""

Similarly, Count 10 charges Mr. Villllgranll with Second DegTee Murder alleging that Cesar

t=numerull,'d in Ihe statute, it is a groS8 misdemeanor. Accordingly. i1 compirucy to con~l'ire~ ifsuch

II crime e-xistcd, would be a. gross misdemeanor.

11

! 12

cl~tia~
Il. a10i 'I' III 1 J

'" lZ. - ill, it .. ", 0 '\'
04Ul-.,

:XI;~~14
i ~ • I .
\i,.ug~S'15o I/,. UI I"

~ !'- L J: J: I• I" .
l~d~~ 16

w 5~ ;> iii

Q~.,. j I" 17 Villagrana a.lded and abetted Gary Stuart Rudnick a Vugos member IUld Jeffrey Pettigrow a Hell'!)

~ 18 Angel member in the commission of an nffra)' with lhc use of a deadly weapon and that it resulted

19
in the deulh of JefTrey Pettigrew,

20

21
First, pursuant to statute, on affray requires lUI a.greement between twa or more porsons (Le.

22 conspiracy) 10 tight in n public place. The offons~ is Ihcn 8 misdemcnnor, NRS 203.050. The

23 SU~lc hils. alleged that Mr, Yillay:rnnn "aided und abc:uc:d" Jtlffrcy Pettigrew Hnd Vouo member Gary

24 Rudnick in the commiSSion of an affray. That a person can aid and ub;l someone in reaching on

25 agreement to fight in a public place is suspect to begin with. Neverlhcl...._the charge rail, for
26

27
uther rcalllons as it too is tl conspiracy to comlpirc.

28

9-(0
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2
i\ person who !lids and nbct!i in the commission of 1:1. crime is someon-: who "aids.

3 promotcs~ encourages or instigates. by act or advicc=, Ihe commission of such crime wilh the

4 inlention th.l Ihe .rime b. committed", Bolden, supra, Accordingly, the State's theory Is lh.t

5 C.,.r Villagrana en.oUIIIged, instigated, prnmoted Or aided JeJT,.y Palllg,.w and Oory Rudnick 10

6
cnter into an Dsrecrncnt to fight in u public place (a misdemeanor). Not only docs the evidence

7

8

9

contrudiclsuch an asscnion, the legal theory is absurd.

This count alleges criminal conduct that is so tenuous that it makes no sense. POl' example,

10 tir~( there has to be an Initial agreement to fight that was committed by Joffrey PellJgrew and nary

11 Rudnick, Ilccond Cesllf Villagrana had to havl: uil.led and abetted Mr, Peltigr~w

! )29i" (eneaurage~/promaled)Mr. Peltigrew In lhe agreement to enter inla 0 nght, third Ihot Ce...r
lt~e~; 13
zI~ 0 WI Villagrann'$ act of aiding and abetting Jeffrey Pelligrcw In lhe: commission oran Affi'ay caused

~~ ~i~ 14
~ ~:li ~ i ~ 15 Jeffrey Pettigrew to die, and fuurth thnl tl natural and probable consequence of Cesar Villagrana

t~fr.~~
j 0 l) 3 ~ f 16 lliding and ab~1tin8 Jeffrey Pettigrew in ilia Affray was lhat JetTrey Pettigrew would die.
~ § w ~ ~51 a~ ~ 17 Moreover, even ifthc State proved this unlikely scenario, it would still only hold Mr.

~ 1B Villagrana Iiabl~ as Do prlncipal to the commilision ofme misdemeanor AffrilY. There is no Nuc:h

)9
thing as on Affray wllh a Deadly Weapon. Nor arc there enhancementS" fnr fU1 Affray that results in

20

21

22

~e.th,

The problem thQI the Stale has is that they want 10 charge Mr. Villagrana with some form of

23 murder; yet, it is his friend thai dled and it was not 211 the hand.9 ufMr. Villagrana. Accordingly,

24 the SUIte is attempting to torture Nevadil law with their Iheories ofcrimintll liability by chargln&.

25 him with conspiracy to conspire lo engago In [l fighl.
26

27
Moreonrl the State did not instruct lhe granujury on scoonu degree murder which requires

proofof implied malice, NRS :lQO,020(2) provide. "mallce 'hall be implled when nQ
28
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1

.£.On~idcrabll; proyocaHon OpnellrS, or when 1111 the clrcumstancc!t of the kUling show an
2

3 abandoned and malignant heart,"

4 The Slllte was required to pruve that Cesnr Villagr~na was the ass:ressor in the ulleged

5 nlTray. even though he is not accused of being a principal and is only uccuscd ofaiding Dnd

6
abetting.

instnlcted:

and there is no such crime in the Slate of Nevada.

ugret:mcnl. The Slale hll5 alleged Ihat CesQf Villagr"nn either dlrcclly or Ihi'ough Jeffrey Pettigrew

Count I ChltrgeJ ;J Conspiracy to Conspire:

Count 1 specifically chll.rge~ Uconspiracy to commit the misdemeanur of Affray. As

"'111: in:muction rtlod to the grtmd jury is demllOstnnivc: of the tact that this charge is truly a

There is. no such lhing as a conspiracy to commit an affray, The amay itselfi9 lhe

Tht.: lirsl c:harge is conspirucy to engage in an affray." violation ofNRS 199.480 und NRS
203.050. a gross milidcmcanor. We have nUcsed lhat the uugcts, Gary Stewart Rudnick
!llso known as "Jabber" nnd Emc~to Manuel OUl1zules. oolh Vagos gang members, and
Ce.., Vllla",ana and Jem~y Penill'ew. hoth Hells Angels gang members. did. while In the
County of Washoe, on or o.boUL the 23'd day of September, 20 II, conspire: with their
rcspcclive gang members and/or eftch other to cngagl!lln nn aITroy. Bnd in furtherance of lhe:
conspiracy. defendant Ernosto Gon~alc:z shot al rivnJ gang members,
OJ Truns(,'r1pt poge J.

described uhove, pur3uMl to SUUUte. an affray is an ~grcement between two or more people 10

eng'ge in • agh! in puhlie. The State has alleged 'hat Mr, VillagraM conspired to eonaplre to tlght

misdemeanQr Affray which this Honorable Court hCl:j no jurisdiction to hear. The srandjury W8!

2.

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

Ilgroed to fight with Vagos mcmhcffl. That allegation umounLs to un alleged Affray and nOlhinij

morc. Count I musl therefore be d1smlslicu,
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• •
2

3

4

5 Ii..

6

QRQLJND IV

TilE TESTIMONY OF JQRGE GlL-PLANeo WAS INADMISSIBLE AND CAVSED
PREJVDICE

IUgbly Inflammqtory Ind IUBlimbaible Tn'lmony:

During the presentation ofevidence 10 the grand jury. the State prescnled evidence through

7 Jorge GiI~Bhmco who procluirned hlm~el"lO be an expert in Uclb Angels Dctivity. The IC31imony

8 of JOl'ge GiI·B1anco WM highly illnumrnalory evidence tha.' does not slate a public ofTenso. See,

9
NRS 193. I68(2)(gang enhaneemenl doe. nOI ereale a ,eparate offense); sea also Boyla v. Ward.n,

10
603 f.2d 1068. 1069 (Nev I979)(NRS 193.165 deadly weapoo enhuncemeol 1.001 a ,eparate

11
~ 12 crime). By llnalo¥y lo Cnpitl?l M~lrder Aggrovntors - which are also sentence enhancc:ment.'1 -

o' •
-J~lii~,"
~ ~ !II ! ~ 13 there is apparently no need under Nevada case law to have 11 probable cause nnding beforo alleging
zU"~o"

~ ~!s~ ~ 14 this enhancement. Floydv. Slare, 42 P.Jd 249, 256 (Nev. 2002)(eoneludinll thAI a probable caus.

~·l"'e~~ 15
l 110 r l: III finding i~ not necessary for thu SlOtc to allege aggravuting circum~lD.nccs - aven in death case).
l~l~~i 16
~ ... ~ ~ a Rather, it is neccssijry that the trial jury nod the fact to exist beyond a reasonable doubt. NRS
z i··· 17u ~

I93.168(3)(b).
~ 18

19 Nevertheless, the State presented the inflammatory. inadmissible, p~iudlciQllestimony

20 with some exnmples of the ~Qme beinB; outlined below.

21 JL

22

23

JWocnnlMibly rer"rrjollQ Jorge Gil-Blann II! aD Expert;

In ruling on whether or not a witness may testify as an expert, the court must take care nol

24 to usc terms such as "qualified as an expert'! or "certitiud ns an cxpcn" when rcfcrrlnillo rhe

25 witness in the presence at'thejury, The coul1 should simply sla!c lhat l'the witness me.y testify," or

26 sustain any objection to a reqoest to pennit the wi1ness to teslify as 1111 expert. Thll'! will prevent

27 potenlial prejudice by either demeaning or promoting the credibility ot" the BolJn v, Stal', 114 Nev.
26

503,525-26,960 P.2d 784, 799 (1998).
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17 off!. gung cxpert'~ testimony, oLher state cau,1~ have. In MlnnellU1.a,lhctr Rule., of Evidence

1B regarding expert testimony ure virtuully idenlical to Nevada,

T~!ltlmQny Beyond the egrmis,lble Scope;,

Hells Angels, specilically, Aril.ona. In Nevada. in Las Vegas in It case involving

thc State of WashingtDn,

Yes, I have.

Have you been recognized by Ihc cuurts of thusc jurisdictions as an export in .he

motorcycle gWlg CQSC!I'?

fl~ld of outlaw motorcycle gangs?

.Iave you testified - ~ in which courtS hl1ve you testitied as un expert In Hells Angel:t

eleven Hell. Ansel., two associated and Ihe stabhins ofMonsols in California and

The so tailed gang expert testified in reliance upon inadmissihle hearsay Dnd with no

1\,

The above testimony was Inadmissible ond prejudiciul,

Q.

In the instant case the witness t~stitled al page 231 as follows:

A,

Q,

foundolion, While the NevudD Supreme Court hS9 nOI addressed the issue of the permis:!Ilble s.cope:

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

B

9

10

11

19

20
Minnesota Rules of Evidence 702 allows expert testimony if the te.'mimeD)' will assist the

jury in evaluating evidence or resolving factual issues. State v, Grocinger, 569 N.W,2d 189, 195
21
22 (Minn,1997), See .1.0 Federal Rule or Evidence 702,

23 In Stale v, DeShay and in Lopet-Rlo.f, !he Court held that gang-expcrt lcsllmony should be

24
admitted only if it is helpfUl to the Jury in making the spcdflc factual dctcnninntlons that jurors arQ

25
required 10 make. State v, VeShay, 669 N,W,2d 878, 884 (Minn,2003); Laper-Rlos, 669 N,W,2d,

26

27
603, 613 (2003), The Court added that, in order to be admissible, gafig-eltpert tCluimony m\.lst add

28 precision or depth to tho jury's ability to reach conclufilons about mattors that are not within ils

28
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1

c>cperiencl:. Moreover, thi!! testimony must he carefully monitored by Ihe fdhuril,;(} coun so that Ihc
2
3 testimnny will nolundulr influence Ihcjury or di~suadc it rrllm cxcrclsil18 ils independent

4 JUdgment. Even it'llcccpteble under Rule 702, c:x:pert testimony should be excluded ifit9 probative

5 value Is sub"antially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudiee, DeShQ)/. 669 N,W,2d at 888

6
(cilins Minn. R, Evid. 403),

7

8 In DeShay lUld Lopez-Rlos, the court hcld that thc admi,,;on of e.pen testimony an genera'

9 gllng activities and gang affiliation was error. De8hay, 669 N.W.2d at 88Sj Lopgz~Rlos, 669

10 N.W,2d at 613, In D,ShQ)/, the coun held that much of 'he S,ng e,pen's testimony was admiued

By wny of example the sa called expert tcstitiad:

ThaI is precisely what happened in this CilSC,

lhe gang eKp~rtrs testimony on seneral gang activities ond gang affiliation wus similarly

used as a means to humdcr otherwis~ inndmiff~ibh: hearsay. DrtShuy. 669 N. W,2d 1.11 886.

11
erroneously because the testimony was duplkl1tivc ornther lay testimony. giving little assistance to

19

20

21

•
~

j !" .: 12 the jury in ovoluating the evidenee, 669 N, W,2d ot 888, In '.opez-Rlo.r, the coun held that much of
l'! ~'f; 13
~ III ~ W'I
Z ,., 0 "

IAO~\II-~
~:tR~g:l'I14
iI:~!!r~ •
~ ill &e! ~ 15 erroneously admitted as the testimony was duplicative of provious wilness testimony. 669 N.W.2d
1ltt:r,/"
(Oll~ui
• ~ fA ~ ~ ": 16 UI 612~ 13. The court also expres$~d concern over the expert!s testimony tha.l !.he defendant was 8

III N J> lot
xrliII!--17
lJ ~ member of 11 crimInal gang. Id. In addition. the CQun cautioned that expert te!ltimony ~h(luld not be

~ 18

22 •

23

24

25

26

27

28

The fl!"Sf slide. thIs I" .8. document seized during a search warrant cunducled at the Frcmo
Hells Angels clubhouse back in 2003. It wu a case that was conducted •• invc!ltigation of
Hells Angels which subscqur:nlly reauhed In the conviction of numerous Hol1s Angelll for
charges of robbery, burglary, assault with a deadly weapon. 1111 with a gang enhancement in
Ihe ~t.,¢ of Cali fomia, OJ 235:

There are about fifty-two incidents ofviolence 50 fur. I just put in the ones between
specifically the Hells AnSeis l;Ind tho Vugos. One Qfthe ones earlier dQ4;:\lmcmled onclI in
2001. Orange County, the I-Iell. Angels .nd the Mongols and the Vogos gal Into a big fight
at a swap meet, started going at each otht:r with motorcycle part'! from the tables and
everything.,. OJ 256;

29
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1

2

3

4

5 •

6

7

That Is an incident that occurred in Bullhead City where you had 5 Hell (sic) Angel, Md
two Deser! Road rldcrs showed up at a bar called L..y HarIY's Bullhead, Arizonl Md belt
down Il Vagos there by him~clf.,.J hnvc nssisted in rhat case us far os expen opinion and
woitil18 for c-oun on that.. ,Onc of the HeJls Angels already pled Quilty nlso to agang
¢nhancemcnt; GJ 256;

Thm incident was in Sunta Cruz where you had lhree Vagos sitting a\ a Starbuck's having
coffee. They leave tbe Starbuck's and ft couple or blocks from that!ocation they end up
getting, the Hells Angels start to ossault them, actually tried to assault them. OJ 257:

8

9

10

11
I• 12"01 "

i;l1! ::; ~ '"
13l.I. ~ "-l "! II!

U Z - ....
1/1 Z l ,. ('I'".. 0 1/1; of

14iJ:t .t.o;o~

,~~:~ ,
~~~~!g 15
;: l:: f rt ~
~~~ ~f 16w! ~ w 1liIs- ::. ..

Z i l" 17o 0

I, 18•

19

20

21

Thc5C stntcments arc hllsed on hcumay Imd olher irrdevant and impermissible (onns of

evidence oectlust,l Mr. GiI·Blanco was clearly D.!lt present at evenls in queMlon. Furthennorc. those

stlltements by Mr. Gil-Blanco arc nol considered testimony of nn expert under Rule 702 becau.'\c.

they do nOllnvol\'c "scienlitic, l~chnica.l, or apeci{llized knowledge:. Sec also NRS 50.275.

GROUNP V

SUFFICIENCY OF THE EVIDENCE

Berace tl defendant may be held to answer in district court. the Stule is required to eSlo.blish

by "!luhsll1nlial tlnd competent evidence" Ihat there is probable CIlUSe 10 believe an ofTen!lc has been

commilted "nd the defendant committed ii, Shuriffv. Mcdbmy, 96 Nev, 202, 204 (1980); NRS

\72.155,

It is respectfully submitted that. finding of prob.ble eaus. may not rest on other IhM "legl'

22 evidence" Tcll'Ou v. Sherif{. 89 Nev. 166, 169 (1973), and "due process ofll:lw require:.u,dhcrcncc

23 10 the adopted and recognl:l,Cd rules ofevidencr:." Goldsmith v. ShrJrUr. 85 Nev. 29$. 303 (1969).

24 a.
25

26

The QaDa EpbaDument:

In the event that thifi Honoruhle Court finds that the Stull;:: Willi required to elicit testimony

27

28

from their 50 called gang expert in order to c:hnrge the gang enha.nctment in this case, the Stote

30

9+6
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•
1

failed to prove the clements Ofll gang enhancemC'nI8
,

2

•
3

NRS 193.168(6) de tines llcrlminal gang. ,. Onu or the requirements of this statute is that the

4 gang "lhJas as one: of its common activities engaging in criminal activity punishable as it felony.

5 oth" than the conduct which conslilu"s the primary orr.n,e." NRS 193, 168(6)(p),

6

7
Th, Novada Supreme Court h.. lUUllyzed 'his requirement and tho ,uffieieney of proof

required to ,upport tho' .nh""ccmenl. In Or/ge/·Candldo v. Sial., 114 Nev. 378 (1998) lil,
8
9 Nc:vQda Supreme Court reversed a jury verdict of a gang: eohQrll;:cment for lack of $utllcicnl

10 evidence holding:

Thus, the plain langu~ge of the gang enhancement stRtule. as well f\l' the Due Process
clCiuse, cleorly requires that in ordl;:r Cor lht: statulo to apply hore. the State mUlti prove
boyond a reasonBble doubt thai the Maravilla gang, as one of Its common aclivitics1

cngnBes in felonies,

During direct examination ofOtl1cer Mohammad Rafaqat ("Rataqat"). the Staw's
gang expt:"n, the State atldressed this issue twice. Firat, Rllfaqat was IUked to define 8
criminal gang. lit:! IC3titied that "what sepluutes [a crlmil1ld gang] from 8 group ofldds
thut play b.lSkclball ,_. [iN) criminu! aClivlty, Ihat Is the defining point} the criminal
aClivity," Lalcr, Rataqat provided lhilJ lestlmony:

[STATE]: Is the MaruviJla ~ang a criminal gang .. d.tilled in Navada?

{RAFi\QATl: Ves. it I"~

[STATB]: Are yOli familiar with same felony crimes that the Maravilla gang hos..or
mambcr3 of the Maravilla gang h.. r'lc] committed?

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: Objection. your honor.... That que'tion, one, is irrelevant
and, two, Is preJudicial.

THE COURT: [Sustained.]

CSTATEl: Detcotiva Rafaqat. do you know of your personal knowledge of any felony
crimcs which were committed by Mar.villa Bans members prior to December 12th,
1994?

lRAFAQAT1: V...

[STATE]: And were those felony crlrnes committed in the course of or in furthlmmcc

11
•
! 12
f"~ e~ ~ 13~ 3,,= .:..,
2: .. on

!II 0 l III -.;.. '. 14~5 .. ~:"?.. ~, ~ ~
'" dI , a )i 15o "J lI. 1:'" III

1.1. 5 1'.
j 0 III - ~ ~ 16
~i~8j
~ ~~ ~ ~ 17u j

I
• 18•

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

In. the ovenl: that: tne Court
pre.!Hlnt avidQr,c;o on the gang
bo clt .'lmi:Hled /)t' IS r.t'lSlllt
\rrol.!e'aH1L, I n.Hfmi55 i.h-lp. , ;3Inrl
cal!Gd gnnq ~XPQct.

doell (l(Jl f'1nd that l':ha Stat~ ha.d to
i)nhancttm"nr., thl!ln th13 TndictmQnt m!J"t

ot the Pl'fljlld.ic-.l.ill impact l;.rat. thft
lntL.'tmm",r.('Iry tear.lll!ony o~ 1;.110 9\1
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1

Hells AnBels os t'''llows:

Most signlf1canl [he so called expcn was flSked:

A man's life his loyalty ilnd l:ommitrncnt to the well being ofhil'l club comes firsl, above
famHYt job, friond, personal possessions and personal sufety (OJ 238),

A. There is nothing written down. in other words, ifyou are going to come into the
Hells Angels and they Ilre looking a~ you, it ill not 11 matter of, well, are you willing

That lhey commil felonies or commit crime as part of being a Hells Angels? That III
o value?

You don't becoma a Hells Angel unlcs! you are willing to be involved in criminal activity,
In the words of tho Hells Angell'll debriefed (hearsay) you arC' Involved In crimil1*,1 activity
whether you arc higher level or lower le....el, but you are involved in crlminalacti\'ity one
time or another (OJ 240);

A seriou~ motorcycle clUb, Me stilflds for moturcycle club, (;:ommands respect...wc, 8S 8

group, we cause fear and intimidation because we come in as ill group wearing theso
pfitchcs, riding 11 motorcycle, prepared ror confrontation (OJ 235·2]6);

Q.

of the activities of the Muravilln Gans?

lRAFAQAT1: Yes.
Rornqat's testimony simply docs nol odd,e" Iho .lomont ot' whether Mo,ovlUo
members commh felonies as Do cornman aCJIVlly. Rotuqat did nol testify 8S to an
npprmdmate number of Maravilla gang m~mbcrs who committed felonies. Ho did not
testify tha.t incoming members of the gang were exhorted to felonlu\JS acts by s<lnior
member~. The fact that individ\li,l members committed felony crimes which
benefltted the gung doe:! Jlot lead nec~swlly fo tho eonclUlllon that relonious IlClion i9
11 common denominator of the gang. Likewise, Just because certain members ora
hypothetical group play mus-icalln:ttrumenls, it does not Follow Ih8.1 the ~rouflls IU1
orChe~lri1.

Furthermore, RIl.fuqnt's testimony 4.'1 lo the definition of a crimil1QI gang. l'allowed by
his statement that the Maravilla gang was such a gang, does not constitute :/oufficlcnt
evidlJJlce. This t;stimony is akin to a pollee officer testifying us to some ofthe
'Iotutory elemenls ot'murder ond then s!allng tho leBol oonoluslon tho, the defendMI
murdered the victim, without provln8 each ilIld every one of those statutory clements.
RlltuqU\19conclusol")' tes.timony Is simply not proof pfcvery faclual clement required
lO lind lhut the Muravllln gang WWi II crim(nftllll'ng,

Therefore, we conclude thallhe c:!:vidence at triaJ, even when viewed in the tight mo:!t
favorable to the prosecution, does not provide p rational faclflnder with sufficient
eVldcnci:I that the members of the Mar~villa gang commit felonies as one of their
common acti",ities.

In th~ Il1stnnt case the so called gflng e;xpcrt lCfllltied regarding the "philosophy" ofthe

•

•

•

2

3

4

5

6

1

8

9

10

11

l 12
gil-in
~!~!~ 13z eo",

agi~:~ 14
,~ Oia,
~"'~!R15
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1

2
10 commit this crime. this crime, this crime? They don't talk ahout that.".

3 Accordin~ly. the State tried bUI railed 10 "llIbli,h that a common ..Ii,it}' oflha Hell.

4 An~els is engpging in felony criminal o..ctivity WI required by Nevl'dll!nw lo charge Mr. ViIlllgnma

5 wilh l\ Sltng enhancement.

6

7 B.

8 I.

9

10

THE GANG ENHANCEMENT IS A SPECIFIC INTENT CRIME,

If the grand jury ho. 10 nnd prohahl...... r.r tho gang cnhoneem.nlth.n thO)' also
hod 10 be Inslru.led nn .peelnelntentl

The gnmdj\l11' W8:i advised that CounL9 2.3.4. and 10 ali-they relate to Cesar Villagrana.

To combat Ford', constitutional challenges. the Stnte rCildily conoedcs·-ln fact,
.t1irmulively arguell--Ihul NRS 20 1.300(1)(a) require. ,pecinc Intent. We ogree.
but the Jury was not so instructed. The instructions the jury received :iimply
reprised the requirements for general intent unde-r NRS 193,190 (there must be "a
union, or joint opemtion of acl and intcntlonll for H cvcry crima or public ofTcn5c!')
lUld NRS 20 IJOO( 1)(a)ts text. E.ven more confusing. the general inll:nt tnstrul;tion
also addressed rnotive and admonished thcjury that "[m]otive [9 nol Wl clement of
the crime charged and the State is not required to prove D motive on the part of the
Defendant In order 10 convict," Combined whh the lack of an Instructitm on
specilie intent, these instructions creAted the mlsimprc."",ion thai Ford could be
convicted hosed simply on a showing thftt he intended lo speak the words he did,
rather than 'hEit he spoke them specincwly intending to pcr8uad~ Faul "to become
u pro~litutc" or "lo continue 10 engage In prostitutIon. '1 Allhough Ford did not
Object to lhe rallurc to Instruct on specific intent, the error WllS plain. and the
failure to give 6spccitic intent instruction allOtted Ford's SUb51anlial rights. Sad,
e.g., Peopl. v. lIiII, 103 Cal.App.3d 525. 161 Cal.Rptr. 99.108 (1980) (reversing
l'undcrillil conviction bt.'Ctiusc th~ Jury WllS not in.:nruclcd on specific intent), For

In Ford v. Stale, 263 P,3d 1123 (2011) tho Nevoda Suprome Court held that it we., plain

gung, with the spoti tlc intent to promote. funher or assist Ihe activities of a gang." S~C OJ

Transcript page 6.

error noL to instnlct a jury on specific intent.

19

20

21

22

23

24

2S

26

27

28

.. 11 W«:fe;, committed "knowingly for the benefit of, at the direction of or in affllintion with (l orimlnal
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1

2
this reason, We reverse and remand for 11 new trial.

3 In the instant case the Brand jury was instructed thai in order for there to be ft ganG

4 enhancement they must lind that the Defendant lipeciflcully intended to promote a criminal gang;

S
yet, they were not instrucled as to what specific intent meant.

6
C.

7

8

COUNT IV;

Thi!i countnllegcs thut Mr. ViIlagrallP committed a Dauery with Deadly Weapon ag~nsl

9 Leonard Ramirez. However. not only did Mr. Rumlre:r. not lc!llify Ilt the grand jury~ the Stale

10 pres.ented nocvldcnec to demonstrate that it wa~ Mr. Villagrana that shot Mr. Ramirez. The

Whnt appeared to be 11 gUJ1:1hol wound in hls lower right abdominal nrea.

l.et me a.'ik you, was the man wirh the apparent gunshot wound, Wft,3 he cooperativo
in describing whot had hoppened?

When you tried Hl lake E1 pIcture oflhe tnan':'I face, what was his reaction?

He was uncooperative wilh the: photos of his face and tried to guurd hill face (rom
the photo.

Tell us where you saw the apparent gunshot wound?Q.

A.

A.

Q.

Q.

18

11
testimony was as follows:

19

20

21

22

23

24

2S

26

21

28

Q.

A.

Nu, he WWI not. He was not coopera1ive,

Wus the surgeon· ~ Did you ever see tithe :iurgeon removed a hullct trom the man?

Nl1, nothing was removed from him dUring sUl'gery,

--,----
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Unlike Count 3 ofth.lndielmont where Iii. alleged lhat Mr, Villall''''''' banered Diego

1
2 CiJTSp, 117-121.

3

4
Gnrcia Ilnd the State introduced evidence that lhc bullet retrieved from Garclll'~ hody was oJleg.r:dly

5
6 fired by Villujp'ana's gun (OJ 182), [here was no such evidence as It relo.tes to Mr. Ramirez.

7

8

9

Q.

A.

Did you have nny bullets to examine from Rwnirez?

No. From what I understand, Iwas told there is llll indivld.ual, Idon't know who,
lhat still ha. 0 bullel in them,

10 OJTS p, 187,

18

DupliSlDtlye Cguntlfi.

Cuunt!! I, 2 and 10 charge the snme criminal conduct. Counl 1 is a QonsplroQ)' 10 enter Into

nn fl~recmcnt to tight. Count 21:1 Q challenge to tight where it is olleged thai Cesur VllIogrunll wlU

lIahlo as uprinciple. conspirator or alder and abener which resulted in the death ofJefficy

PelllStew and Counl 10 i. an allosolioo of an agroemenllo fight (atTray) where Cosar VIUaIl'Moi.

aUesed 10 be an aider and .beller re.ultins in tho doath of JeflTey Pottigrew.

The FiJ\h Amendment Double Jeopardy ChlU8C forbids the duplicaUve prosecution

19
of II defendant for the "same offense," U,S. Canst. amend. V; OJockburgBr v. United 8/(1111. 284

20
U.S. 299, 304, 52 S.C!. 180, 182,76 L.Ed, 306 (1932).

21

22 In determining whether tWo counts (and in this cnse three) Bre duptlcative and thus vtolalCl a

2J defendant'!; rj~hl8 under the Doublt;l Jeopardy C1Quse or the Fifth Amendment. we ask whether each

24 count contains an element not contaIned in the other. See Chacko, 169 F.Jd at 146 (ching

25 Btockburger v, United Sloles, 284 U.S. 299, 52 S,C!. 180,76 L.Ed. 306 (1932); Un/t.d Sialu v,

26

27

28

Olson. 509 U,S. 688. 696, J 13 S.C!. 2849, 125 L.Ed.2d 556 (1993)). If '0, the offen... "are nol the

3'

SS-\
----_.__._..._----------
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The allegations And burden orproofn" to each of these counts is i~enticaJ snd therefore

same of'fcnse for purposes of double jeopardy, and they elm both be prosecuted." Chacko, 169 FJd
2

J at 146. If, however, either orfen~e ~oes not contain lln element not contained in the other. the

4 ommscs are considered the same offense for double jeopllrdy purposcst and a d~rendant cannot be

5 convicted nfboth.

6

7
lhey arQ duplicative counls.

8

10

CQunl V;

Thi!!. Count alleges that Cesar Villagrana dl:;~harsed 8 firearm in a. slructure. This Count

'.unl ~];

The Stote presented no elvidencc as to thi!l element of the offens-e.

'('his Counl alleges that Cesar Villagrana carried a concealed weapon. The grand jury was.

19

11 rcquirl,ll'l the Stule to present evidence [hal the location where the flreunn WQS discharged hall "been

9 Ii : 12 de.!lignated by the city or county ordinance as a populated "tea for the purpose of prohibiting the

l:! ~ ~; 13
ut 5~ ti e~ disch!lrge of wCl1pona".
j,t,l~ 14
,~ • i .
~.e ~~~ 15
3ll:h:;t~

~~i~~~ 16 l.
~lal'~
u ~ ... 17

18 not Inslructed as 10 the sllltulDry definition ofconcealed,

NRS 202.350(8) provides:
20 As used in this seclion:

21 (0) "Concealed weupon" menns a wcnpon described in tbis section that is curriod upon a person in
such Q manner all nQllo be discernibla by ordinary observation.

I
:1

I'

I
]1

I

22

23

24

25

26

27

28 :16

55:1-
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This hmv~ us in the posilion of only guessing what W95 in the minds of the Orand JurorR - whioh

The proper mission of the Orand Jury is "to pursue its investigation independently altho

mi:dnstrllcled on critical points necessary 10 its determInation of the existence of probable cause,

mlsinstructcd on vicarious liability, and nol in9trucled on vicurious JlabiJity through etlnapiracy,

GROUND VI,

CUMULATIVE ERROR'

lInder Slltrlff v. frank, thl. Cnmblnatlnn of Inadmls.lhle, Se.ondary, and
Innnmmatory ",ldeD«, aDd MI.ID.lrndloD nfthe Grand Jury, De.troyed lhe
E.lsten<o of aD IDdepeDdeDt aDd IDformed G.aDd Jury and I...parably fmpalrod II.
Fun~tlQn.

In this case, the Orand Jury function was irreparably impnircd by the presentation of

and inflammQtory evidence was presented against the Petitioner - the Orand Jury wu

prosecuting attorney:' rd. Here not only was the vast mo.jorlty ofcvidcncc inadmissible. irrelevant

informed grand jury and irreparably impaired Its funotion. 't {d.

circumstanc:es -the Supreme CQurt found - "clearly destroyed the existence of an independent and

deprives the Petitioners of the ha.llie protection the grMd jury WitS designed to afford. See, Slmp:wn,

than e,t.led in Sh"iff. Clark County v, Frank, 734 P.2d 1241 (Nev, 1987),

The prosccUlion failed to prcl\enl the self-defense instruction. This C69C has a good deal more error

provided sufficient evidenc" upon which to dctenninc certain counts. The Grand Jury wn$

inudmlssiblc. secondary and inOammatory evidence llS di~cussc:d above. The Grund Jury WQI' nol

of inadmissible evidence received by the grand Jury", Frank, 734 P,2d 1244 • 45. The.e

In FI'<.mk. the Suprernc!l Court uffirmed- the granting of a writ when there was a combination

of (he "districl ut1omcy's failure to submit exculpatory evidence, coupled wHh the substmltlol body

1

2

3

4 I.

5

6

7

8

9

10

11
•

9I, 12
~ .. :: '"

W II. tti " '" 13
II. ell':' "
Z "" 0 III

• 0 r" j1011': r lJl
14" -._ U • j .

ttn::J& a
15Q oIll i '" '" ro

!i~iif 16.!rjw >.
~ 0- 17
u~ l

18I

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27 supra. It wall also given insufficient evidence so it would be properly infonnod llnd be able 10

28
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1

make an independent dett"rmination.
2 . ,.tt
3 DATED tblS ~..::: day ofMa",h, 2012.
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Respectfully Submitted:

CHESNorr 8< SCHONFELD---
<;::1'~\fc;~~ESQ~---=::'

Nevada Bar No. 2292
RICHARD A. SCHONFELD. ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 6815
520 South Fourth Str••t
La, Vag,"" Navada 89101
Attorney ror CesElr Villagrana
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DAVID Z. CHESNOFF, ESQ.
No.ada Bar No. 22'2
RICHARD A. SCHONFELD, ESQ.
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CESAR VILLAGRANA

SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF NEVADA
WASHOE COUNTY, NEVADA

THE STATE OF NEVADA, ) Case No. CRlI·1718A
) Dopl. 4

PlalnUff )
)

•• )
)

CESAR VILLAGRANA, )
I

Defendant. )
)

EXHIBIT LlSI

ID D..crlpllon Ex1Ilbll #

I Jury Inslructions I



• •
,
3

•

•

SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT
COUNTY OF WASHOE, STATE OF NEVADA

AFFIRMATION
PurouI"llo NRS i39B.030

The undersigned does hereby Iffirm that th& precldlng document, _

Order that Writ of Habeas Corpus Issue.

(SI.le spaclfic state or lederellaw)

AfIlf't!ul,tkm
RulMld OtIC4Rltrot a. 20M

o For the admlnlstrallon of a publlo program

·ar..

o For In applicallon for. feder.1 or s'ate g,ent

-or·
o Conlklanlla' Family Court InIon Sheet

(NRS 125.130, NRS 125.23 a S 125B.

(Title of Document)

'c..enumber: CR11·1718A

sst

· i
"I i.'. j Document does not conlaln the soolll .eourlty number of any pelion

·OR·

i Documenl contllns Ihe socill.eounty number of a peroon •• required by:.. ,
" n 0 A specific .tale or fede/'llllew, to wit:

!

1i"

's

,Q

2Q

"
U

23.. Date:

%.

%.

21
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HE STATE OF NEVADA.

Plaintiff.

SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF NEVADA
WASHOE COUNTY, NEVADA

Ca.eNo. (',(-11.1718·",
Oep" No. 4

DAVID Z. CHESNOFF, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 2292

2 RICHARD A. SCHONFELD, ESQ.
evada Bar No. 68\ 5

3 SARALU;NE S. DURRETT, ESQ.
·evadaBarNo.11461

4 CHESNOFF & SCHONFELD
520 S. Fourth Street. 2"' Floor

5 LasVcgas.NV 89101
(702) 384·5563

6 Anorncy, /br OetCndant
Cesar Villagrana

7

8

9

10

1I v,.
12 CESAR VILLAGRANA. )

Defendant.

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE BY FACSIMILE AND MAIL

The un<Jersi8ncd hereby ccrtiOc, lha' on the~ day ofMaroh, 2012. the foregoing Petilion

17 for Writ of HabeRs Corpus WQS deposited in the United Slates Mail, postage prepaid, i\nd sent via

18 facsimile as follows:

16

13

14

15

19 Mr. Richard Oammick
Deputy District Attorney

20 P.O. Box 30083
Reno, Nevada 89520

21 Via Pac,imile (775) 325·6701

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

ofT '" Schonfeld

---------_......_.
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~
Nevada law defines a conspiracy as "an agreement between

two or more persons for an unlawful purpose. A person who
knowingly does any act to further the object of a conspiracy, or
otherwise participates therein, is criminally liable as a conspirator.
Evidence of II coordinated series of acts furthering the underlying
offense is sufficient to infer the existence of an agreement and
support a conspiracy conviction. However, absent an agreement to
cooperate in achieving the purpose ofa conspiracy, mere
knowledge of, acquiescence in, or approval of that purpose docs
not make one a party to conspiracy.

Vicarious liability in criminal law is derivative liability
necessarily based on some sort ofstatus relationship between the
accused and the primary actor, such as that of employer-employee.

Every person concerned in the commission of a felony, gross
misdemeanor or misdemeanor, whether the person directiy
commits the act constituting the offense, or aids or abets in its
commission, and whether present or absent; and every person who,
directly or indirectly, counsels, encourages, hires, commands,
induces or otherwise procures another to commit a felony, gross
misdemeanor or misdemeanor is a principal, and shall be
proceeded against and punished as such. The fact that the person
aided, abetted, counseled, encouraged, hired, commanded, induced
or procured, could not or did not entertain a criminal intent shall
not be a defense to any person aiding, abetting, counseling,
encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing or procuring him or
her.
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AlfRAX . bllIf two or more persons shall, by agreement, fight In a pu c
place, to the terror of the citizens of this state, the persons so
offending commit an affray.

B TTE
\. a defendant
2. willfully and unlawfully;
3. perpetrates an act of violence against another person;
4. with the use of a deadly weapon (a firearm is a deadly

weapon)

I!JSCIlARGE OF AFIBEARI\!lN AURI1{;;I1lBE
The elements of the crime of discharging a fireann in a structure
are as follows:

1. A person is in, on or under a structure; and
2. maliciously or wantonly discharges or maliciously or

wantonly causes to be discharged a firearm within or from
the structure; and

3. the structure is within an area designated by city or county
ordinance as a populated area for the purpose of
prohibiting the discharge of weapons.

The words "maliciously" or "wantonly", in this context, mean
conduct that not only creates unreasonable risk of bodily harm to
others but also involves high probability that substantial harm will
result.

E N
[t is unlawful for a person to carry a pistol, revolver or other
firearm concealed upon his person unless authorized by State or
Federal law.
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E

EOLLQWl!;
I. The defendant did willfully and unlawfully;
2. kill a human being;
3. with malice aforethought, either express or implied.

Express malice is that deliberate intention to unlawfully take
away the life ofa fellow creature, which is manifested by external
circumstances capable of proof.

Malice may be implied when no considerable provocation
appears or when all the circumstances of the killing show an
abandoned and malignant heart.

Murder of the first degree is murder which is perpetrated by
means of any kind of willful, deliberate, and premeditated killing.
All three elements--willfulness, deliberation, and premeditation-·
must be proven beyond a reasonable doubt before an accused can
be convicted of first-degree murder.

Willfulness is the intent to kill. There need be no
appreciable space oftime between formation of the Intent to kill
and the act of killing.

Deliberation is the process ofdetermining upon a
course of action to kill as a result of thought, including weighing
the reasons for and against the action and considering the
consequences of the action.

A deliberate determination may be anived at in a short
period oftime. But in all cases the determination must not be
formed in passion, or if formed in passion, it must be carried out
after there has been time for the passion to subside and deliberation
to occur. A mere unconsidered and rash impulse is not deliberate,
even though it includes the intent to kill.

Premeditation is a design, a determination to kill,
distinctly formed in the mind by the time of the killing.



• •
Premeditation need not be for a day, an hour, or even a

minute. It may be as instantaneous as successive thoughts of the
mind. For if the jury belleves from the evidence that the act
constituting the killing has been preceded by and has been the
result of premeditation, no matter how rapidly the act follows the
premeditation, it is premeditated.

The law does not undertake to measure in units of time
the length of the period during which the thought must be
pondered before it can ripen into an intent to kill which is truly
deliberate and premeditated. The time will vary with different
individuals and under varying circumstances.

The true test is not the duration of time, but rather the
extent of the reflection. A cold, calculated judgment and decision
may be arrived at in a short period of time, but a mere
unconsidered and rash impulse, even though it includes an intent to
kill, is not deliberation and premeditation as will fix an unlawful
killing as murder of the first degree.

I. A person, upon previous concert and agreement, fights with any
other person or gives, sends or authorizes any other person to give
or send a challenge verbally or in writing to fight any other person,
the person giving, sending or accepting the challenge to fight any
other person or
2. A person who acts for another in giving, sending, or accepting,
either verbally or in writing, a challenge to fight any other person
and:
3. Death ensues to a person in such a fight, or should a person die
from any il\iuries received in such a fight, the person causing or
having any agency in causing the death, either by fighting or by
giving or sending for himself or herself or for any other person, or
in receiving for himselfor herself or for any other person, the
challenge to fight, is guilty of murder.
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1 CODE 2645
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2 #001510
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IN THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA,

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF WASHOE.

* * *

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Plaintiff,
Case No. CRl1-1718B

v.
Dept. No. 4

ERNESTO MANUEL GONZALEZ,

Defendant.

I

OPPOSITION TO SECOND MOT ION TO DISMISS

16 COMES NOW, the State of Nevada, by and through RICHARD A.

17 GAMMICK, District Attorney of Washoe County, and KARL S. HALL, Chief

18 Deputy District Attorney, and files this OPPOSITION TO SECOND MOTION

19 TO DISMISS based upon the attached Points and Authorities, NRS

20 34.700 (1) (a) and NRS 34.710 (1) (b), the Order denying the Motion to

21 Dismiss Indictment or in the Alternative Petition for Writ of Habeas

22 Corpus filed September 13, 2012, and all other pleadings and papers

23 on file herein.

24 I I I

25 I I I

26 III



1 POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

2

3 PROCEDURAL HISTORY and FACTS

4 The Indictment against ERNESTO MANUEL GONZALEZ (hereinafter,

5 "GONZALEZ") was filed on November 9, 2011. GONZALEZ filed his "Motion

6 to Dismiss Indictment or in the Alternative Petition for Writ of Habeas

7 Corpus" on February 12, 2012 as the Trial Court found good cause to

8 extend the deadline for filing a Writ of Habeas Corpus allowing

9 GONZALEZ to file his writ by March 8, 2012. Cesar Villagrana

10 (hereinafter ~'Villagrana") filed his Writ Petition on March 5, 2012.

11 GONZALEZ filed his first Motion to Join the arguments contained in

12 Villagrana's writ petition on May 29, 2012. GONZALEZ filed his second

13 motion to join on June 11, 2012. The State filed an Opposition to

14 Defendant GONZALEZ's Motion to Dismiss/Petition for Writ of Habeas

15 Corpus on March 5, 2012. Now GONZALEZ seeks to circumvent the time

16 proscriptions set forth in the Trial Court's Order setting the March

17 8th deadline for filing a writ of habeas corpus. GONZALEZ mistakenly

18 contends that the title of his moving papers, "Second Motion to

19 Dismiss" controls and allows him to enlarge the time for attacking the

20 indictment. GONZALEZ contends, at this late date, that he should be

21 able to now incorporate the issues raised in Villagrana's Petition for

22 Writ of Habeas Corpus filed March 5, 2012 into his "Motion to Dismiss".

23 GONZALEZ is wrong.

24 III

25 III

26 III



1 GONZALEZ IS NOT ENTITLED TO RELEIF ON HIS "SECOND MOTION TO DISMISS"

2 The Second Motion to Dismiss filed by GONZALEZ should be

3 denied for the following reasons:

4 1) The Trial Court, in the Order dated September 13, 2012,

5 (hereinafter the "Order") has already denied GONZALEZ's first and

6 second motions to join the issues raised in Villagrana's writ based

7 upon the fact that the request was not timely filed.

8 2) The Order states that the Trial Court considered and

9 rejected the arguments raised in Villagrana's original petition and

10 would likewise reject those arguments with respect to GONZALEZ

11 stating: "Moreover, even if GONZALEZ properly joined in Villagrana's

12 Original Petition, the Court finds that the Court's conclusions

13 regarding the first six grounds of relief would not change if

14 GONZALEZ had asserted them, even though the Court's factual analysis

15 would be slightly different to address GONZALEZ's particular

16 circumstances." See Order p.22 fn. 18.

17 3) GONZALEZ fails to state any basis for his claim that the

18 title of his pleading relieves him of the time restraints imposed by

19 this Court. The Second Motion to Dismiss fails to make citation to

20 any fact or law supporting GONZALEZ's position. The mere use of

21 alternative nomenclature does not change the nature of GONZALEZ's

22 challenges to the indictment or the Trial Court's filing deadline.

23 I I I

24 I I I

25 I I I

26 III



1 CONCLUSION

2 This Court has already ruled on the issue(s) presented in

3 this ~Second Motion to Disrniss H and the motion should be denied based

4 upon the doctrine of res judicata.

5

6 AFFIRMATION PURSUANT TO NRS 239B.030

7 The undersigned does hereby affirm that the preceding

8 document does not contain the social security number of any person.

9 Dated this 12th day of October, 2012.

10 RICHARD A. GAMMICK
District Attorney

11 Washoe County, Nevada

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26
1011CRll1718Bgg

By/s/KARL S. HALL
KARL S. HALL
23
Chief Deputy District Attorney

566
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE BY E-FILING

I certify that I am an employee of the Washoe County

3 District Attorneyls Office and that, on this date, I electronically

4 filed the foregoing with the Clerk of the Court by using the ECF

5 system which will send a notice of electronic filing to the

6 following:

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

MAIZIE W. PUSICH, C.D.P.D.
WASHOE COUNTY PUBLIC DEFENDER'S OFFICE
350 S. CENTER STREET, 5 TH FLOOR
P.O. BOX 30083
RENO, NV 89520

CHRISTOPHER FREY, D.P.D.
WASHOE COUNTY PUBLIC DEFENDER'S OFFICE
350 S. CENTER STREET, 5 TH FLOOR
P.O. BOX 30083
RENO, NV 89520

BIRAY DOGAN, D.P.D.
WASHOE COUNTY PUBLIC DEFENDER'S OFFICE
350 S. CENTER STREET, 5 TH FLOOR
P.O. BOX 30083
RENO, NV 89520

DATED this 12th day of October, 2012.

/s/GAYET GUTIERREZ
GAYET GUTIERREZ
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(775) 337-4800
Attorney for Defendant
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IN THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA IN AND

FOR THE COUNTY OF WASHOE

THE STATE OF NEVADA,
10

11

12

13

14

15

PlaintifJ;

v.

ERNESTO MANUEL GONZALEZ,

Defendant.
____________1

CASE NO: CRlI-1718B

DEPT. NO: 4

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

REPLY TO STATE'S OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANT'S
SECOND MOTION TO DISMISS

COMES NOW, the Defendant, ERNESTO MANUEL GONZALEZ, by and through bis

attorney of record, Jeremy T. Bosler, Washoe County Public Defender, Maize Pusich, Chief

Deputy Public Defender, and Biray Dogan and Christopher Frey, Deputy Public Defenders, and

hereby replies to the State's opposition filed on October 12, 2012. This motion is based upon

the attached points and authorities and any evidence and argument as may be presented at the

23 III

24 III

25 III

26 III

1
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8
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19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

hearing on this matter.1

ARGUMENT

The State asserts that Mr. Gonzalez's second motion to dismiss should be denied

considering (1) the court's previous ruling denying joinder, (2) the court already ruled

alternatively on Mr. Gonzalez's co-defendant's arguments as they related to him and the

outcome would be the same ifjoinder had been permitted, (3) there is no authority for filing a

second motion to dismiss, and (4) a loose reference to res judicata. For the following reasons,

the State's cursory arguments all fail.

First, the State cannot assert untimeliness in aid ofits claim that Mr. Gonzalez's second

motion to dismiss should be denied. The State consented to joinder for the reasons already

articulated, which are incorporated here by reference. See Reply to the State's Opposition to

Defendant's Request for Clarification or Supplemental Order (October 15, 2012) at 2-4. As

noted previously, that argument is waived. rd. at 4.

Second, the court's alternative rulings on his co-defendant's arguments are not merits-

detelll1inations as to Mr. Gonzalez. The reasons why they are not merits-determinations have

aheady been articulated, and they are incorporated here by reference. See id. (explaining why

the court's alternative rulings in footnotes 18 and 19 are not merits-determinations); Motion to

Stay Trial Pending Writ Review ofthis Court's Order Denying Defendant's Motion to Dismiss

or in the Alternative Petition for Writ ofHabeas Corpus (October 8, 2012) at 3-9

(distinguishing betw"een the court's merits and alternative rulings and identifying those

arguments not reached as to Mr. Gonzalez); Reply to State's Opposition to Defendant's

1Mr. Gonzalez moved to extend time to file his reply on October 17, 2012, accompanied by an
affidavit establishing good cause. The State filed a non-opposition to the extension request on

2
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20
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24

25

26

(October 15, 2012) at 3-4; Request for Clarification or Supplemental Order (October 8, 2012);

Second Motion to Dismiss (October 8, 2012). The hypothetical disposition of the merits

achieved by the court's alternative rulings is not a basis to oppose the actual disposition of the

merits that Mr. Gonzalez is seeking. It is precisely why a merits-disposition is required, either

by clarification or supplement to this court's September 13, 2012, order, or by reaching the

merits ofMr. Gonzalez's second motion to dismiss?

Third, the State suggests there is no authority for a second motion to dismiss, and thus it

should be denied, while citing no authority of its own. While a pretrial writ ofhabeas corpus is

a vehicle for challenging the "sufficiency of the evidence to sustain the indictment," NRS

172.155(2), legal issues arising from an indictment are subject to challenge byway ofa motion

to dismiss, at "anytime during the pendency of the proceedings.") NRS 174.105(3); see, e.g.,

Sardis v. Dist. Court, 85 Nev. 585, 589, 460 P.2d 163, 165 (1969) (motion to dismiss brought

October 19, 2012.
'See Request for Clarification or Supplemental Order (October 8, 2012) at 3 ("Should the court
clarify that joinder is permitted in support of Mr. Gonzalez's original motion to dismiss, then
Mr. Gonzalez would request that the court dispose of the merits of the joined arguments as they
relate to him. Alternatively, should the court decline to clarify or supplement its September 13,
2012, order, or were the court to deny joinder as to his original motion to dismiss, then Mr.
Gonzalez would request that the court rule on the merits of the contentions incorporated by
reference in his Second Motion to Dismiss."); Second Motion to Dismiss (October 8, 2012) at
3-4 (presenting the same alternative request for relief).
)As the court has recognized, see, e.g., Order at 6 n.4, 8 n.7 (reviewing co-defendant's
argument as a legal one in the first instance and not one of sufficiency); 7 n.6 (recognizing that
co-defendant's argument raised the legal issue of statutory interpretation); 8 n.8
(acknowledging the legal nature of the conspiracy-to-conspire argument), and as Mr. Gonzalez
has already explained, see Motion to Stay Trial Pending Writ Review of this Court's Order
Denying Defendant's Motion to Dismiss or in the Alternative Petition for Writ ofHabeas
Corpus (October 8, 2012) at 3-9, the arguments that Mr. Gonzalez sought to join are premised
on issues of law, issues with jurisdictional import, the cognizability of the charged offenses,
and raise defects in the institution of the prosecution, "other than insufficiency of the evidence
to warrant the indictment." See NRS 174.105.

3
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under NRS 174.105(3) for complaint's failure to state an offense as a result of factual

deficiencies). Contrary to the State;s claim, nomenclature matters.

Mr. Gonzalez's original pleading was alternatively a motion to dismiss and writ

petition. See Motion to Dismiss Indictment or in the Alternative Petition for Writ of Habeas

Corpus (February 24,2012). The governing statutory authority honors the significance of this

alternative framing. Mr. Gonzalez is asking for the same recognition here. When the merits of a

first motion to dismiss are only partially resolved, a second motion to dismiss may be brought

to resolve the contentions that were not actually disposed of Cf. NRS 174.105. Mr. Gonzalez is

entitled to this review, and he has no intention ofwaiving his right to it. See NRS 174.105(1)

and (2) (a motion to dismiss as to defects in indictment must be made «before trial"; failure will

"constitute[] a waiver"); Gibson v. State, 96 Nev. 48, 50. 604 P.2d 814, 815 (1980) (un­

litigated NRS 174.105-arguments are waived on appeal).

Finally, the State loosely refers to the "doctrine ofres judicata," while making no

argument that it actually applies here. It does not. To the extent that it refers to claim

preclusion, see Five Star Capital Corp. v. Ruby, 124 Nev. 1048, 1054, 194 P.3d 709, 713

(2008) (abandoning ''res judicata" terminology in favor of "claim" and "issue" preclusion and

announcing separate tests for each), the reference is meritless. There is no final judgment and

this is not a subsequent action. See id. To the extent the State means to allude to claim

preclusion, the reference is inapposite forthe reasons already noted, and because Mr.

Gonzalez's co-defendant's arguments were not actually resolved on the merits as to him. rd. at

1055, 194 P.3d at 713 (issue preclusion requires a ruling on the merits that has attained finality

III

III
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ofissues that were actually and necessarily litigated).

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, should the court decline to clarify or supplement its September

13,2012, order and allow joinder as to his original motion to dismiss, Mr. Gonzalez

respectfully requests that the court reach the merits of the contentions incorporated in Mr.

Gonzalez's second motion to dismiss.

AFFIRMATION PURSUANT TO NRS 239B.030

The undersigned does hereby affinn that the preceding document does not contain the

social security number of any person.

DATED this 19th Day of October, 2012.

JEREMY T. BOSLER
Washoe County Public Defender

By /s/ Christopher Frey
CHRISTOPHER FREY
Deputy Public Defender

By /s/ Biray Dogan
BIRAY DOGAN
Deputy Public Defender

By lsi Maizie Pusich
MA1Z1E PUSICH

ChiefDeputy Public Defender
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true copy of the foregoing document through inter-office mail to:
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District Attorney's Office
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Transaction # 3313324

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF WASHOE

IN THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA4

5

6

7 THE STATE OF NEVADA,

8 Plaintiff,
vs.

On October 17, 2012 Gonzalez filed DeferuJant's Motion Requesting an Extension afTime to Reply to the
State '9 Opposilion to SecondMotion to Dismiss. On October 19, 2012, the State filed Reply to Defendant's Motion
Requesting an &lension ofTime to Reply to the State's Opposition to SecondMotion to Dismiss. The Slate did not
oppose an extension of time for Gonzalez to file his Reply brief. While Gonzalez's Motion Requesting an Extension
ofTime was not submitted to the Court, the Court will accept the State's non-opposition and review the Reply in its
consideration of the Second Motion to Dbmlss.

AdditIonally, on October 8, 2012, Gonzalez med Second Motion ro Dismiss ("Second

Motion to Dismiss"). The State filed Opposition to Second Motion to Dismiss on October 12,

2012. On October 19, 2012, Gonzalez filed Reply ro State's Opposition to Defendant's Second

Motion to Dismiss.1 Thereafter the matter was submitted and is now before the Court for review.

ORDER GRANTING IN PART AND DENYING IN PART REOUEST FOR
CLARIFICATION OR SUPPLEMENTAL ORDER AND DENYING SECOND MOTION

TODJSMISS

On October 8, 2012, Defendant Ernesto Manuel Gonzalez (hereinafter, "Gonzalez'') filed

Requestfor Clarification or Supplemental Order ("Request"). The State of Nevada (hereinafter,

''the State") filed Opposition to Requestfor Clarification or Supplemental Order on October 12,

2012. On October 15,2012, Gonzalez filed Reply 10 State's Opposition to Defendant's Request

for Clarification or Supplemental Order. Thereafter the matter was submitted and is now before

the Cow1 for review.

Dept. No. 4

Case No. CRI1-1718B

Defendant.

ERNESTO MANUEL GONZALEZ,

__________1
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1 The Court 'Will consider both of Gonzalez's motions together as they are almost identical

2 pleadings and ultimately seek the same relief. Gonzalez argues that, even if the Court properly

3 denied his joinder to Villagrana's Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus ("Original Petition"), he

4 should have been allowed to join Villagrana's arguments in his Motion to Dismiss? Gonzalez

5 notes that the Court ruled alternatively on those arguments in its September 13, 2012 Order;

6 however, Gonzalez requests that the Court rule on the merits of the Villagrana"s arguments with

7 respect to him.

8 With respect to Gonzalez's Request tbe State argues that Gonzalez's joinder was

9 untimely because the deadline for filing a challenge to the indictment was March 8, 2012. The

10 State asserts that there is no need to clarify or supplement the Court's September 13, 2012 Order

II because the Court found that the arguments raised by Villagrana were without merit With

12 respecl to the Second Motion to Dismiss, the Slate argues that the motion should he denied

13 because the Court already denied Gonzalez's Motions to Join. The State asserts that the Court

14 already found that if Gonzalez properly joined Villagrana's Original Petition his arguments

15 would not entitle him to relief. The State argues that Gonzalez does not cite any legal authority

16 for his Second Motion to Dismiss or to excuse his delay in filing the pleading.

17 As the parties recognize, the Court has previously ruled alternatively on the arguments

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

~ On February 24, 2012, Gonzalez filed Motion 10 Dismiss lndicimenl or in the Alternative Petitionfor WrU
oj Habeas Corpus. The State filed Opposition to Deftndant Gonzalez's Motion to Dismiss! PetitIon/or Writ of
Habeas Corpus on March S, 2012. On May 29, 2012, Gonzalez flied Motion to ParJially Join in Co~Defendon(

Cesar Villagrana's Wril ofHabeas Corpus and Mollon to Compel ("Firnt Motion to Jom"), which BOUght to join the
Marcum notice issue raised in his Co-Defendant Cesar Villagrana's Pre~Trial Writ. The State filed OpposUion to
Defendant Gonzalez's Motion to ParJiaily Join in Co-Defendant CesfJr Villagrana's WriJ 0/ Habeas Corpus and
Motion to Compel on June 14,2012, The same day, Gonzalez: filed Reply to Opposition to Deftndant's Motion to
Partia/ly Join in Co-Defendant Ccsar Villagrana's Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus and Motion to Cot1rpeJ.
Gonzalez filed Motion to Join the Balance ofCo~DefendantCesar Villagrana's Petition for Writ a/Habeas Corpw
("Second Motion to Join") on June 11,2012, Ute Court heard oral argwnent on the matter on the dates requested by
counsel: June 14, 2012 and July 13,2012. On September ]3, 20l2, the Court entered an Order denying Gonzalez'/l
Motions to Join and found that even if he had properly joined Villagrana's writ he would not be entitled to relief.
[See Order ("Sep. 13 Order'') filed Sep. 13,2012, p. 22, n. 18].

Subsequent to the CoUJ1;'s September 13, 2012 Order, Gonzalez filed Supplemental Poffl/S and A"UthorWes
in Support ofMotion to Di.imiss mdJctment or in the Altemative Petition/or Writ ofHabeas Corpus and Motion to
Reconsider Bosed Upon Newly Disclosed EVidence ("Motion to Reconsider"). The Court issued an Order regarding
Gonzalez's Motion to Reconsider earlier today, which is attached hereto 88 Exhibit l. [See Ex.. 1, Order Granting in
Part and Denying in Part Motion for Reconsideration and Denying Motion for Sanctions ("Reconsideration Order"),
tiled October 30, 20121.



I raised by Villagrana in his Original Petition that Gonzalez seeks to put forth in lbe current

2 pleadings before lbe Court. In lbe September 13, 2012 Order lbe Court cited to ils findings and

3 analysis related to Villagrana's Original Petition and found that "even if Gonzalez properly

4 joined Villagrana's Original Petition, the Court finds that the Court's conclusions regarding the

5 first six grounds of relief would not change if Gonzalez had asserted them, even though the

6 Court's factual analysis would be slightly different to address Gonzalez's particular

7 circwns1ances." [Sep. 13 Order p. 22, n. 18]. In the Reconsideration Order entered earlier today,

8 the Court reconsidered its decision to deny Gonzalez's Motion to Join with respect to the

9 Marcwn Notice issue.' [See Ex. I, pp. 2-3, 5]. The Court hereby iocorporates its findings and

10 analysis from the Reconsideration Order herein. [See Ex, I]. Because the Court has considered

11 and disposed of the merits of Gonzalez's Marcum Notice argwnents in its Reconsideration

12 Order, the Court finds that, with respect to the Marcwn Notice issue, Gonzalez's Request must

13 be denied as moot and his Second Motion to Dismiss must be denied for the reasons stated in the

14 Reconsideration Order. [See il!,].

15 The Court next considers Gonzalez's Request and Second Motion to Dismiss with respect

16 to Ground Two through Ground Six of Villagrana's Original Petition. While Gonzalez does not

17 specifically seek reconsideration of the Court's September 13, 2012 Order denying his Second

18 Motion to Join, his Request essentially seeks reconsideration of the Court's decision.4

19 Consistent with the Court's finding in the Reconsideration Order regarding Gonzalez's joinder to

20 the Marcwn Notice issue, the Court now finds that reconsideration of the September 13, 2012

•

,21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

The Court notes that its Reconsideration Order was specific to the First Motion to loin filed by Gonzalez
on May 29, 2012. where Gonzalez attempted to join the Marcum Notice arguments contained in Ground One of
Villagrana's Original Petition. In his pleadings related to the Reconsideration Order Gonzalez did not request that
the Court reconsider its decision to deny his Second Motion to Join. Thus, the Court did not consider the issue in its
Reconsideration Order issued earlier today. Gonzalez's Second Motion to loin sought to join the balance of
Villagrana's Original Petition. which contained five additional grounds for relief. The following, as. titled in
Villagrana's Original Petition, are the grounds ofrelief that were the subject of Gonzalez's Second Motion to Join:
(a) Ground Two: The Grand Jury Instructions Failed to Address Self-Defense; (b) Ground Three; The SlrIleture of
the Indictment as to 'Mr. Villagrana----the Lack of Probable Cause and Instructional Errors that Violate NRS §
172.095(2); (c) Ground Four: The Testimony of Jorge GiI·B1anco was Inadmissible and Caused Prejudice; (d)
Ground Five: Sufficiency of the Evidence; and (e) Ground Six: Cumulative Error.

Gonzalez does not provide any authority for his Request; thus, it is unclear to the Court exactly what legal
basis he is attempting to assert in his pleading.

3
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1 Order is appropriate with respect to Gonzalez's Second Motion to Join because Gonzalez could

2 have raised the arguments contained in Ground two through Ground Six of Villagrana's Original

3 Petition in a motion to dismiss, which does not have the same procedural requirements as a pre-

4 trial petition for habeas corpus. Therefore, to the extent that Gonzalez's Request seeks

5 reconsideration of the Court's September 13, 2012 Order denying his joinder to Ground Two

6 through Ground Six of Villagrana's Original Petition, the Court finds that his Request must be

7 granted.

8 In his instant pleadings, Gonzalez asks the Courts to rule on the merits of the contentions

9 he incorporated hy reference from Villagrana; however, the Court has already ruled in the

10 alternative on Gonzalez's incorporation of Villagrana's pleadings. [See Sep. 13 Order, p. 22, n.

I I 18]. Even though in the instant Order the Court has reconsidered its September 13, 2012 Order

12 regarding Gonzalez's joinder to Ground Two through Ground Six of Villagrana's Original

13 Petition, the Court's finding in the September 13, 2012 Order-tbet Gonzalez would not have

14 been sucoessful if he had asserted the arguments raised by Villagrana in Ground Two through

IS Ground Six of his Original Petition-remains unchanged. [See id.l, The Court hereby

16 incorporates its findings and analysis from the September 13,2012 Order related to Ground Two

17 through Ground Six of Villagrana's Original Petition herein.' [See id. at pp. 2.16, 17-20].

18 III

19 III

20 III

21 III
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While the Court recognized in the September 13. 2012 Order tbat its factual analysis would be slightly
different to address Gonzalez's particular circumstances, the Court notes tbat Gonzalez did not plead or argue tbe
factual differences between himself and Villagrana in relation to Ground Two through Ground Six. The argument
that Gonzalez focused on from Villagrana's Original Petition was the Marcum Notice issue, which was presented in
Ground One. In the Reconsideration Order, the Court undertook a specific analysis related to Gonzalez on the
Marcum Notice Issue. [See Ex, t, pp. 3-4). The majority of the arguments contained in Ground Two through
Ground Six ofVilIagrana's Original Petition are legal arguments or arguments where the evidence presented to the
Grand Jury supports the charges against Gonzalez in the same way as it did for ViUagrana. Although, the Court
notes tbat some arguments Gonzalez sought to join are inapplicable to him. For example, in Ground Five Villagrana
challenged the sufficiency of evidence .related to Count 4 and Count 5 of the Indictment. among other things.
Gonzalez is not named in Count 4 or Count 5 of the Indictment, nor did Gonzalez, in any pleading or during oral
argumen~ chaUenge the sufficiency ofthe indictment related to the charges that name him individually,

4



1 ThereforeJ the Court finds that Gonzalez's Request and Second Motion to Dismiss, with respect

2 to the merits of Ground Two through Ground Six of Villagraoa's Original Petition, must be

3 denied. [See id.].

4 Based on the forgoing, good cause appearing, and in the interest ofjustice.

5 IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Defendaot Emesto Manuel Gonzalez's Request for

6 Clarification or Supplemental Order is GRANTED in part aod DENIED in part. The motion is

7 granted to the extent that it seeks reconsiderarion of the Court's September 13, 2012 Order

g denying Gonzalez's Second Motion to Join. The motion is denied to the extent that it seeks

9 dismissal ofthe Indictment against Gonzalez.

10 IT IS HEREBY FURTHER ORDERED that Defendaot Ernesto Maouel Gonzalez's

11

12

13

14

IS

16
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Second Motion to Dismiss is DENIED.

DATED this 3Il dayof~......",,---__~, 2012.

~llitJ { aw;hi~
DISTRICT mDGE

5
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IN THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA
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2
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5

6
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Joey Orduna HasUngs
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8 Plaintiff,
vs.

Dept. No.4

Case No. CRII-1718B

I
Defendant.

ERNESTO MANUEL GONZALEZ,

9

10

11

12

13
14 ORDER GRANTING IN PART AND DENYING IN PARI.MOTION FOR

RECONSIDERATION AND DENYING MOTION FOR SANCTIONS

15 On September 13, 2012, Defendant Emesto Manuel Gonzalez (hereinafter, "Gonzalez')

16 filed Supplemental Points and Authorities in SUpport ofMotion to Dismiss Indictment or in the

17 A/ternalive PerftJon for Writ ofHabeas Corpus and Motion to Reconsider Based Upon Newly

18 Disclosed Evidence.1 The State filed Opposition to Supplemental Points and Authorities in

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

On Februmy 24, 2012. Defendant Emc9ta Manuel Gonzu.lez filed Molion to Dismiss IndiclmenJ or in the
Alternative Petition/or Writ a/Habeas Corpus. The Slate of Nevada (hereinafter. ''the State") filed OppOlJUion to
Defendant Gonzalez's Motion 10 Dismiss! Petliionfor Writ a/Habeas Corpus on MlUch S.2012. The Court heard
oml mgumenl on the matter on the dales requested by counsel: June 14,2012 and July 13.2012. The Court entered
its Order denying Gont.alez's Petition on September 13, 2012-prior to wben Gon.talez filed the iDstant Motion.
The Court willl:reat GCl1l2Jl1uz's SuppkmenJ.ol Points and Authorities in SuppOl't ofMalian 10 Dlsm/s31nJiclmenJ 01'

in the A/ternQ1tve Pelilion /0, W,it ofHabetu Corpus wuI Motion 10 &consJder Based Upon Newly Discmrend
EvIdence onl)' as a motion to reconsider. Gonzalez notes in his Motion that hit praviously did not supplement his
unde/lying Motion bccauso he only received the discovery related to the Marcum notice on August 31,2012. On
July 13, 2012. the Court ordered the State to provide (he discovery by Iuly 27, 2012, and allowed Gonzalex and his
co-defendant to filCl supplement! to their wrib by August 3, 2012, if they sought to do so. [July 13. 20[2 Trans.,
filed July 22, 2012, p. S7: S-9J. The Coon notes that GoIWllez did DOt seek an extension of his deadline to
supplement by way oC fonnal motion or during the August 31, 2012 hearing where the discovery delay was
dilCWlsed with the Court, Because GOIlZlIlez did not seek leave to supplement, and because the Court bad already
ruled on Gonzalez's underlying MotiOD ot the limo be filed the instant Motion, the Court finds that he could Dot
supplement the brlefmg already disposed of by the Court and thai it is more approprillle to consider the bmant
Motion u simply one ofrecoosideratlon.



Support of Motion to Dismiss Indictment or in the Alternative Pe/itlon for Writ of Habeas

2 Corpus and Motion to Reconsider Based Upon Newly Discovered Evidence on September 19,

3 2012.' On September 24, 2012, Gonzalez filed Reply 10 Siale', Opposillon 10 Defendan/"

4 Supplemental Points andAuthorities and Motion /0 Reconsider. The Court heard oral argument

5 and took the matter under submission on October 3, 2012.

6 The Cowt will rust consider Gonzalez's Motion for Reconsideration. Gomalez asserts

7 that reconsideration of the Court's September 13, 2012 Order is appropriate because recently

8 produced discovery shows that Bradley Campos, one of the persons who was allegedly involved

9 in witness intimidation at the time of the underlying incident, was actually an agent of the State

10 and, therefore, the State's showing of witness intimidation in order to withhold the Marcum

11 notice to Gonzalez was-not credible. Gonzalez argues that given Bradley Campos' relationship

12 with the State there was insufficient evidence for the Court to fmd good cause to withhold the

13 Marcum notice.

14 The State argues that. Gonzalez':!! Motion must be denied because it is based on

15 speculation and incorrect information. The State asserts that Bradley CEUIlPOS did not have a

16 relationship with law enforcement or the State. The State provides an affidavit from Peter

17 Grimm to support its Opposition.

18 The Court begins by noting that in its September 13. 2012 Order. it denied GonzalezTs

19 joinder ro his co-defendant Cesar Vi1lagnma's Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus ("Original

20 Petition") on the Marcum notice issue, among others. [See Order ("Scp. 13 Order"), filed Scpo

21 13,2012, pp. 20~22]. Gonzalez's argwnent in the instant Motion does not address the Court's

22 Order regarding his joinder to Villagrana's Original Petition on the Marcum notice issue or

23 request that the Com to reconsider its Order in that respect.J In the instant Motion., Gonmlez

24

25

26

27

28

2 In the SUite's Oppo,ltlon to the inslBDt Motion and agaIn during oral urgwnent it moved for sllIlCl:ions
against opposing coUDsol for bridging a frivolous motion. GOl1Zl.1ez opposed the State'. requost for SUletiOm. in his
Reply briefand dwing oml argument.
3 By way of background, on May 29, 2012, Gonzalez.filed Malion 10 Parlially Join it! Co-Dqendonl Cesar
Villagrana's Writ qfHa/Jeqs Carpus and Molion to Compel ("Motion to JoiD'"), which sought to join the Marcum
notice issue raised in his <;o.oefendl1Dt Cellar Villagrana's Pre-Trial WrfL The Stale tiled OpposlflO1l to Drifendanl
Gonzalez's MOllon to Parllally Join In Co-Deftndtml Cesar Villagrana's Wr/l of Habeas Corpus and Mot/on 10
Compel on ·June 14,2012. The same day, Gonzalez tiled Rep/)} to OpposUlon to Defendant's Moli01l to ParI/ally

2



1 asserts his Marcum DOtice argument as if the Court allowed him to join Villagrana's Original

2 Petition. To the extent that Gonzalez, by the instant Motion, seeks reconsideration of the Court's

3 decision to deny his Motion to Join VilIagl'ana's Original Petitio~ the Court finds that

4 reconsideration is appropriate because Gonzalez could have raised the Marcum notice issue in a

5 motion to dismiss, which is not governed by the same procedural requirements as a pretrial writ

6 of habeas cOlpus. However, the Court', finding in the September 13,2012 Order that Gon7JI1ez

7 would not have been successful if he had asserted the Marcum notice argument remains

8 unchanged. [See Sep. 13 Order, p. 22, n. 18].

9 During the October 25, 2011 ex psrte hearing on the State's Motion to withhold

10 Gonzalez's Marcum notice, the Court found that there was reasonable and adequate cause to

11 withhold the Marcwn notice under NRS 172.241 because,there was some indication of

12 endsngerment to the lire and property of witnesse&-based on testimony regsrding alleged

13 intimidation of a witness by Vagos members after the incident in question--and that there was a

14 strong probability of GOlWllez becoming a fugitive from justice. [Oct. 25, 2011 Trans., filed

15 Nov. 20, 2011, p. 40: 13-24]. NRS 172.241(3) provides an exception to the notice requirement

16 for a grand jory target jf the Court determinea that notice might result in !light of the person

17 whose indictment is being considered, that the notice may endanger the life or property of other

18 persons. or is unable to notify the person after reasonable diligence. NRS 172.241(4) requires.

19 the Court to conduct a closed hearing if the State moves to withhold a target letter. Because the

20 Court followed the procedure se' forth in NRS 172.241, and because the Court found that

21 reasonable and adequate cause existed to withhold Gonzalez's Marcum notice pursuant to two

22 provisions of NRS 172.241(3)~ the Court finds that Gonzalez's Marcum notice was properly

23

24

25

26

27

28

Join in Co-Defemiont Cesar Villagrana's Pelltion/o,. W,.1t ofHabeos CorPIIS and MOIlon 1o COmpel. Gonzalez
filed Motion 10 Join the Ba/cmcg ofCo.De.fendant Cesar Villagrana's PelWon/01' W,.it ofHabeas Co"pus on June
t I, 2012; however, that Molion:is nOt 111 issue here because it does not relate to the Marcum notice. In Gonzalez's
MotioJI to loin he does not mention snpplemwtirlg his original pleading, which was titled as Bmotion to dismiss and
alternatively as a pre-.trial writ:. to Incorporate Villagrana's erguments. Villagrana only fded 8 pre-trial writ of
habeas corpus and did not file a motion to dismiss, thUll, the Court Interpreted Gonmlez's joinder as aimply one to
Villagnma'll writ. In the September 13, 2012 Order, the Court denied Gonmlers Motion to loin and found that
-even Ifhe bad properly joined Villagrana's writ on the Mmcum notice issue. among others. he would not be entitled
to relief. [See Scp. 13 Order, p. 22. n. 18].

3



I withheld.

2 The alleged ''new evidence" supporting Gonzalez's Motion does not change the Court's

3 finding. Gonzalez doe. not challenge or dispute the Court'. finding that there was a flight risk if

4 he received a target letter, which is an independent basis to withhold the Marcum notice. Thus,

S the Court finds that, even absent Gonzalez's argwnent concerning Bradley Campos, im finding

6 regarding Goll2'Jllez's potential flight risk. or fugitive status. was sufficient to support the Court's

7 deCision to withhold hi. notice. ~ NRS 172.241(3). Additionally, the court find. thsl

8 Gonzalez's argument concerning Bradley Campos' relationship with the State fails because he

9 has not come forward with any evidence to support his assertions. Indeed. the State has

10 presented evidence to the contrary. Therefore. the Court finds that Gon:lJl1ez's Marcum notice

11 argwnent fails to state a basis for relief.

12 The Court next considers the State's Motion for Sanctions. Nevada courts have

13 jurisdiction to impose sanctions on attorneys in either side of a criminal case based on the

14 inherent powers doctrine. Young v, Ninth Judicial Dist. Court. In and For County of Douglas.,

15 107 Nev. 642, 647 (1991). While the Court recognize. thst Gonzalez'. Motion was based on an

16 inference his counsel made from a police report and the inference could have been investigated

17 prior to litigating the instant issue to no avail. the Court cannot find at this time that Gonzalez's

18 counsel went beyond the bound. of the type of advocacy thst i. required by the Sixth

19 Amendment or that counsel filed a patently unmeritorious motion. See i4:. at 649e6S0

20 (recognizing that a criminal defense attorney is not insulated from sanctions imposed for

21 ''patently nODD1CI'itorious motions", even in capital cases, despite the fact that a criminal defense

22 attorney'. duty is tn fully and vigorously defend). Nor can ihe Court find that counsel fur

23 Gonzalez acted intentionally to interject a groundless delay in the instant mattel' when it filed the

24 instant Motion. See id. at 650 (concluding that the record before the court justified the action

25 taken by the district court in imposing sanctions against defense counsel for inteIjecting

26 1/1

27 III

28
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I groundless delay in a matter of substantial importance). Therefore, the Court denies the State's

2 motion for sanctions.

3 Based on the forgoing, good cause appearing, and in the interest ofjusticeI

4 IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Defendant Emesto Manuel Gonzalez'. Supplemental

5 Points and Autlu;)[ities in Support ofMation to Dismiss Indictmect or in the Alternative Petition

6 for Writ of Habeas Corpus and Motion to Reconsider Based Upon Newly Discloaed Evidence is

7 GRANTED in part and DENIED in parL The Motion to Reconsider is GRANTED, The Motion

8 to Dismiss or in the Alternative Petition for Writ ofHabeas Corpus is DENIED.

9 IT IS HEREBY FURTIlER ORDERED that the State ofNevada's Motion for Sanctions

10 is DENIED.
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DATEDthi' 80 daYOf.Dclo...~........C__~,2012.

ClnlJ\cib 1.~~hitrN:5
DISTRICT JUDGE
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10-30-2012:09:59:15 AM
Joey Orduna Hastings

Clerk of the Court
Transaction # 3312231

IN THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF WASHOE

vs.
Plaintiff,

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

ORDER AFTER OCTOBER 29,2012 HEARING

Case No. CRI I -1718A/ B

Dept. No. 4
CESAR VILLAGRANA, and
ERNESTO MANUEL GONZALEZ,

Defendants.

The State completed its direct examination ofM!. Gil-Blanco on October 29.2012. The State will not be
permitted to elicit additional evidence from Mr. Gil·Blanco in I:he form of a direct examination du.ring the hearing.
The State will be penniited to conduct are-direct ofMr. Gil-Blanco, ifnecessary.
2; While the discussion at the October 29,2012 hearing focused specifically on gang enhancement evidence,
the Court finds that it is appropriate to order the State to file any and aU motions regarding prior bad act evidence by
November 26, 2012, as well.

----------'/

The Court conducted a hearing on the above entitled matters on October 29, 2012.

During the hearing, the Court found that the matter should be continued to a future date in order

for the Defendant Ernesto Manuel Gonzalez (hereinafter, "Gonzalez'') and Defendant Cesar

Villagrana (hereinafter, "Villagrana") to cross examine the witness presented by the State of

Nevada (hereinafter, "the State"), Mr. Gil-Blanco l The continued pretrial heariug shall be set

for January 7, 2013 at 10 '.m" and shall continue ifnecessary on January 8,2013.

Additionally, the Court indicated that further briefing would be necessary before

proceeding with the continued pretrial hearing. With respect to gang enhancement evidence

under NRS 193.1-68 and! or any other evidence that could be argued to be prior bad act evidence

illlder NRS 48.045, the Court finds that the State must file a motion to admit such evidence on or

before November 26, 2012.2 The State must plead with specificity the evidence it seeks to
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introduce in its case in chief pursuant to NRS 193.168 and! or NRS 48.045. Any discovery the

State seeks to introduce in its case in chief related to NRS 193.168 and! or NRS 48.045 must be

disclosed contemporaneously with the State's pleading, or prior. Defendants Villagmna and

Gonzalez must file their oppositions or responsive pleadings on or before December 11, 2012,

The Stale may file a reply on or before December 18, 2012. Immediately thereafter the State

must submit the matter for the Court's review. The Court will hear oral arguments and evidence

on the pleadings beginning on January 7, 2013 at 10 a.m. and continuing to January 8,2013, if

necessary.

With respect to the bifurcation issue raised during the October 29, 2012 hearing, the

Court finds that if Villagrana and! or Gonzalez seek bifurcation of the trial in any respect they

must file a motion to bifurcate on or before November 26, 2012. The State must file an

opposition or responsive pleading on or before December 11, 2012. Villagrana and Gonzalez

will have until December 18, 2012, to file a reply. lnunediately thereafter Villagrana and

Gonzalez must submit their pleadings for the Court's review. The Court will hear oral argument

on the bifurcation issue on January 7, 2013 at 10 a.m. and continuing to January 8, 2013, if

necessary.

Further, the Court heard oral argument on Gonzalez's Motion to Compel. The Court

finds that no additional argument is necessary to the resolution of Gonzalez's Motion to Compel

and will take the matter under submission.

Based on the forgoing, and in the interest ofjustice,

IT IS SO ORDERED.

DATED this tf3fJ dayof Od.cbu=~__,,2012.

DISTRICT JUDGE
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6 IN THE SECOND JUDICIAL D1S1RICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

7 IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF WASHOE

8

9 THE STATE OF NEVADA,

10 Plaintiff,

11 VB.

12 ERNESTO MANUEL GONZALEZ,

Case No.: CRlI-1718B

Dept. No.: 4

13

14

Defendant.
I

15

16

17

MOTION TO BIFURCATE ENIIANCEMENT EVIDENCE

COMES NOW, DEFENDANT, in the above entitled and nwnbered cause, by and

through the Washoe County Public Defender's Office, hereby moves the Court to bifurcate

18 enhancement evidence and permit its introduction into evidence only during sentencing, This

19 Motion is made and based upon Mr. Gonzalez' constitutional rights to fair trial, due process,

20 and effective assistance of counsel, NRS 174.165(1), the following points and authorities and

21 argument that will be presented at hearing, Us. Constitution, Fifth, Sixth and rourteenth

22 Amendments; Nevada Constitution, Article 1, Section 8.

23 POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

24 1. Statement ofthe Case

25 Mr. Gonzalez is charged by Indictment filed Nov. 9, 2011, with several offenses. The

26 Indictment alleges that he conspired to participate in an affray with Stuart Gary Rudnick,

593
1
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Cesar Villagrana, and Jeffrey Pettigrew. Mr. Pettigrew died during the altercation that led to

the charges. Mr. Rudnick and Mr. Gonzalez are reportedly members of the Vagos Motorcycle

Club, while Pettigrew and Vil1agrana are reportedly members of the Hells Angels Motorcycle

Club. Count II charges Gonzalez, Rudnick and Villigrana with challenge to fight resulting in

death, under several different theories of prosecution; Counts III. IV, V and VI ;do not charge

Mr, Gonzalez. Count VII alleges that Mr. Gonzalez was carrying a concealed weapon on

September 23, 2011. Count VIn alleges that Mr. Gonzalez discharged a firearm in a structure.

Count IX charges Mr. Gonzalez with open murder. Count X accuses Mr. Gonzalez of murder

in the second degree for causing Mr. Pettigrew's death by aiding and abetting an affray and

discharge of a fireann in a structure. Mr. Gonzalez pleaded not guilty, and is scheduled for trial

to commence March 4, 2013. Gonzalez and Villigrana are scheduled for trial together. A

previous Motion to Sever defendants at trial has been denied. Rudnick has negotiated with the

State, and will not be jointly tried.

2. Statement of Facts

The charges stem from an incident that occurred at John Ascuaga's Nugget during the

2011 Street Vibrations Motorcycle Rally. The Rally is an annual event, which in 2011 ran

from September 21st until September 25th, The Sparks part of the festival was shortened after

the incident at the Nugget.

The Washoe County Grand Jury heard evidence relating to Mr. Gonzalez on Wednesday

November 9, 2011. Pursuant to a Court Order issued after closed proceedings, no notice to the

target defendants was provided. None appeared. Also pursuant to a Court order following a

closed hearing, five witnesses were not identified during their testimony before the Grand Jury.

Alpha-numeric designations were used. Those were CS 11-21, II-54, 11-31, 11-42, and 11-67.

Their identities were later disclosed to the defense, but not publicly.

The second of the Grand Jury witnesses described a disagreement occurring shortly after

10:00 p.m, in front of the Oyster Bar restaurant at the Nugget. The dispute reportedly involved

2
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Gary Stuart Rudnick and Jeffrey Pettigrew. No witness testified in any proceeding made

available to Mr. Gonzalez' defense that he participated in the disagreement outside the Oyster

Bar. The witnesses at the Grand Jury testified that the situation was tense, but was defused,

resulting in a lessening of the tensions and an expectation that the problem was resolved.

Despite this testimony the State then presented testimony to suggest that although its witnesses

identified Mr. Gonzales as near, although not involved in, the verbal disagreement outside the

Oyster Bar, he somehow missed the truce or "stand down" message and later continued the

disagreement outside Trader Dick's restaurant. No witness at Grand Jury testified that he or

she had spoken to Mr. Gonzalez about any plan to participate in or cause a fight. Subsequent to

the Grand Jury hearing Gary Stuart Rudnick negotiated his charges with the State and secured

his release from custody. It is anticipated he will suggest there was an agreement to harm Mr.

Pettigrew, of which Mr. Gonzalez was aware.

The Grand Jury did hear a great deal of infonnation about reported gang behavior, but

none specifically relating to crimes committed by Mr. Gonzalez in any prior case. In the

present case the Grand Jury was advised that Mr. Gonzales shot Mr. Pettigrew, but not told he

only did so after Mr. Pettigrew pistol-whipped an older man, and Mr. Villagrana had shot two

others, and that a third man, while lying on the groWld defenseless, was being viciously kicked

by Pettigrew and Villigrana,

During a pretrial hearing regarding alleged other bad acts, the gang enhancement

evidence the State proposes to present to the jury at trial was described by witness Jorge Gil­

BIanco. Mr. Gil-Blanco was formerly a member of law enforcement, who currently makes his

living as a paid consultant against alleged motorcycle club members. Mr. Gil-Blanco described

several incidents in the Western United States in which alleged club members have been

prosecuted for various criminal acts. The bulk of his testimony involved the Hells Angels.

Some discussed the Mongols. Gil·Blanco provided limited testimony regarding the Vagos.

3



1

2

3

,
5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

"
25

26

Gil·Blanco did not provide the Court with current infonnation regarding the disposition of the

prosecutions he referenced.

3. Argument

Mr. Gonzalez previously moved to have his trial severed from that of his co-defendant.

He respectfully incorporates by reference the earlier arguments presented in support of this

motion. Where prejudice from a joint trial is apparent, the Court may properly consider

bifurcation as a possible remedy, which preserves both fair trial and judicial economy. It

should be noted that while judicial economy is a consideration recognized by the Courts, it can

never overcome the constitutional right to fair trial.

The Sixth Amendment requires that evidence relied upon to support an enhanced

sentence must be proven to a jury beyond a reasonable doubt. Blakeley v. Washington, 542

U.S. 296 (2004). "This case requires us to apply the rule we expressed in Apprendi v. New

Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 490, 147 L. Ed. 2d 435, 120 S. Ct. 2348 (2000): "Other than the fact of a

prior conviction, any fact that increases the penalty for a crime beyond the prescribed statutory

maximum must be submitted to a jury, and proved beyond a reasonable doubt." Although many

of the cases discussing the concept were capital cases the Supreme Court clarified earlier this

year that the analysis applies in all criminal cases, even fines. Union C" v. United States, 132

S.Ct. 2344 (June 21, 2012).

The Nevada Supreme Court has discussed bifurcation with respect to sentencing

enhancement evidence. In Morales v. State, 122 Nev. 966 (2006), the Court affinned a lower

court ruling that bifurcated the presentation of evidence at trial. In that case the Court ruled

that evidence of a defendant's charge, ex-felon in possession of a firearm, was properly heard

only in a bifurcated proceeding in which a determination of guilt with respect to other charges

was made before any evidence of his ex-felon status was heard by the jury. The ruling was

made in part based upou the Court's earlier holding in Brown v. State, 114 Nev. 1118 (1998),
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in which the Supreme Court detennined that the prejudice against a defendant that occurred

when a jury was permitted to consider both an ex-felon with a firearm charge and other charges

in the same proceeding was insunnountable. The Court in Brown announced that in future

prosecutions including multiple counts one of which was ex-felon in possession of a fireann,

that count would have to be severed.

Although the Nevada Supreme Court's holding in Brown, supra, addressed a specific

crime based upon a prior conviction, it was consistent with several other enhancement laws in

Nevada. A defendant who faces a sentencing enhancement for driving under the influence,

domestic battery or habitual criminal, must be adjudicated by the jury, NRS 484.3792; NRS

200.485; NRS 207,010-014. If he or she is found guilty of the offense, the Court then

detennines at sentencing whether or not the enhancement applies. The statutes applying to

these varied and serious offenses are all designed to prevent the same evil: presumptive

prejudice. In all but cases alleging murder in the first degree, sentences are detennined by

Judges, although the facts supporting an enhancement other than prior conviction must be

detennined by a jury. Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584 (2002), Yet, even where juries sentence,

there is a strict limitation on what evidence can be considered, and none before a conviction for

the underlying offense occurs, NRS 175.552. The presumption of prejudice which has

concerned both the Nevada Legislature and Nevada Supreme Court can be reduced in the

present case by bifurcating the presentation of the trial evidence from evidence the State

proffers in support of its charged sentencing enhancement.

The Grand Jury transcript and pretrial discovery clearly show the State proposes to

present evidence during trial that details the prior bad acts of others to try to convict Mr.

Gonzalez. While there remains a question of whether that evidence should be admissible at all,

(The prior bad acts of Mr. Gonzalez are only admissible in limited circumstances NRS 48.045)

whether the alleged prior bad acts of others should ever be admissible remains an unresolved

question, an effective and cost-efficient method to avoid irreparable prejudice would be to
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bifurcate the trial, perrn..itting relevant, admissible gang enhancement evidence, if any, only if

Mr. Gonzalez suffers a conviction for which enhancement is statutorily pennitted.

The statute pursuant to which the State seeks to enhance a sentence in the event of

conviction is NRS 193,168. The statute specifically provides that "in any proceeding to

determine whether an additional penalty may be imposed pursuant to this section, expert

testimony is admissible to show ... ". NRS 193.168(7). The statute enacts a sentencing

enhancement. As such, evidence in support of its application should only be admissible

following a finding of guilt. It is also clear from the language of the statue that this Court

retains discretion to grant the relief being requested. There is no statutory bar to bifurcation.

The statute appears to intentionally leave procedural matters open to be fashioned by the trial

Judge.

To support its request for an enhancement of sentencing the State must have a jury

finding that determines Mr. Gonzalez to be a member of a gang, whose members commonly

participate in criminal activities. Origel.Candido v. State, 114 Nev. 378 (1998).

The Due Process clause of the United States Constitution protects an
accused against conviction except on proof beyond a reasonable doubt of every
fact necessary to constitute the crime with which he is charged.1I Carl v. State, 100
Nev. 164, 165, 678 P.2d 669, 669 (1984) (emphasis added). In addition, NRS
193.168(3)(b) provides that the gang enhancement statute applies only when the
trier of fact fmds, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the primary offense was
committed knowingly for the benefit of a criminal gang. Oriegel·Candido v.
State, 114 Nev. 378, 382 eNev. 1998).

The proceeding to ask the jury to consider that evidence should only occur after a

finding of guilt for an enhanceable offense,

In Brown, we adopted a procedure calculated to prevent prejudicial jury
exposure to a defendant's prior felony record in cases where the State joins an ex­
felon firearm possession charge with other charges, This procedure requires that
district courts prospectively sever such matters by means of separate trials,"

We conclude that the district court's bifurcation procedure accomplishes the
policy reflected in the prospective severance mandate declared in Brown.
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CONCLUSION

Mr. Gonzalez' trial should be bifurcated. Evidence in support of the State's charged

offenses should be presented to the jury. If the jury convicts of a crime subject to a sentencing

enhancement, the jury would then reconvene to detennine if the alleged enhancement is proven

beyond a reasonable doubt. This procedure will preserve Mr. Gonzalez' constitutional right to

fair trial, and permit the State to prove the evidence necessary to support a sentencing

enhancement in the event a conviction is properly obtained.

AFFIRMATION

10 The undersigned does hereby affirm under NRS 239B,030 that the aforementioned

11 docwnent does not contain the social security number of any person.

12 Respectfully submitted this 26th day of November, 2012,

13 JEREMY T. BOSLER
Washoe County Public Defender
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By lsi Maizie W, Pusich
MAIZIE W, PUSICH.
ChiefDeputy Public Defender
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IN THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA,

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF WASHOE.

* * *

9 THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Plaintiff,
10

v.
11

ERNESTO MANUEL GONZALEZ,
12

13 Defendant.

14 I

Case No. CR11-1718B

Dept. No. 4

15 OPPOSITION TO MOTION TO BIFURCATE ENHANCEMENT EVIDENCE

16 COMES NOW, the State of Nevada, by and through RICHARD A. GAMMICK,

17 District Attorney of Washoe County, and KARL S. HALL, Chief Deputy

18 District Attorney, and files this Opposition to Mr. Gonzalez' Motion to

19 Bifurcate the Enhancement evidence from the substantive charges at

20 trial. This Opposition is based upon the attached Points and

21 Authorities, argument of counsel at the hearing of this matter, the

22 Points and Authorities in Opposition to bifurcation set forth in the

23 States' Motion to Admit Gang Enhancement Evidence and all other

24 pleadings and papers on file herein.

25 III

26 III
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1 POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

2 I.STATEMENT OF THE FACTS.

3 Ernesto Manuel Gonzalez (uGonzalez U
) was indicted on a number of

4 charges stemming from a deadly brawl between members of the Vagos

5 Outlaw Motorcycle Gang (uOMG U
) and the Hells Angels OMG that occurred

6 on September 23, 2011 at John Ascuaga's Nugget (UNugget U
). The State,

7 by this reference, hereby incorporates the Statement of Facts set

8 forth in the States' Opposition to the Writ of Habeas Corpus/Motion

9 to Dismiss filed on March 5, 2011. The evidence presented before

10 the Grand Jury on November 9, 2011, clearly indicated that Hells

11 Angel OMG member Cesar Villagrana (Villagrana) shot two Vagos OMG

12 members and that Gonzalez shot and killed Hells Angel San Jose

13 Chapter President Jeffrey Pettigrew ("Pettigrew").

14 Vagos OMG member CS 11-67, testified before the Grand Jury that

15 five hundred Vagos OMG members were at the Nugget to attend a Vagos

16 member meeting. (GJT p .197 11 1-13). He further testified that "We

17 got a call there was a problem with the Hells Angels. So when we got

18 that call, we moved towards the area of the Oyster Bar,". (GJT p.192

19 11 15-18). Upon arrival at the Oyster Bar, CS 11-67 saw Co-defendant

20 Gary Rudnick ("Rudnick") and Pettigrew arguing over what Rudnick

21 perceived to be disrespectful treatment by Pettigrew. (GJT p.193-

22 194). Rudnick, also known as "Jabbers" was a Vice President in the

23 Vagos OMG and Gonzalez would be an "underling" meaning that Gonzalez

24 is backup to Rudnick if Rudnick asked him for assistance. (GJT p.195

25 11 11-16). CS 11-67 spoke with other Vagos OMG members in an effort

26 to avoid a violent confrontation as he was aware that the situation

€JD(
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1 could get "real bad real quick, because us and Hells Angels don't get

2 along too well at all because of past history. (GJT p.200 11 19-22).

3 The Vagos are an outlaw gang and many members typically carry weapons

4 both openly and concealed. (GJT p.205 11 13-24). Vagos gang members

5 are required to protect other Vagos gang members in the event of an

6 altercation. (GJT p.208 11 12-23) .

7 Pettigrew, according to CS 11-67, was one of the most important

8 Hells Angel members in the United States. (GJT p. 211 1115-24). Video

9 surveillance captured images of other Vagos attacking members of the

10 Hells Angels in other parts of the Nugget. (GJT p.219-220). Finally

11 CS 11-67 testified that Gonzalez was following the Vagos code of

12 conduct - Vagos Forever, Forever Vagos when he shot Pettigrew. Vagos

13 expansion into San Jose, Hells Angel territory had caused problems

14 between the two gangs resulting in several specific violent

15 altercations between the gangs. (GJT p.223-224). The gang rivalry is

16 ongoing as we see in this case.

17 Another significant fact is that Rudnick provided a statement to

18 law enforcement and stated that the murder of Pettigrew was

19 sanctioned and planned by top members of the Vagos OMG. This planned

20 attack was sanctioned based upon prior problems with the Hells

21 Angels. Prior conflicts between the Vagos and Hells Angels have been

22 documented in the States' Motion to Admit Gang Enhancement Evidence

23 filed November 26, 2012.

24 II. ARGUMENT

25 It is well settled that when charged, an enhancement must be

26 proved beyond a reasonable doubt. Origer-Candido v. State, 114 Nev. 378, 381, 956

l; G j?-
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1 P.2d 1378, 1380 (1998). The trial court has broad discretion to deny

2 bifurcation of a charged gang enhancement. Broadbent v. Martel, WL

3 5879786 (E.D. Cal. 2012). Further, the Federal District Court held in

4 Broadbent that a challenge to a denial of a motion requesting

5 bifurcation of the gang enhancement from the substantive charges does

6 not present a question of constitutional dimension cognizable in

7 Federal Court based upon an interpretation of applicable state law.

8 rd. Gbnzalez fails to make citation to any state law supporting

9 bifurcation. See Spencer v. Texas, 385 U.S. 554, 568 91967) ("[t]wo-

10 part jury trial are rare in our jurisprudence; they have never been

11 compelled by this Court as a matter of constitutional law, or even as

12 a matter of federal procedure")citation omitted.

13 Gonzalez makes citation to Morales v. State, 122 Nev. 966, 143

14 P.3d 463 (2006), to support his argument for bifurcation. The

15 Morales case is not on point. There the Nevada Supreme Court held

16 that the bifurcation procedure is calculated to prevent prejudicial

17 jury exposure to a defendant's prior felony record where the State

18 joint and ex-felon firearm possession charge with other charges. See

19 Brown v. State, 114 Nev. 1118, 967 P.2d 1126 (1998). Bifurcation is

20 not required in this case because the State is not presenting

21 prejudicial prior felony convictions. The State is presenting

22 evidence of gang affiliation which proves motive, intent, identity

23 and other factors that are inextricably intertwined with the case, as

24 such, bifurcation is improper and unnecessary. See Hernandez

25 Likewise, citation to driving under the influence cases,

26 domestic battery cases and habitual criminal cases is also without

663
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1 merit for the same reason stated above i.e., the defendant is

2 prejudiced by the cloak of a prior conviction.

3 Gonzalez next argues that the State intends to introduce

4 evidence of crimes commonly committed by OMG's, evidence the State by

5 statute, is required to introduce. See Origel-Candido, supra.

6 Naturally, Gonzalez would like to prevent the State from offering

7 evidence of motive, intent, identity stemming from the rivalry

8 between the OMGs but that would prevent the State from presenting

9 relevant, probative evidence that would assist the jury in

10 determining whether any crime was committed.

11 Next, Gonzalez claims, without citation to any legal authority,

12 that since NRS 193.168 is a sentencing enhancement, that evidence is

13 only admissible after a finding of guilt. Gonzalez conveniently

14 overlooks similar enhancements such as the deadly weapon enhancement

15 NRS 193.165, elder enhancement pursuant to NRS 193.167, perceived

16 characteristics of a victim pursuant to NRS 193.1675 etc. all of

17 which must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt at trial. The words,

18 uin any proceeding" contained within NRS 193.168 do not suggest that

19 the trial should be bifurcated.

20 The issue of bifurcation of gang enhancement evidence has been

21 considered in other jurisdictions. See People v. Hernandez, 33

22 Cal.4 th 1040, 94 P.3d 1080 (2004). There the California Supreme Court

23 reviewed the denial of a motion for bifurcation under the abuse of

24 discretion standard. ~ As noted in Hernandez, gang evidence may be

25 relevant to establish identity, motive, modus operandi, specific

26 intent, means of applying force or fear, other issues pertinent to

bGC-(
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1 guilt of the charged crime. rd. Here, the gang evidence, specifically

2 the evidence establishing the rivalry and repeated acts of violence

3 between the Hells Angels and the Vagos is relevant to prove motive,

4 intent, modus operandi, specific intent, plan, knowledge and

5 opportunity. Both OMGs were wearing indicia of gang affiliation.

6 The evidence produced before the grand jury established a code of

7 conduct indicative of the gang culture and code of conduct. The fact

8 that the Hells Angels were at the Nugget where the Vagos were holding

9 their National Meeting is a sign of disrespect among the gangs and

10 that lack of respect resulted in the deadly brawl.

11 Finally, the jury should be instructed that it may only consider

12 the gang related evidence for the limited purpose of deciding whether

13 the defendant acted with the intent, purpose, and knowledge that are

14 required to prove gang-related crime and allegation charged. A jury

15 is presumed to follow the instructions given.

16 / / /

17 / / /

18 / / /

19 / / /

20 / / /

21 / / /

22 / / /

23 / / /

24 / / /

25 / / /

26 / / /



1 Cone Ius ion

2 Based upon the foregoing, the State hereby respectfully requests

3 that the instant Motion to Bifurcate Enhancement Evidence be denied.

4 AFFIRMATION PURSUANT TO NRS 239B.030

5 The undersigned does hereby affirm that the preceding

6 document does not contain the social security number of any person.

7

8

Dated this 6th day of ~",D"e"c"e",mb="e=r , 2012 .

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26 1130CR111718BLD

RICHARD A. GAMMICK
District Attorney
Washoe County, Nevada

By /s/ Karl S. Hall
KARL S. HALL
23
Chief Deputy District Attorney
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1 CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE BY E-FILING

2 I certify that I am an employee of the Washoe County

3 District Attorney's Office and that, on this date, I electronically

4 filed the foregoing with the Clerk of the Court by using the ECF

5 system which will send a notice of electronic filing to the

6 following:

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

MAIZIE W. pusrCH, C.D.P.D.
WASHOE COUNTY PUBLIC DEFENDER'S OFFICE
350 S. CENTER STREET, Sffi FLOOR
P.O. BOX 30083
RENO, NV 89520

CHRISTOPHER FREY, D.P.D.
WASHOE COUNTY PUBLIC DEFENDER'S OFFICE
350 S. CENTER STREET, 5TH FLOOR
P.O. BOX 30083
RENO, NV 89520

BIRAY DOGAN, D.P.D.
WASHOE COUNTY PUBLIC DEFENDER'S OFFICE
350 S. CENTER STREET, 5 TH FLOOR
P.O. BOX 30083
RENO, NV 89520

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

DATED this 6th day of December, 2012.

(s(LORI DELANO
LORI DELANO
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Joey Orduna Hastings

Clerk of the Court
Transaction # 3366578

1 CODE
Richard A. Gammick

2 #001510
P.O. Box 30083

3 Reno, NV 89520-3083
(775) 328-3200

4 Attorney for Plaintiff

5

6 IN THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA,

7 IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF WASHOE.

8 * * *

9 THE STATE OF NEVADA,

10 Plaintiff,
Case No. CR11-1718B

12 ERNESTO MANUEL GONZALEZ

11 v.
Dept. No. 4

13 Defendant.

14 /

15 MOTION TO ADMIT EVIDENCE OF OTHER CRIMES, WRONGS OR ACTS

16 COMES NOW, the State of Nevada, by and through RICHARD A.

17 GAMMICK, District Attorney of Washoe County, and AMOS STEGE, Deputy

18 District Attorney, hereby submits the attached Points and Authorities

19 in a Motion to Admit Evidence of Other Bad Acts.

20 POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

21

22 Airport case

I. THE OTHER ACTS

23 On December 20, 2010, the Defendant was detained and

24 subsequently arrested after San Francisco Airport Police found a 9 rom

25 Glock magazine loaded with 13 live rounds in the his luggage. See

26 Exhibit 1. The magazine was found during a customs search as the



1 Defendant returned from Nicaragua. The charge appears to have

2 ultimately been dismissed.

3 Steyr pistol case

4 On February 13, 2010 the Defendant was stopped by police

5 while riding his motorcycle in San Jose, California for failing to

6 use a turn signal and having an amplified exhaust. See Exhibit 2.

7 Gonzales was wearing Vago gang clothing, including his full patch.

8 Gonzalez had an exposed switchblade knife on the outside of his

9 jacket. He was arrested for the knife violation. A search of his

10 motorcycle revealed a 9mm Steyr Mannlicher semiautomatic pistol

11 located in the saddle bag of Defendant's motorcycle. As the

12 Defendant was being transported to jail, he made the spontaneous

13 statement, "I ain't gonna lie, I carry that for my protection 'cause

14 of my lifestyle. The gun was later determined to be stolen. The

15 Defendant was ultimately convicted of traffic offenses.

16 Posing with Glock February 22, 2011

17 When Defendant was arrested in San Francisco in September

18 of 2011 he had a laptop computer in his possession. A search warrant

19 was subsequently granted1
• Det. Clark located two photographs showing

20 the Defendant posing with two other men wearing Vago gang t shirts.

21 See Exhibit 3. The men are hugging each other. Defendant is holding

22 a large frame Glock pistol. One of the other men is also holding a

23 semiautomatic pistol. A second photo shows the men with their backs

24 turned to the

25

2 6 I A report was generated detailing the gang related content of the computer. This includes photographs of gang
paraphernalia, the Defendant in gang clothing, other Vagos gang members and associates, gang activity in foreign countries.
This evidence should be admitted to prove the gang enhancement and not as RNS 48.045(2) evidence.
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1 camera. Gonzalez has placed the Glock pistol in his back pocket.

2 The men hug, displaying the gang emblems on their t-shirts.

3 May 25, 2007

4 Also found on the Defendant's laptop computer 18 a video

5 depicting him firing a black large framed semiautomatic pistol. The

6 Defendant fires 13 rounds in succession. The Defendant alternates

7 between a one-handed and two-handed grip. The video appears to have

8 been created on May 25, 2007.

9

10

I I. ARGUMENT

NRS 48.045(2) allows otherwise inadmissible character

11 evidence to be admitted for other purposes, including motive,

12 opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or

13 absence of mistake or accident. To admit such evidence, the district

14 court must determine that: (1) the prior bad act is relevant to the

15 crime charged and for a purpose other than proving the defendant's

16 propensity, (2) the act is proven by clear and convincing evidence,

17 and (3) the probative value of the evidence is not substantially

18 outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. See Bigpond v. State,

19 128 Nev. Adv. Op. 10, 270 P.3d 1244 (2012) (prior acts of domestic

20 violence admitted to explain relationship with defendant and to

21 explain the reason for victim's recantation) .

22 With respect to the prior possession of firearms sought to

23 be admitted in this case, Hornick v. State illustrative. Hornick v.

24 State, 108 Nev. 127, 825 P.2d 600 (1992). In Hornick the Nevada

25 Supreme Court found no error in the admission of two prior shootings

26 as other bad acts that connected the murder weapon to Hornick. Id. at



1 140, 608 ("Evidence of the Maraldo and McDowell shootings was

2 properly admitted to connect the Tipton murder weapon to Hornick. The

3 same weapon had been used in each instance and the testimony of

4 Dominguez concerning the [two other] incidents was essential to

5 understanding why the same weapon used in those shootings was also

6 used in the [instant] murders").

7 Similarly, the Court in Jacobs v. State affirmed the use of

8 NRS 48.045(2) evidence showing that the accused previously had

9 possession of the weapon that was used in a charged murder. Jacobs

10 v. State, 91 Nev. 155, 158, 532 P.2d 1034, 1036 (19751 (" [T]he

11 evidence was properly admitted to relate his possession of a shotgun

12 which was the same kind and type used in the commission of [the]

13 murder"") .

14 Airport case

15 The murder weapon in the instant case was never recovered.

16 However, forensic analysis of the shell casings and expended

17 cartridges show that the murqer weapon is a .40 caliber semiautomatic

18 Glock pistol. Admission of the airport case places the Defendant in

19 possession of magazine to a Glock pistol. As in Jacobs, the evidence

20 shows the Defendant's possession of a gun with of the same kidn and

21 type used in the murder. It is relevant to prove identity in that it

22 is some evidence that he is the shooter.

23 The evidence of Defendant possessing the loaded Glock

24 magazine also proves that the Defendant is not a casual member of the

25 gang. Undoubtedly, the defense will continue to argue that Vagos

26 gang is a club not a gang. This evidence refutes that claim.

4
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1 Finally, this other act proves the Defendant's membership in the

2 gang. As CS 11-67 testified at grand jury, the Vagos gang carries

3 weapons, including guns. GJT p 205. It also proves that the gang is

4 a criminal gang in that the gang commonly commits felonies, in this

5 case illegal firearms possession.

6 This act is proven by clear and convincing evidence. There

7 are photographs and two police reports generated from the incident.

8 The probative value of the evidence lS not substantially outweighed

9 by the danger of unfair prejudice.

10 Steyr case

11 The Defendant's possession of a loaded pistol while dressed

12 in full gang attire is probative of the Defendant's level of

13 commitment to the Vagos gang. As previously argued, showing that the

14 Defendant possessed a gun (without reference to it being stolen)

15 refutes the argument that he is a casual member of the gang. It also

16 proves that the gang is a criminal gang in that the gang commonly

17 commits felonies, in this case illegal gun possession.

18 The Defendant's possession of the gun is also supports the

19 gang enhancement prong related to rivalries. The Defendant's

20 possession of the gun shows that when he is dressed in full gang

21 attire, he feels the need to have a gun to protect himself. It

22 proves that the gang has violent rivalries.

23 Possession of the Steyr handgun goes to show opportunity,

24 i.e. that the Defendant has knowledge of and access to firearms, thus

25 giving him the opportunity to commit the murder.

26 III



1 Finally, this other act proves the Defendant's membership

2 in the gang. As CS 11-67 testified at grand jury, the Vagos gang

3 carries weapons, including guns. GJT p 205.

4 This act is proven by clear and convincing evidence. There

5 are two police reports on the matter. The probative value of the

6 evidence is not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair

7 prej udice.

8 February 2011 Photographs

9 The February 2011 photographs show the Defendant in actual

10 possession of a Glock pistol, possibly the weapon used to murder

11 Pettigrew. Thus it is relevant as it connects the Defendant to the

12 murder weapon. Just as the possession of the Glock magazine at the

13 airport connects the Defendant to the murder, this evidence is highly

14 probative- it is only months before the shooting. This evidence

15 literally puts a Glock pistol in the Defendant's hands.

16 This act is proven by clear and convincing evidence. The

17 photographs come from the Defendant's own computer and his identity

18 is clear. The probative value of the evidence is not substantially

19 outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice.

20 Video of Defendant Shooting May 25, 2007

21 Admission of video showing the Defendant shooting an

22 unknown make semiautomatic handgun is relevant to show opportunity to

23 commit the crime. In U.S. v. Jobson the Court held

24

25

26

We hold, however, that defendant's gang
membership would be admissible to establish his
opportunity to commit the crime. Evidence used to
establish opportunity is evidence that shows
"access to or presence at the scene of the crime"
or the possession of "distinctive or unusual

6

6 C3



1

2

3

4

5

6

skills or abilities employed in the commission of
the crime charged. H 1 McCormick on Evidence §
190, at 807 (John William Strong ed., 4th ed.
1992); see also United States v. Woods, 613 F.2d
629, 636 (6th Cir.1980) (in prosecution for armed
robbery, evidence that defendant possessed
firearms is admissible to show defendant's
opportunity to commit crime charged).
U.S. v. Jobson, 102 F.3d 214, 221 (6th Circuit
1996)

7 In the instant case, the video depicting the Defendant's

8 firearm skills explains how he was able to shoot at Pettigrew at a

9 distance of approximately 25 feet hitting him with an unusual level

10 of accuracy- 5 of the 7 shots hit Pettigrew, and all 5 hits struck

11 him in the torso. This shows the Defendant had the opportunity,

12 through his firearm skills, to commit the murder.

13 This act is proven by clear and convincing evidence. The

14 video comes from the Defendant's own computer and his identity is

15 clear. The probative value of the evidence is not substantially

16 outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice.

17 All of the acts in this motion serve to corroborate the

18 I I I

19 I I I

20 III

21 I I I

22 III

23 I I I

24 III

25 I I I

26 III



1 III. CONCLUSION

2 For the above-stated reasons, the State's Motion should be

3 granted.

4 AFFIRMATION PURSUANT TO NRS 239B.030

5 The undersigned does hereby affirm that the preceding

6 document does not contain the social security number of any person.

7

8

Dated this 26th day of November , 2012.

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26 1119CR111718B6

RICHARD A. GAMMICK
District Attorney
Washoe County, Nevada

By IslAW!QY Sfu'"
AMOS STEGE
9200
Deputy District Attorney
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1 CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE BY E-FILING

2 I certify that I am an employee of the Washoe County

3 District Attorney's Office and that, on this date, I electronically

4 filed the foregoing with the Clerk of the Court by using the ECF

5 system which will send a notice of electronic filing to the

6 following:

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

WASHOE COUNTY PUBLIC DEFENDER
MAIZIE PUSICH

DATED this 26th day of November, 2012.

Is/DANIELLE RASMUSSEN
DANIELLE RASMUSSEN
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di$patchaI$O;ttlenrioned~t1Mjndivjd1Jalmjght be on PJirole~andprobldton •. as·thi.s-was: !?Oss.ibJy
misconstrued by Cllstoms todiJpatch. I met Cugroms ~,ntsaJong wItbS,P,]>;D offlcers;~rothers

M049;AAd Moriwoki- '# 1687. {$.1) Gonzalez, Emesto. was s~ted;and betng:'fflJtched'(JVerill 4 baldIng
WQUlby:CiJstonis -agent, Sehoeneg, Sa"e t.#tGI68, and scv:araf other agent"!' JcolltlrtJJeilGcnzaJez.
fderitil)' by checkln8;hisp~ his driVtl:l':S IictmBl!!and asking him ifhe was Emes[(l, Mafipel
GO"Z8J~. All wtd1 positiverespOnl'les. I spoke to St::hoen~ wllotold me that whUe hl1! Wlilll
CiJndlJt1ing a bag enm'.8sp8rt ofthe typi~lbQrder sesreht after taking llhitldintdedamrion.
opened:tJte ~e-kP-!lc:k.ofBmestQ,Goa+al~·fburll;l'a mll:ga%fno lQaded with full met'illjacketancf holrow
pOJntbuIJ-ets, Schoeneg. llsktd Gonza.lez ifthere was a gurt? Didne h,qv~ OJ1-eOI1 him br anywhere fn
his beloni/ngs7 G9nzal~CXpralneQ to $tq":lImegU,aHhebuUet.i- and magD%iM'\Wl're his find that he
lefr tJ1tgo,n.ln Nleal1lgua, CtIstetn1S~tS}b!d.me thatGo~e2;b4d tord tho~.that he fOrgol

thebllllet$ wer:- )n there,referringto,his bacJq)lU:k. Ji.etoldtJll:m that itwasle2AIto etlrry
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